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Relative Stock Price Performance
W. R. Berkley Corporation vs. S&P 500%

Cumulative
Growth:
& W R. Berkley Corporation 3,373%

® S&P 500°
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Compound Annual Growth Rate” _ 5Years 10 Years 15 Years 20 Years 25 Years
Tangible Book Value Per Share Plus Dividends 24% 15% 13% 14% 16%
Stock Price Plus Dividends o 19% 13% 11% 14% 17%

Dollars iri thousands, except per share data

Years efnded December 31 2007 2006 2004 2004 2003
Total revenucs $5,553,639 85,394,831 £4.096,830  $4,512,285 £3.630,108
Net prm;)iums written 4,575,989 4,818,993 4,604,574 4,266,361 3,670,515
Net investment income: 672,660 586,175 403,962 291,295 210,056
Service fies 97,689 104,812 110,697 109,344 101,715
Net incdme 743,646 699,518 544,892 438,105 337,220
Net incdme per common share:
Basic 3.94 3.65 2.86 2.32 1.81
Diluted 3.78 3.46 2.72 221 1.72
Return on common stockholders’

equity 22.3% 27.2% 25.8% 26.0% 25.3%
At Year End
Total astets $16,832,170 $15,656,489 $13,896,287 511,451,033 $9,334.685
Total investments 11,893,522 11,114,364 9,810,295 7,303,889 5,068,670
Reserve for losses and loss expenses 8,678,034 7,784,269 6,711,760 5,449,611 4,192,091
Stockholders’ equity 3,569,775 3,335,159 2,567,077 2,109,702 1,682,562
Commadn shares outstanding

(in thdusancds) 180,321 192,772 191,264 189,613 187,961
Cnmm(in stockholders” equity per share, 19.80 1730 13.42 11.13 895

*Source: lowling & Partners Securities, LLC, IBNR Weekly #12, Vol. XV, March 21, 2008.




Financial Highlights

In 2007, W. R. Berkley Corporation had another year of
outstanding results, outperforming the industry over
the long-term on a consistent basis.

s

293. 378

Return on stockholders’ equity exceeded 20% Net income reached a new high of $3.78 per
for the 5% year in a row. share, advancing 9.2% over 2006.

$5 .6 billion B 1 .5 billion

Total revenues increased 3% to $5.6 billion. Cash flows before transfers to trading account
totaled $8.2 billion over the past 5 years.
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W.RL Berkley Corporation, founded n 1967, is one of
the n;ntion’s premier commercial lines property casualty
insurance providers. Each of the operating units in the
Berkley group participates in a niche market requiring
specilnlizcd knowledge about a territory or product. Our
competitive advantage lics in our long-term strategy of

decehuralized operations, allowing each of our units to

identify and respond quickly and effectively o changing
market conditions and local customer needs. This
decehtralized structure provides financial accountability
and incentives 1o local management and enables us

to attract and retain the highest caliber professionals,
We lave the expertise and resourees 1o utilize our
strengths in the present environment, and the flexibility
to anticipate, innovate and respond to whatever

oppartunities and challenges the future may hold,
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How we are different: Accountabifity The business is
operated with an ownership perspective and a clear sense
of fiduciary responsibility 1o sharcholders. Pegple-oriented
strategy New businesses are started when opportunities
are idenufied and, most importantly, when the right
talent is found 1o lead & business. Of the Company’s

34 units, 27 were developed internally and seven were
acquired. Responsible financial frractices Rask cxposures are
managed proactively, A strong balance sheet, including
a high-quality investment portlolio, ensures ample
resources (o grow the business profitably whenever
there are opportunitics to do so. Risk-adpusted refurns
Management company-wide is focused on obtaining
the best potenual returns with a real understanding

of the amount of risk being assumed. Superior risk-
adjusted returns are gencrated over the msurance cycle,
Transparency Consistent and objective standards are vsed

to measure performance — and, the same standards arc

used regardless of the environment.




Five Business Segments

Since 1967, W. R. Berkley Corporation has consistently

provided insurance products and services that meet

the needs of its customers and exceed the expectations

of its shareholders.

Specialty

The Specialty units underwrite complex and sophisticated
risks, including general, professional, product, excess and
umbrella liability; workers’ compensaton and property
coverages, as well as aviation, commercial transportation,
and program business. Business is written on both an
excess and surplus lines and admitied basis.

2007 Resudts: Total revenues increased 3% 1o $2.0 billion.

Pre-1ax income rose 8% 1o $517 million.

Regional

The Regional units, which are leaders in their local markets,
write commereial lines coverages for small and mid-sized
business firms and governmental entitics. This segment also
wriles surely coverages.

2007 Results: Total revenues advanced 4% 10 $1.3 billion.

Pre-tax income rose 7% (0 $215 million.

Alternative Markets
The Alternative Markets units offer insurance products and

develop and administer self-insurance programs and other

allernative risk transfer mechanisms. Workers’ compensation
is the predominant line of business in this segment. This
segment also writes hospital professional liability and medical
stop loss insurance,

2007 Results: Total revenues were $875 million and pre-tax

income was $248 million.

Reinsurance

The Reinsurance units write reinsurance on both a facultative
an treaty basis. In addition, the Company participates in busi-
ness written through Lloyd’s and in several specialty niches.
2007 Results: 'Total revenues were 3894 million and pre-tax

income was $178 million, up 32%.

International
The Company’s International business operates in selecred
regions throughout the world, including Europe, South

America, Australia and Asia.

2007 Results: Total revenues increased 14% to $285 million.

Pre-tax income rosc 29% to $44 million.
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bntinue to substantially exceed our minimum

targeted return on equity of 15% after tax. We have

done|so without changing the risk profile of the

variouis contributors to our revenue stream. It is, in

fact,
in ex

EVeIl

l)ur fifth consecutive year of achieving a return
~ess of 20% after tax. This was accomplished

though we do not participate in the most volatile

arcas|of the property casualty business. These returns

were|even more remarkable given the conservative

nature of our investment portfolio and our generally

cautl

bus outlook with respect to the impact of future

William R. Berkley
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

m pleased that our record earnings for 2007
ntinue to be built on the same sound underwriting
nciples and prudent investment strategy that have
torically been the hallmarks of our Company.

inflation on our loss reserves. In spite of our excellent
risk-adjusted returns for 2007, we see disturbing signs
in the insurance marketplace that make us cautious in
prognosticating the outlook for the next several years.
We remain focused on maintainihg underwriling
discipline, but still believe there continue to be long-
term opportunities that will allow us to position our
Company for excellent future returns. As is always
the case in any cyclical business, one must remember
you have to get successfully through the short-term

i order to be around to celebrate the long-term.




our success.

It is the capability of our people to mitigate all of these
risks, while optimizing the returns we achieve from both

our underwriting and investment activities, that creates

to manage the exposure and attempt to minimize
any potental adverse outcome. In the event of an
adverse outcome, we work diligently to achieve the

most{ favorable but fair claim settlement for our

Company, We also measure and assess risk on the
investment side of our business, understanding that
the mvestment risk can not stand on its own, but must
be integrated with our insurance risk. The assets that
make up our investment porttolio ensure our ability
to meet our obligations to our policyholders. Thus,

it is important that we take care to be surc the risks
assumed in our investment portfolio do not result

in an accumnulation of exposure with the same risks
inhetent in our day-to-day insurance activities. It is
the capability of our people to mitigate all of these
risks,j while optimizing the returns we achieve from
bothiour underwriting and investment activities,

that creates our success. We only achieve such
optimizaton when we have the best people with
cxpertise in each specific area where we assume risk.

It is this skill that allows our Company to continue to

ditfetentiate our performance. In order to achieve the
goal we have established of at least a 15% after-tax
return on shareholders’ equity, we must be focused

on getting the most revenue possible for whatever risk

we agsume. [t also requires that we are constantly aware

that it is the unforeseen event that is the trap for every
property casualty Insurance enterprise. We recognize

and are prepared to deal with the unforeseen event.

Inherent in the business model for the property
casualty business there is a particular and unique risk
which is due to the nature of the business. While there
are many risks we must be cognizant of, the primary
exposure 1s that we price our product before we know
the real cost. The pricing model of the property
casualty business 1s an actuarial (mathematical) model
that examines past pricing, past results, past
trends, and attempts to forecast, based on those
facts, the appropriate price of our product for the
current period of time. There are several problems
created by this methodology. First, change 1s always a
fluctuating variable. The direction and magnitude of
change from yesterday or the day before is unlikely to
be the direction or rate of change currently at hand.
Evenif the rate of change was constant, it would
take a substantial period of time for us to have actual
knowledge of the results from prior years’ pricing.
The conscquence is that optimism or pessimism, built
into our past pricing, mathematically gets carried
forward until the ultimate losses are settled. Thus,

the reality is, we do not know with great accuracy the




Fifth consecutive year of achieving

a return in excess of O 0 / after tax
0

real cost of our product until substantally after it has
been sold. We spend a great deal of time attempting
to define and create sophistication in our models
and build better skills to improve our pricing and
reserving accuracy. The better we understand the
pricing mechanism, the more likely we are to reduce
the cyclicality and, thus, the underlying volatility of
our busingss. If we undersiand the correct level w
establish reserves, we are then better able 10 establish
the correct price. It means we can set the nght
price for our product, thus, we are able to have
more predictable results. We belicve our Company
is making progress in these areas, however, we, like
the rest of the property casualty industry, always lace

the continuing uncertainty of the unforeseen event,

The property casualty business is a highly regulated,
capital intensive industry. The company with the
lowest cost of capital ulumately has a significant
competitive advantage. The concern that exists in the
property casualty business is that achieving maximum
profit always comes with the very visible caveat
coneerning the level of risk assumed. Predictable risk
is more attractive because results can be forecast in a
reasonably narrow band. This allows for somewhat

less volatility, creating a more attractive business

opportunity, because predictability of return generally
warrants a lower cost of capital than a more volatile
business model. The cost of capital in a business such
as insurance, which is so capital intensive, is one ol
the critical clements i determining the success of a
property casualty enterprise. Thus, our strategy to
achicve more predictability is derived from our desire

to have a lower cost of capital than our competitors.

The insurance industry is a people intensive business.

[t requires people with experience and skills, not

just as underwriters and claims people, but in every

aspect of the business. It is also an administratively
oriented business. We search for expernienced people
who bring expertise to our business and we select

areas of the business that produce less volatility.

Underwriting, which is the skill of risk selection
and pricing, is generally viewed as the cornerstone
of a property casualty company. Understanding the
risk to accept or reject, examining the terms and
conditions to include within the acceptance of

the risk, and finally, calculating the price to charge,
are critical skills that require people with expertisce
and experience. This is especially important in our

Company since our commercial casualty business has




The people who make up our Company understand our
competitive advantage and fully utilize their flexibility
in the field to deliver value to their customers.

a very long tail; thus the experience to estimate loss
costs long before we have fully developed numbers is
crililcal. It is important that our Company has such a

cadre of people.

In thc clatms area, we believe extraordinary skills are
required. We need people who undersiand the policics
we ssue and the legal construct of the coverage being
provided. These people must objectively look at a
situation and evaluate it in a manner that will be fair
and satistactory to all parties involved, There are
timés when claimants feel they are entitled 1o things
thal are not covered in a pelicy. At such moments,
our claims people need 1o be diplomats, but clear
with respect to the actual coverage available. At
times, we must step forward and do the right thing.
It 15 this combination of expertise, negotiating skalls
and diplomacy — all wrapped up in good judgment
— that makes our claims people so important for our
entérprise. They are there on the occasion when an
insured realizes why they purchased the policy from
oné of our companies.

!
Within our enterprise, we have many other key areas
on :1.he operating side, from accounting, technology,
am%l loss control, to day-to-day administrative

pesonnel. The business doesn’t work without these

people. They are the glue that holds all the pieces
together. They work in loss control to minimize our
potential exposure to claims. They diligenty work to
cnsure that we give outstanding service. Neither an
underwriting department nor a claims department,
sitting on its own, can be an effcctive insurance
enterprise. We need all the aspects of our Company

to deliver on our promise.

The last piece of our business is made up of

the people who invest our resources, those who
take our $17 billion of assets and find ways 10
deliver outstanding risk-adjusted returns. Their
job is difficult, because they have risk constraints
dictated not just by financial markets, but also

by our insurance business. Thus, almost 90% of our
investment portfolio is in fixed income securities with
an average of a AA rating. We, in addition, own some
tangible investments, ranging from an aviation service
business to commercial office buildings and other
non-traditional invesunents. Overall, we maintain
a very conservative un-leveraged, marketable
securities investment portfolio with very modest risk
characteristics. We generally take our risk on the

insurance side of our business.




We believe that our disciplined underwriting, appropriate

investing and realistic overall economic outlook will

allow us to continue delivering outstanding long-term

risk-adjusted returns to our shareholders.

Qur strategy continues to be based around (he
same criteria we developed in 19742 a group of
regional and specialized property casualty companies
operating in an autonomous fashion under the
umbrella ol a holding company which provides
investment and reinsurance expertise as well as help
and guidance in areas not related to the day-to-day
business interactions with customers, We believe
this strategy is one that continues to have resonance
among the most skilled people in the propeny
casualty insurance business. By letting the Presidents
ol our eperating units, who are closest to their
customers, make their own decisions, we have 34 ways
that arc the W. R. Berkley Corporation way: Each of
our companies relates to its market and its customers
in a way they believe is most effective. They operade
within the cultural guidehnes of our orgamzauoen that
are based on honesty, understanding our customer’s
needs and limiting of risk, a focus on creating a

rcal competitive advantage and finally, building a

partnership with our distribution.

We believe that the people who make up our
Company understand our competitive advantage

and fully utilize their flexibility in the field o deliver
value to their customers. We wry o do this while at the

same ume providing the financial capacity and long-

term track record of a global financial enterprise.

We are a company focused on dehvering value (o our
shareholders and value (0 our customers, while always
remembering, without the best employees and without

an cffective distribution partner, we can not succeed.

Our success 1s achicved one ransaciion at a time, It
happens because of people, our emplovees, our agents
and brokers, and ultimately our insureds, who make
a series of deasions and ake individual actions that
result 1 the ransfer of nisk from them to vs. We ake
on a responsibility to meet our commitment to our
agents, brokers and insureds. We want o thank all
those people in that chain of trust and we will jusufy
their conhdence. Without capial, our husiness could
not operate. We will continue to meet our obligations
to our sharcholders to deliver omstanding returns,
While the next few years may not meet the measure
ol the last several, we are confident thar we will
continue to deliver oustanding returns even in this
miore uncertain environment. Our goal is to be the

hest commercial insurer by every measure.

Wbt

William R. Berkley
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Qfficer
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Eug;Jg:ne G. Ballard
Senigr Vice President
Chiel“FinanciaI Officer and Treasurer

[ra S. Lederman
Senior Vice President
General Counsel and Secretary

James G. Shiel
Seniar Vice President
Investments

It ’is in challenging times such as these that our conservative

investment philosophy is truly justified and serves the best

interest of both our shareholders and policyholders. We are well

pcllysitioned to take advantage of the opportunities available in

the current market.
|

Our investment strategy of avoiding credit risk and
maintaining portfolio liquidity resulted in our having an
excellent year in spite of the many challenges 2007
prc‘chcd. While the world has experienced past periods
of investment uncertainty, and even an occasional
criﬁlis, the environment during the second half of last
vear and continuing into 2008 is unlike any seen for
more than half a century. There was frequently limited
liquidity in the marketplace and, while credit quality
remained stable in areas other than the mortgage sector,
an Iextraordinary level of investor risk aversion existed
primarily based on fear. Fortunately, we avoided most of
the problems and are well positioned to take advantage

of [the opportunities available in the current market.

“45 continue to manage our invesiment portfolio in
a sitt'aightforward manner, investing in high quality
securities which provide credit transparency. This has
be'(:n our strategy through good times and bad. We own

viftually no sub-prime related investments, because the

@

value proposition did not meet our investment criteria.
We do not uulize derivatives, nor have we ever, because
we were always concerned about the sequential counter
party risk. We do not own any CDO’s, because of their
complexity and lack of transparency. Over the vears
we have elected to sacrifice incremental return in order
to protect our downside; the management of risk has
always been a core issuc in the investment strategy
of our Company. It is in challenging times such as
these that cur conservative investment philosophy is
truly justified and serves the best interest of both our

shareholders and policyholders,

As we enter 2008 amid a continued financial crisis,
we feel we are well positioned 1o weather the ongoing
re-pricing of risks, as well as take advantage of
opportunities that present themselves from the various
market dislocations oceurring all around us. We are still
carrying an above average proportion of cash and short-

term investiments to provide maximum flexibilicy, despite




2007 Cash and

Invested Assets
1 3 billion

Investment Data 2007 vs. 2006
(Dollars in millions)

2007 2006

Cash and invested assets:

Invested assets $11,894 SIL114

Cash and cash cquivalents $ 952 $ 754
$12.846  $11.868

Investment income § 673 8 586
Realized gains $ 15 ¢ 10

We continue to manage our investment partfolio in a
straightforward manner, investing in high quality
securities which provide credit transparency. This
has been our strategy through good times and bad.

Breakdown of Fixed Maturity Securities
’ (Including Cash) (By percentage)

| e State and Municipal 49%
‘ Bonds / \

o Mortgage-backed 16% Ny \
Sccuritics 5

¢ Ui 5. Government and
Government
Agency Bonds

o Corporate Bonds

© Cash and
Cash Equivalents
’ Foreign Bonds



Investments

Robert W. Gosselink

Senior Vice President

]
Paul J. Hancock
Seniorj Vice President
Chief Corporate Actuary

Insurance Risk Management

As'we lock at the rest of 2008, we are confronted with both
chéllenges and opportunities. Opportunities will arise from having
hac‘j the discipline to avoid untested investment fads and maintain
liquidity; thus, we will have precious capital available when others

Iac‘k resources.

lhcirllow vields. We have maintained a relatively short

duration of 3.3 years, which is now approximately one
vear shorter than our esumated Lhability duraton. Once
agaillt: our strategy is one of flexibility. As the yeld curve
conlirlucs to steepen, this will enable us w0 opportunistically

extend out on the yield curve and add ineremental return.

OurJinvcstmcm portfolio is primarily made up of high
quality fixed income securities. The largest sector of
fixedl income asscts is municipal bonds, due to their
:mrjctivc tax-adjusted returns and high credit quality.
The'municipal bond market is in the midst of the cur-
rentlcrisis duc to the market’s dependence on the rating
umbrella provided by the monoline insurers. We have
a]we!lys maintained a policy of looking through this insur-
ance to the underlying issuer’s stand-alone credit quality,
andlour municipal portfolio has an underlying average
rutirlllg of AA. Therclore, we do not believe the exposure
of the monoline insurers to potental downgrades wall
sigmificantly affect us. Our second largest fixed income

sector is our allocation o mortgage-backed securities

which are also o high quality. We do not believe that
any of the non-agency backed securities are impaired as
they are generally older vintage originations that tend to
have more congervative underwriting and lower loan-to-
value ratios. The balance of our fixed income portfolio
consists of government securities and corporate bonds.
As quality spreads in corporate bonds became compressed
in the early 2000°s, we reduced our weightings to this
arca and redeemed an allocation to an outside high-vield
manager. The recent violent increase in spreads more

than justifies these decisions.

Investors lost confidence in global markets because of
several events, and thus, liquidity disappeared. This was
one of the few instances of quidity vanishing irrespective
of credit quality. It started with the bursting of the
housing bubble and the subsequent increase in defaulis
relating to sub-prime mortgages. These loans were
packaged and ofien tmes rated AAA, causing investors
o implicitly accept them as high quality investments

despite their dependence on rising home prices. As the




James W. McCleary
Senior Vice President
Underwriting

Kevin H. Ebers
Senior Vice President
Information Technology

We are confident that our historic caution will result in our

shareholders being well rewarded.

real estate market began its descent, defaults on these
mortgages began and these supposed AAA credits began
to act and look more like junk bonds. This in and of
iself created hundreds of billions of dollars of losses

to investors. A more important consequence than these
huge losses, however, was that investors lost confidence
in the rating agencies, and thus, the credit markets began
to stop functioning rationally. No one was sure what was
good or what was bad, and that drove people to invest
only in areas with the most certainty — U. S. government
securitics of short duration, and purely prime money
market funds, which attracted huge cash in-flows. ln a
very brief period of time, many of the “new” securitized
vehicles, such as collateralized debt obligations, collateralized
mortgage obligations, and a myriad of other aggregations
of individual financing transactions, no longer had

marketability at almost any price. Markets have changed.

We also maintain a portfolic of alternative investments,
which oflers opportuniues for more favorable returns,
while diversilying risk. The alternative scctor is
concentrated in merger arbitrage, real estate and

common and preferred stocks. Merger arbitrage performed

very well due to a focus on strategic deals rather than
the higher risk, leveraged buyout area. Our real estate
allocation had a mixed year as REITs recorded a modest
loss, and in November we decided to sell our remaining
REIT common stocks, while retaming the more defensive
REI'T preferreds. We also added to our non-real estate
related preferred siock portfolio during 2007, as increasing
issuance and negative headlines in the financial sector
provided an opportunity to pick up incremental

tax-advantaged returns,

As we look at the rest of 2008, we are confronted with
both challenges and opportunities. Challenges will arise
from the gencrational lows in benchmark interest rates
and its impact on investment income, 4 Major component
of our carnings. Opportunities will arise from having
had the discipline to avoid untested investment fads and
maintain liquidity; thus, we will have precious capital

available when others lack resources.

We are confidenu that our historic caution will result in

our sharcholders being well rewarded.
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W. Robert Berkley, Jr.

Executive Vice President

Each of our five business segments — Specialty, Regional,
Alternative Markets, Reinsurance, International —is comprised
of individual operating units that serve a market defined by

geography, products, services, or types of customers.

Qur growth is based on meeting the needs of customers,
maintaining a high-quality balance sheet, and allocating

capital to our best opportunities.




2007 REVENUES AND PRE-TAX INCOME

2007 Revenves

(Dollars in millions)

Specialty

Regicnal

Alternative

Markets

Reinsurance

International $285

2007 Pre-Tax Income

(Dollars in millions)

Specialty

Regional
Alwernative

Markets

Reinsurance

5178

544

International

]

2007 Revenues
(By percentage)

—

¢ Specialty 37%
® Regional 25% 0

o Alternative o
Markets 16%

o Reinsurance 7%

¢ International 5%

$2.006

$517

2007 Pre-Tax Income
{By peruentage)

e Specialy 43%
® Regional 18%
o Alternatve

Muarkets 20%
o Reinsurance 15%
o lnernatonal 4%




Sﬁ)ecialty Segment
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A
Robert C. Hewitt

Senior Mice President
Excess pnd Surplus Lines
Operations

|

Peter L. Kamford
Senior Vice President
Admitted Specialty Lines
Operations

Over three decades of market cycles, our Specialty units have

produced outstanding risk-adjusted returns by relying on our core

strengths of knowledge-based, risk-weighted selection, pricing

that reflects expected loss costs and considers exposure, and

producer relationships that are built on mutual, long-term goals.

Our Specialty group has grown over the past thirty
years by being opportunistic during each phase ol
the blmndcr industry cycle. We have maintained
our equilibrium by knowing that often the most
:1d\-'an|tztgeous time to enter a market niche is when
otherg are exiting, and, conversely, by understanding
that 01'1(: should contract when pricing or other terms
and conditions are not favorable. Premium growth
without adequate returns is not acceptable; nor is
taking on the questionable risk for the sake of short-
term growth. But, often, it 1s difhicult to pick out the
real opportunitices from the many temptations that a
soft m '1rkcl offers.

In a segment of the industry that demands specialized
knowledge, we have built our business by developing

cxperuse in underwriting those unique risks that are

not likely to be evaluated through rating manuals.
These are the complex and sophisticated exposures
that must be evaluated through the cyes of a scasoned
underwriter who fully grasps the class of nisk, the
types of exposure inherent in that risk, and who
has a synergisue relavonship with the distribution
channel. The subtletes of this arca of the market are
not always visible to the non-participant. They are
sometimes as simple as recognizing that a clean truck
is likely to be a safer truck — not because 1t 1s clean,
but because the care and attention paid o the vehicle
olien correlate to the care and atiention paid to the
driving, Yet they require the knowledge combined

with judgment that only expericnce can bring,

Over three decades of market cycles, our Specialty

units have produced outstanding risk-adjusted returns
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"“'1 ' ‘ 2007 Pre-tax income ’t* |

- SPECIALTY
| $5 1 7million y

Segment Data 2007 vs. 2006

[Dollars in millions)

x,

2097 2006
Total assets $5,887 $5,388
Total revenues $2,006 $1,953 .
Pre-tax income $ 517 S 479 :
GAAP combined ratio 84% 8%
Return on equity 23% 25%

Growth in the Specialty segment has been opportunistic,

to a large degree varying with market conditions. Our

knowledge, discipline and flexibility have made the

largest segment of our business a consistent high
performer, with return on equity in excess of 20%
for six consecutive years.

Gross Written Premium by Line
(By percentage)

& Premises Operations  38%

e Commercial Aute 16%
& Property 14%
o Products Liahility 12%
o Professional Liubility  10%

Onher 10%




Specialty Segment
!

In a|segment of the industry that demands specialized knowledge,

we have built our business by developing expertise in underwriting

those unique risks that are not likely to be evaluated through rating

marPuaIs. They require the knowledge combined with judgment that

only experience can bring.
\

by rel)ling on those core strengths of knowledge-
hased,|risk-weighted selection, pricing that reflects
expected loss costs and considers exposurc, and

producer relatonships that are built on mutual,

Iong—t(f rm goals. In the most competitive segment of
the market, we are committed to maintaining our
discipline, and to delivering thoughtful, flexible,
and tilmcly responscs to market changes. Each unit
de{crr:nines whether it has the underwriting skill
and cl?ims expertise to understand new exposures,
and the talent to price the business appropriately.

Each rlnanagemcnl team will decide 10 expand into

a ncw!class or line of business when it believes the

oppor;mnity to meet our targets for profitability exists,

While, this year saw an increase in the appetite of
the standard market for the more unique admited
and npn-admitted risks, the excess and surplus lines
in par'ticular felt heightened competition as standard

market carriers encroached on their territory.

Competition among specialty carriers was also
affected by new entrants into that market, in the

form of newly-created excess and surplus lines

including alfiliates of offshore rcinsurers.

units,

Nevertheless, we are pleased with the excellent
results and healthy margins produced by our
Specialty operating units in 2007, We belicve that
opportunities continue to exist and be attractive in
cvery market. As they arise, we have expanded or
cntered niches that are underserved. In 2007, Berkley
Life Sciences, LLC was created to provide innovative
casualty products 1o the rapidly expanding field of
pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and medical devices;
Sclect Specialty Managers, LLC was formed in

Junc 2007 to focus on the hard-to-place professional
liability exposure. In October 2007, we purchased
American Mining Insurance Company, Inc., an
Alabama-hased company which offers workers’
compensation insurance as well as general liability,
automobile and e¢xcess liability coverages to mining
and mining-related operations nationwide. And,

we are using this phase of the cycle to improve our
information gathering, to think creatively about how
we use that data, and to improve the ongoing growth
and development of our most valuable asset, our
people. While the short-term will be somewhat more
competitive, we continuc to believe that outstanding

rewurns are available in this segment of the market.
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Jill E. Wadlund
Berkley Life Sciences, LLC

James §. Carey
Admiral Insurance
Cormpany

Operating Units

Excess and Surplus Lines

In 2007, Admaral Insurance Company increased s reneiwal
retention ratios in 1ts four core lines of business:
commercial general liability; professional hability;
commercial property; and commercial excess and
umbrella hability. Professional liability, an area of
particular emphasis in recent years at Admiral, grew
6% in 2007. Although competition from other excess
and surplus hnes companies and admitted carriers
alike created an aggressive market environment for
all of its major lines of business, the most severe
competition was scen on casually accounts with
premiums over $150,000, and in the excess and
umbrelia market. Admiral nevertheless maintained

its position as a leading market for the hard-to-place
commercial risks that fall owside the standard market.
Its very successful Admiral Excess Express onhine umbrella
product in particular grew more than 300% with strong

prospects for the future.

Berkley Life Sciences, LLC joined the Specialty segment
as an underwriting manager for W, R. Berkley
Corporation member companies in 2007, As its name

implies, it focuses on business in the hife sciences

Steven 8. Zeitman
Berkley Specialty
Underwriting Managers LLC

industry, such as pharmaceutical, biotechnology,
medical device, and contract service companics.
Berkley Life Sciences is initially offering, on an excess
and surplus lines basts, general liabilivy, product
liability, professional liability, and umbrella and excess
liability insurance products to its customers, with the
expectation of expanding its offerings in the future.

[t began writdng policies in October 2007, and has
seen a steady increase in activity. The company

is committed to disciplined underwriting 1o ensure

a strong return on equity.

Continued growth from 1ts Entertainment and
Sports division, along with the suceessful launch
ol a new Environmental underwriting facility,
provided opportunities for Berkley Specualty Undenoniting
Managers LLC tn 2007. Its Entertainment and Sports
division enhanced its West Coast presence,
significantly increasing the company’s marketing
and underwnting opportunites in the vital Los
Angeles arca entertainment market. Berkley Specialty
Underwnung Managers’ three underwriting units
this year produced a combined gross written
premium of $167 million. Its Specialty Casualty

unit offers commercial lines general lability,




Speci}ahy Segment
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Joseph G. Shores
Select Specialty
Managers, LLC

Thomlas M. Kuzma
Nautilus Insurance
Group. TLC

Richard P. Shemitis
Vela Insurance
Services, Inc.

In the most competitive segment of the market, we are committed

to r{naintaining our discipline, and to delivering thoughtful, flexible,

ani’i timely responses to market changes.

inclu:ding products liability, on a non-admitied
1)asisF Entertainment and Sports provides commercial
propTrly and liability on an admitted and non-
admitted basis; and its newer Environmental facility

(JﬁbrL an array ol coverages for virtally all classes

traditionally known to have environmental liability

cxpo{;urcs on both an admitted and non-admitted basis.

i

Nautilus Insurance Group, LLC provides a market

for small to medium-sized commercial risks with

on-v—lu:)-m(:)dcratc susceptibility to loss. [t utilizes

Nautilus Insurance Company 10 write commercial excess

and Fm‘plus lines business in all states, exctusively

through a sclect network of appointed general

agents. It also writes admitted business in a limited

number of states through Great Divide Insurance

|
Company, its main admitted lacility.
P

In 2007, Nautilus achicved a gross written premium
of $330 million, without sacrificing underwriting
and pricing diseipline, and contnuing its focus on
customer service and speed of product delivery.
In mid-2007, Nautilus launched its new technology
platform, MeQuik, which allows agents to rate,

quote, bind and issue polictes within minutes, while
casily and accurately uploading data and pohicy

mformation.

Created in June 2007, Selest Spectalty Managers, LLC
specializes in hard-to-place professional liability
exposures within a narrow group of product lines that
includes lawyers, accountants, miscellancous crrors
and omissions, and medical facilities. Coverages arce
written exclusively on 2 surplus lines basis through

a very select group of distribution sources, where
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Chandler F. Cox, Jr.
American Mining
Insurance Campany, Inc.

Jason R. Niemela
Berkley Aviation, LLC

Select Specialty can provide a level of service and
responsiveness that adds additonal value in a
competitive marketplace. Select Specialty 1s well
positioned for growth in 2008, and looks forward to

secking out attractive opportunitics,

Vela fnsurance Services, fnc. undlerwrites excess und
surplus lines casualty business on behalf of W, R,
Berkley Corporation member companies with a
primary focus on contractor and product liability

coverages. I also offers wrap-up policies which

provide general lability 10 enrolled subcontractors for

specific residential projects. 2007 was a challenging
year for Vela in terms of volume, with the overall
slowdown in the housing market affecting demand
for both its core and wrap products. It has met

these challenges by expanding and diversifying its
product offering, and in September 2007 opened

a new miscellancous professional liabality branch,
which specializes in various classes of business such
as property managers, travel agents, and software/

technology consultants. With offices now in Radnor,

John 8. Diem

Berkiey Underwriting
Partners, LLC

Pennsvlvania; Chicago, Illinois; and Solvang,
Califorma, Vela writes a variety of classes through
an exclusive network of appointed excess and surplus

lines brokers.

Admitted Lines

American Mining [nsurance Company, Inc., which

was acquired by W. R. Berkley Corporation in
2007, has specialized for almost twenty years

in offering workers’ compensanon insurance as
well as general liability, awtomobile and excess
liability coverages to mining and mining-related
operations, As it has grown and expanded
geographically, American Mining has become the
preferred provider ol Insurance coverages o many
within the mining and aggregates industries. [t brings
with it a reputation lor superior customer service,
expert undenwriting, and, perhaps most significamly,
the timely and fair adjustment of claims. In 2008,
it plans o expand its operating territory and offer

new products to the mining industry.




Specialty Segment

William F Murray
Caroling Casualty
Insuranre Group, LLC

Alfred Schonberger
Clermont Specialty
Managers, Ltd.

|

[
l)uritlrg its sccond full year of operation, Berkley
Aviatirn, LLC increased its portfolio as planned in

its general aviation market segment. Gross written

premium for the year reached $59 million, an
incrc]:lsc of over 12% from 2006, Tts diversified
portfblio of gencral aviation and airline business
proviL:les a wide range of coverage options available
to in£urcds both domestically and internationally.
Bcrklicy Aviation’s broad array of programs includes
covc:ragc for airlines, helicopters, miscellaneous
g(:nel'ra] aviation operations, non-owned aircralt,
ﬁxcc}-basc operations, control towers, airports, and
othdr specialized niche programs, Disciplined
lmclrwriling has positioned the company well

to outperform this scgment of the market, which
cxp«%ricnced an increased level of losses during 2007.
Ben lgv Underwriting Pariners, LLC is a lcading program
mailagement company (or commercial casualty
program administrators that has built its expertise

arolind programs, or blocks of business, in specific

industrics, rather than a particular insurance product,

|
|
!
|
|
l

William ). Johnston
Clermont Specialty
Managers, Ltd.

Douglas ]. Powers
Manitor Liability
Managers, Inc.

This exclusive focus on homogencous entities allows
for more efficient processes and oversight of existing
programs, as well as the effective implementation of
new business. In 2007, Berkley Underwriung Partners
successfully identified two such opportunities and
added new programs for security guards and inland
marine. Experienced and focused management has
resulted in good retention of its existing programs,
and the company looks forward to sceking out new
opportunities in 2008, Berkley Underwriting
Partners had solid performance in 2007, ending

the year with $1 14 million in gross written premiums,

Carolina Casualty Insurance Group, LLC, which
provides commercial insurance products and
services to the transportation industry, ended 2007
with a gross written premium ol $271 million, A new
branch office, opencd in Greenville, South Carolina
in 2006, played a key role in the company’s
performance. In 2008, Carolina Casualty hopes

to introduce additional business and public auto

procucts to further diversify its mix of business. Over




We are pleased with the excellent results and healthy margins

produced by our Specialty operating units in 2007. We believe

that opportunities continue to exist and be attractive in

every market.

the years, it has consistently maintained its strong
reputation for superior products and outstanding
service in the intermediate and long-haul trucking
industry, as well as various classes of business and
public auto, Carolina Casualty’s underwriters, claims
and loss prevention specialists are transportation
experts located throughout the United States, with

long-term multi-coverage, multi-state experience.

Clermont Specialty Managers, Ltd. cnjoyed another
year of steady growth and underwriting profit in
2007, maintaining its long-term market position as
a leading underwriter of insurance for high-rise
cooperative, condominium, and quality rental
buildings and restaurants in the New York City arca.
Expansion into the Chicago arca with its specialty
coverage of high-end residential buildings and
restaurants continued, and 2008 will sce addinonal
cfforts 1o further penetrate that marketplace.
Clermont also intends to expand its niche offerings

in the New Jersey area, where it has had minimal

penetration in the past, and is opumistic about solid
growth and new opportunitics in 2008 and beyond.
Clermont ended 2007 with just over $61 million

I gross writtcn premiums.

Montlor Liability Managers, Inc. underwrites professional
liability insurance on a nationwide basis. By focusing
on specialty niches within that markeplace, Moniwor
is able 1o diversily and oflset declining trends in the
current ¢nvironmertt, as well as focus on niches that
arc overlooked by the markeiplace. In 2007, it made
ciforts 1o better serve its clicnts, and help cross scll

its products to customers of other W, R. Berkley
members companies, by consolidating its smaller
business into onc inclusive Small Business unit.
Despite a more competitive marketplace, Monitor
maintained its premium volume and strong results
in 2007. Its continued focus on niches such as
biotechnology, medical facilites, law firms, and
restaurants has contributed to Monitor’s ability

to remain diversified and profitable.




Rei@gional Segment
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Robert P. Cole
Senior Vice President
Regional Operations

We have built our Regional business around a set of core values

tha:t have remained consistent aver time. in every territory and

region, we have grown our business in the communities in which

we,live and operate.

Our 'Regional companies continued to show

! . . .
excellent performance in a competitive market
in 2907, maintaining a healthy combined ratio

at 91%, while growing in volume to $1.44 billion

in grpss written premium. The small commercial
marl;:ctp]acc in which we operate is, in general,

less subject 1o competition than other segments of
the dcommercial insurance industry, and represents

the least volatile part of our business.

We have built our Regional business around a set
ol c’ e values that have remained consistent over
time. In every territory and region, we have grown
our business in the communities in which we live

andoperate; and in each of our markets, we provide

locally tailored products and services, The vast

majority of our business centers on the small to
middle market commercial customer, primarily in
non-urban America. Qur premium velume comes
from the everyday business that makes America run.
We protect the local farms and churches, the corner
restaurant and hardware store, the fisherman and the

logger — we arc part of the communitics we serve.

This relationship with our customers has allowed us
to develop better knowledge and specialized expertise
in the products and services required by those local
businesses and industries — from dmber and fishing in
Maine, 1o grain elevators and agricultural products
in lowa, to ranching in Texas, we undersiand our
local markets. We have refined that knowledge over

the years to attain the distinctive position where




2007 Pre-tax income

REGIONAL
$ 2 1 5 million

Segment Data 2007 vs. 2006

{DaYars in millions)

o 2007 2006
Toual assets $2,717 §2,796
Total revenues $1,348 $1,290
Pre-1ax income $ 215 $ 201
GAAP combined ratio 91% 9%
Return on equity 20% 21%

Qperating in 48 states and the District of Columbia, our
Regional segment has provided a stable market for our

customers during each phase of the industry cycle.

Long-term agency relationships and specialized expertise
enabled continued moderate growth in premiums in
2007, while generating a return on equity in excess

of 20% for the sixth year in a row.

Gross Written Premium by Line
(By percentage)

® Commercial
Multipte Perit

* Automobile

& Workers'
Compensation

o Assigned Risk Plans

© Other
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Regljlnal Segment
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Bill Thornton Kevin W Nattrass
Acadia lhsurance Berkley Mid-Atlantic
Company Group

we ;mj able to provide products and services that
are unicuely tatlored to those regions. And our
autongmous, decentralized structure allows us the

flexibily (o respond 1o those needs as they change.

We haye forged strong, long-term relationships with
our dis!tribution channels, the independent agents
to whom close partnerships make a difference. This
has in furn allowed us to differenuate oursclves by
focusinf; on personalized service, o both the agent
and the insured, and develop a real understanding
of our |l:ustomcrs’ priorities, We build relationships
with the best agents, and we seck (0 employ
outst;mi(ling, talented people — all to ensure that we

arc able to meet our customers’ needs.

We havie excelled in humanizing the processes that

so often inhibit the insurance transaction — fair

and equitable claims management, customized
loss control, and business innovations that improve
efficieneics for the agent and the insured alike.
And, wi: offer the stability and financial capabilities
of a nalti(_mal carricr, combined with the local,
personalized service of a regional company.

What makes our Regional business different is our
[

Walter E. Stradley
Berkley Regional Specialty
Insurance Company

adherence Lo simple core values that are constant.
We belicve in meeting our commitiments. Qur
presidents are empowcered to make the decisions
they believe are prudent, and opportunistic.

We take a long-term perspective, understanding

that the insurance industry is an ongoing continuum
of events. And, while we are committed to an
approprate risk-adjusted return, we bear in mind that
how we treat our agents — our partners, and how we
together serve our insureds — our customers, is the
cornerstone of our long-term success. These are the

promiscs that are kept in every market.

Operating Units

In 2007, Acadia Insurance Company made significant
ciforts to gain a deeper understanding of its
agents and insureds by collaborating on risk
management initiatives, improving its expertise in
the manuftacturing industry niche, and broadening
1ts underwniting appeute in general. As a leading
provider of commercial property and casualty
insurance in the Northeastern U. 8., it has over the
vears developed a portfolio of tailored producis
that arc distributed through a close network of

independent agents in the local communities it serves.



Our premium volume comes from the everyday business that

makes America run. We protect the local farms and churches, the

corner restaurant and hardware store, the fisherman and the logger

— we are part of the communities we serve.

This year its signature Synergy Risk Management™
program, which asscsses risk and lowers total costs
through joint elforts with its large account clients,
continued 10 increase retention as Acadia took steps
to further brand its specialty capabilities within
the marketplace. As a result of these efforts, Acadia’s
in-force policy retention increased 3 points in 2007
over the past two years” performance; and new
business premium grew 2% over 2006, with its
marine specialty line posting 26% new business
growth. Acadia was recently recognized as a “Top Ten
Performer’ within the “easc-of-doing-business” category
by a major national property and casualty survey firm.
2007 represents the sixth consecutive year of excellent

results with $350 million in gross written premium.

This year Berkley Mid-Atlantic Group conunued to
establish niche programs that are unique o its local
markets and that strengthen and enhance partnerships
with key agents. With a focus on middle market
commercial accounts in cight jurisdictions from
Pennsylvania to South Carolina, Berkley Mid-Atlantic
in 2007 continued to expand these relationships by

enhancing its underwriting capabilitics, upgrading its

customer-interlacing technology, improving customer
service and further developing targeted niche
ollerings. This year saw the expansion of Berkley
Mid-Audantc Group’s large account service program,
PA.C.E. Protecting Assets/Controlfing Exposures™, into

its operating territories. In conjunction with the
agent, PA.C.E. fully integrates loss control, claim
and underwriting services and tailors them o each
individual account. Further business improvements
include a new business process management svstern,
which provides more efficient processing of new and
rencwal business, and an enhanced agent’s portal that
allows rapid communication and effective delivery

of information to agents. These initatives enabled
Berkley Mid-Aulantic to increase retention in 2007

and position itsell” for fulure growth.

Berkley Regional Specialty Insurance Company provides
specialty insurance products to a sclect group of
independent agencies that are associated with the
Berkley Regional companies. It streamlines the
process lor these producers by offering producis
that our Regional companics do not provide, and

enhances the overall value of the WL R Berkley




Regi?nal Segment

Steven ¥ Coward
Berkley Surety Group, Inc.

Bradley S. Kuster
Continental Western
Group

Corporation relationship. Formed in September

2003} Berkley Regronal Specialy ended 2007 with

$16 million in gross written premiums. Excellent levels
of service, sirong customer relations, and superior
quot¢ turnaround time have been and continue to be
key t?ncls in 1ts success. Berkley Regional Specialty
lookd forward to continued growth and further
dcvcllopmcm of its products and service capabilities

in 2008.

Berkley Surety Group, Inc. experienced significant growth

in 2007, benefiting from several recent initiatives

to more cffectively position the company in its
marketplace. The ACM. Best Co. ratings of 1ts
W, R. Berkley member company issuing carriers
imprL)vcd to A+, which, coupled with niew surety
products, continued 10 drive intcrest in the facility
and new agency appointments. New branches
produced strong results while existing branches
advanced their respective market share. Commereial
surety in particular wrned in a strong performance,
capitalizing on internal synergics with athiliates.
These factors combined to generate gross written

premium of $38 million, compared to $28

Craig W. Sparks
Union Standard
Insurance Group

million the prior year. The emphasis on portfolio
management was also tmely as the Group
significantly reduced its writing of real estate
developers in 2004 and was able 10 avoid sigmficant
cxposure related to the current credit markets
and sub-prime problems. This contributed w the
company’s ahility to drive revenues while maintaining
profitable results consistent with prior years, Berkley
Surcty expects further growth in 2008 and will
coentinue to diversify its premium base, both in terms

of content and geographical mix.

Continental Western Group continued to show
consistent, profitable results in 2007, due in part

to addinonal customer-focused initiatives begun in
2006 and carried forward through 2007, An office
was established in Madison, Wisconsin, with other
locations under consideration, to physically position
the company closer to customers who provide
the best opportunitics for profitable growth,
Continental Western also initiated several “ease-of-
doing-business” initiatives which include improving
service on its small commercial lines products,

cxtending its underwriting expertise deeper into



While we are committed to an appropriate risk-adjusted return, we

bear in mind that how we treat our agents — our partners, and

how we together serve our insureds — our customers, is the

cornerstone of our long-term success. These are the promises that

are kept in every market.

the field for its niche products, and allocating more
resources toward larger, more complex commercial
accounts. As technology continues to play an

3

important role in any “casc-of-domg-business”
endeavors, Continental Western is launching a new
online system in 2008 that will provide o convenient,
efficient and cost-effective approach to interacting
with its agencies. The Continental Western Group
of companics continues to pride 1tself” on s over
100-vear history of providing a wide range of
imsurance products to businesses in 18 Midwest
and Pacilic Northwest states. It has leveraged its
geographic expertise to offer specialized programs
for agriculiure-based businesses, and other business
classes such as transportation, school districts and
mumnicipaliues, in addition o the continued expansion
and enhancement of all ol its insurance programs
throughout its operating territories. Continental
Western closed another profitable year in 2007

with 3478 million in gross written premiums.

Union Standard Insurance Group, through its member
companices, provides commercial insurance

products o customers across nine Southern and

Southwestern states. Union Standard demonstrated
the strength of its operating model in 2007 with its
continued ability to produce consistent, profitable
results and growth in a competitive market.

More than hall of the company’s growth this
vear was fueled by its SELECT and SPECIALTY
business programs. SELLCT business is generated
by identilying and capitalizing on market
opportunitics with existing agems, while continued
strategic expansion and growth rom the farm and
transportation niches produce Union Standard’s
SPECIALTY business. Strong relationships with

its agents continue to be the cornerstone off
Unton Standard’s success. In 2007, the company
cxpanded efforts 1o dentily ways to enhance those
relanonships and implemented initiatives to improve
the “easc-of-doing-business” for agemis thar will
continue throughout this year. Particular focus is
being paid 1o maxirmzing the talent and resources of
its people, as well as available technology, 10 create
value for Unton Standard’s agents. The company
cnded its {ifth consecutive vear of growth and
outstancing resules with $245 million i gross

written premium.
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Al;ternative Markets Segment

\

R('.be:l‘ll 1. Stone
Senior Vjce President
Alternative Markets Operations

For over two decades, we have helped our clients assess their

risk tolerance, manage it appropriately, and ensure that the

risklexposed is protected in the manner they deem necessary.

|

I
Our Ahcrnative Markets business was huilt o focus

primarily on the workers’ compensation insured who
clects to retain a substantial portion of their own
insurance risk. For over two decades, we have helped
those clients assess their risk tolerance, manage it
appropriately, and ensure that the risk exposed is
protected in the manner they deem necessary. We
have ralied on our core strengths of knowing and
undcrst!nnding the specialized risk, and providing the
highestilevel of service, 10 create self-msurance solutions
that udd value and reduce costs. We are at our best when
\
we help our chent think abowt the risks that confront
them n a differemt way, incorporating sophisticated
methods of benchmarking and the innovative use of
analvuds and data. And then, we use that information to
create proprictary programs that address those risks most

effectivily lor cach insured.

Over time, we have capitalized on these strengths 1o
expand our model to include healthcare and primary
workers’ compensation. Today, in our Ahernative
Markets segment, we operate as risk bearers, reinsurers,
managers of others’ self-insured programs, and providers
of claims management and other services to third parties.
We provide products and fee-based insurance services
through these major arcas of our business:

* Workers’ compensation insurance on an excess basis
for group and individual self-nsureds and on a pnmary
basis in sclected states;

* Professional hability insurance on an excess basis
for hospitals, above sclf-insured rewenuons;

» Medical stop loss insurance for middle market
companics secking to selfinsure their healtheare costs;

» Management of state workers’ compensation residual

market mechanisms;



2007 Pre-tax income

ALTERNATIVE

MARKETS
) 2 4‘8 million

Segment Data 2007 vs, 2006

[Dollars in millions)

2007 2006
Toral assets $3,261 $2.701
Total revenues $ 875 S B79
Pre-tax income $ 248 S 291
GAAP combined ratdo 82% 6% !
Return on equity B 23% plat g

ta

Our knowledge-based underwriting expertise in the
Alternative Markets segment, combined with special-
ized risk management services, has enabled the seg-
ment to produce consistently attractive GAAP combined
ratios and a return on equity in excess of 20% for each of
the past six years.

Gross Written Premium by Operating Unit*
(By percenuage)

® Midwest Employvers
Casualty 49%
® Kcy Risk 19%
o Preferred Emplovers 12%
© Berkley Risk
Administrators a%
o Berkley Medical
Excess 5%
Berkley Net
Underwriters 3%
o Berkley Accident
and Health

3%

* Excludes assigned risk plans
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Altlprnative Markets Segment

J- Michael Foley
Berkley Medical Excess
Underwriters, LLC

Dosiato . Gasparro
Berklkgy Accident and
Health, LLC

Berkley Net

* Bundled and unbundled fee-based services to help

corporate, government, non-profit and other entities
develop and administer self-insurance programs
:mc‘l utilize other alternative means of financing or
transferring risk; and

. \\"oirkc:rs’ compensation insurance for small sind middle

market companics in selected regions of (he United States.

In eaLh of these areas, we seck to educate our customer
as to what their nsk profile.is, help them understand what
happens when things go right; what (o expect when things
g0 wrjrmg; and when it is prudent to wransler that risk to
us. Infa complex line of the insurance business, driven

not ju!st by inflation but by wages and rising medical

costs, we invest time and resources in understanding the
dircction ol 1echnology, the legal habibiy system, and
potential gains from rehabilitation and surgical advances

—such innovauons that can enhance the outcome for the

injurefl worker, and minimize the cost for the insured.
i L

W understand that every state and territory is different,
| . . .

and t]};u every job in every industry presents its own set
| . ] .

of unifjuc exposurcs. And, we invest resources in the loss

prc\ferition and risk management tools that will help our

clientsiminimize the exposures they face.

|
|

John K. Goldwater

Underwriters, LLC

Kenneth R. Hopkins
Berkley Risk Administrators
Company, LLC

From loss control through cffecuve claims handhing,

in a Berkley company, routine functions are never

a mechanical process. Whether 1t 1s the scamless,
personalized service offered to the small business owner in
California, or the casy online solutions provided to agents,
or the speaialized expertise carved out in niches such as
healtheare, education, government, tribal, and not-for-
profit entities, we pride ourselves not just on optimally
handling the claim, but in sceking w prevent the claim
before it occurs. And, we understand that knowledge,
expertise and service are only effeetive when combined
with the dose, collaborative relationships we have

forged with our insureds.

As medical care becomes more complex and our
nsureds’ obligatons to their workers become a bigger
cost of doing business, the future of this segment of our

compxny I'C[)I'CSCIHS CNOrMmoLs pOlCl]ﬁﬂ.L

Operating Units

Berkley Aceident and Health, LLC provides a portolio
of insurance and reinsurance products through two
underwritung divisions, Healtheare and Specialty

Accident. lts Healtheare unit structures products to help



In each of these areas, we seek to educate our customer as to

what their risk profile is, help them understand what happens

when things go right; what to expect when things go wrong; and

when it is prudent to transfer that risk to us.

middle mirket companies manage the risks associated
with self-insured healthcare programs, and provides
coverages for healthcire providers and managed care
organizations who seck to limit their exposures o
severe healtheare claims, The Specialty Accident unit
provides coverage to individuals, schools, organizations
and corporate groups. In 2007, as the medical stop loss
market remained competiove, effors were focased on
finding niche opportunitics, especially in the Specialy
Accident area, where Berkley Acadent and Health

made progress in building a block of core business, {ts
Healthcare unit mainained underwriting discipline in
the fuce of the challenging market for employee stop loss
coverage and will cominue to ratonally develop that book
of business in andeipation of improved market conditions.,
In towal, Berkley Acadent and Health produced $19.5

million ol gross premiums written in 2007.

A leading underwriter of medical malpractice excess
and reinsurance coverage and services, Berkley Medical
Fixcess Underoniters, 1LC offers a unique approach o risk
management that is being embraced by both its insured
clients and brokers. In 2007, it developed new risk

financing alternatives which, coupled with exceptional

data mining capabilitics, have led o marked success
with its distribution network and customers. Efforts

ter reline and expand its product offering based on
market segmentation have further resulted in improved
market recogniton. Berkley Medical achieved excellen
retention rates in 2007, particularly in those risks where
1t 1s the provider of the first layer of coverage. It enters
2008 confident that many opportunitics stll exist inits
market niche, where the customer appreciates creative
approaches to program design that complement
their improved patient care initiatves and long-term

investments in capitd projects.

Berlkley Net Underworiters, LLC combines technology,
underwriting and claims expertise w deliver real-time
workers” compensation solutions through a seleet
group of agents and brokers in its current 13 state
wermitory. Formed in Jamary 2006, 1s prinary focus i
small 10 mid-sized workers’ compensation risks across

a wide range of industries that includes construction,
manulicturing, hospitality and the service industry, This
vear saw the successtul launch of its online automated
system, which allows producers to quote, bind and service

policies in real ome. BerkleyiNet showed steady growth
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Joc W gykes
Key Risk Insurance
Company

Robert W. Standen
Key Risk Insurance
Company

in 2007} sccuring attractive business at good prices and

contnyng to expand through its select distribution
network of retail, wholesale and specialty niche agencies,
where its acceptance has been exceptional. In 2008, the
conlpaiy intends to expand 1ts specialty miches, while
cominu'ing to cultivate additional growth [rom existing
and new distribution partners. BerkleyNet also expects
|
to scleciively expand the number of states it conducts
I
business in, as new epportunitics develop.
I

Berkley Rusk Admimstrators Compeamy, LLC and Riverport

Insurancg Connpany both launched successtul imtiatives in

2007. Ranked as onc of the largest property casualty
third-p:ilrty administrators in the United States, Berkley

Risk Administrators is also the third largest servicing

|
. s N - - .
provider for workers’ compensation assigned nisk plans.

This vear the company was awarded a 15% share of
the Ilhngis plan, one of the larger workers” compensation
residual Inarket pools in the United States, bringing the
total ntulnbcr of states served (o 18, Significant new
clicnts, illlcllld.illg leading national and international
insurance companics, were also added to its third-party
adminisﬁrzltor hook of business. In 2007, Berkley Risk
Administrators complemented its existing service and

risk-bearing business by implementing a new captive

Melodee . Saunders
Midwest Employers
Casualty Group, LLC

/

Linda R. Smith
Preferred Employers
Insurance Company

insurance program and forming a Bermuda segregated
account company. The company ended 2007 with §85
million in service fees, Riverport Insurance Company
increased its geographic reach (o 47 states, and expanded
its alternative risk business, in some cases pairing
participant accident programs with general liability
products for some of its key programs. A new public
entity program and a risk purchasing group were also
added 1o its portfolio this year. Dircet written premium

increased in 2007 w0 $37 million.

Key Risk delivered the best results in s history for 2007,
with $134 million in gross wntten premiums and $19
million in service fees. Focusing exclusively on workers’
compensation, Key Risk provides solutions on o fully
insured basis through Aey Risk Insurance Company, and
in the role of third-pary administrator of sell-insured
workers’ compensation programs through ey Risk
Management Services, Ine. Since 1ts formation in 1986, it
has become highly regarded as a provider of beteer
workers’ compensation outcomes through a uniquc
combination of specialization, claims handling and
loss control expertise, and the development of muwally
heneficial relatonships. 2007 saw the results of a long-

term, successful management strategy that has placed



From loss control through effective claims handling, in a Berkley

company, routine functions are never a mechanical process. We

understand that knowledge, expertise and service are only effective

when combined with the close, collaborative relationships we have

forged with our insureds.

emphasis on outcomes. This year the company expanded
its geographic reach beyond its Southeastern footprint
into Maryland, and introduced new product solutions for
the temporary stafling and hospice industries. Key Risk
remains committed to providing local service, with en
oflice locations serving its clients throughout the Eastern

United States from Maryland through Flonda.

2007 was a successful year (or Midwest Emplayers Casualty
Groupy L1L, driven by uts strategy of providing s clients
with valuable risk mitigaton services bundled with
insurance coverage. With its exclusive focus on workers’
compensation excess imsurance and reinsurance
products to self-insured individual employers and groups
nationwide, it has built a market niche through strong
customer focus, detailed knowledge of its customer,

and a sophisticated analytical approach to managing
risk. Midwest Lmployers” innovative Tofal Cost of Rusk
(TCOR) program, a comprehensive risk management
solunon tadored to the specific necds of each clieny, is
gaining wider acceptance among clients and agents for its
proven effectiveness in improving fimancial performance
and reducing overall program costs for the msured. It

continues to refine this powerful ool, which has heen

instrurmental in retatming current customers and winning
substantial new business, as well as increasing client

saisfaction and loyaly,

The benefit of the 2003-2004 reforms to the California
workers’ compensation system continued to be
reflected in the 2007 results for Preferred Employers
fnsurance Company. Driven by legislutive relorms, state
rate levels have fallen significantly, reducing California
workers” compensation rates in excess ol 65% over the
past three years. In the [ace of decreased rates driven
by legislative reforms, and increased competition from
new and existing players, Preferred has successfully
maintained what has proven to be a very good book

of business, It continues its high level of personalized,
simplificd service that caters o the needs of California
small business, increasing convenience through
expanded payment options, online services and
more direct contact with emplover groups. Although
the California workers’ compensation insurance
marketplace continues o be extremely competitive
and 1s expected to remain so throughour most of 2008,
Preferred is well positioned to provide exeelient returns

and pursue future opportunities.
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C! Fred Madsen
Senior Vice President
Re['nsurance Operations

Relnsurance Segment

I
I our Reinsurance operating units, we rely on our experience and

market knowledge to make informed decisions. This is our strategy

in every market, and one that has served us well throughout

each cycle.

2007 was a year that required discipline for our
Rainsurance segment and for the industry as a whole,

as Various forces at work in the current environment
continued to affect results for reinsuriince comparsies in
gcrjleml. Against a hackdrop of increased compeution,
the primary companics who form our principal customer
bale are frequenty making decisions to buy less
n:illlsumncc and retain more of their own risk. As well,
wejhave strategically allowed business that docs not meet
our targeted rate of return to be written by others, And
i'mzllll); market forces in general are diiving a decrease in

reinsurance rates in the property casualty segment.

In such an environment, we optimize our profitability
by reserving capacity tor those risks that offer the
most opportunity. Long-term viability depends on
one’s ability to make sound choices — to choose

the right nisk, the right customer, and the right line
of business. In our Reinsurance operating units,

we rely on our experience and market knowledge
1o make informed decisions. And, we continuce to
reject business where we are not able 10 achieve a
reasonable risk-adjusted rate of return. This is our
strategy in every market, and one that has served us

well throughout each cycle.




Segment Data 2007 vs. 2006

{Dotlars in millions)

Total assets

Total revenues

Pre-tax income
GAAP combined ratio
Return on equity

2007 Pre-tax income

REINSURANCE

million

2007 2006
$4,913  $5.23
$ 894 8 993
$ 178 8 135

97% 100%
13% 1%

The Reinsurance segment has grown annual pre-tax
income by an average of 41% since 2003 by making
sound decisions and reserving capacity for those
risks that offer the most opportunity for reasonable

risk-adjusted returns.

Gross Written Premium by Operating Unit

(By percentage)

® Signet Star Re 40%
® Llovd’s 23%
® Facultative ReSources  17%
o BFRe N%
o Berkley Risk Solutions 5%

Waich Hill 4%
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Reinsurance Segment

Daniel L. Avery
B F Re Urderwriters, LLC

Jeftrey E. Vosburgh
Berkley Risk Solutions,
Ing.

Our prpfessional facultative underwriters average 25
years of experience, giving them a distinet advantage
n se]eéting those risks that will provide leng-term

proftability. Facultative reinsurance 1s, by nature,

a business of adverse selection. Companics come to
the rcianurcr becausc there is risk, there is volatility,
because they are uncertain ol the exposures, and,
because they are unsure of the rates. At this point in
the utTIcrwriting cvele, the risks that are presented
are inherently more hazardous and the exposures
more ¢omplex. The challenge for the facultative
undcr\!vriter is therelore even greater in identifying
and agcepting those risks that will generate profits.
|
Each oI our facultative units has the underwriting
capabilities and the discipline (o select wisely from the
|
opportunitics that the market offers, and to manage
those risks through the limits we set. Our formula
is simple — we establish pricing that is commensurate
with the risk presented, allocate limits to maich

the degree of hazard inherent in the risk, and limit

b . .
coverage with terms and conditions.

James H. Crutchley
Facultative ReSources, Inc.

Similarly, on the treaty side of our Reinsurance
business, we align ourselves with ceding companies
who run their business in a way that 1s focused on
profitability. They arc companies that have a sound
business strategy, and know how to execute that
strategy; they understand risk and, most importantly,
know how to price for that risk. We sclectively forge
long-term relationships with companices that are the
best pracuitioners of their trade — those companies
that are known for exceptional claims handling,
rigorous underwriting, strong actuarial skills, and
that are specialists in their lines of business. The
companics we look for in our treaty business, and
are most successful with, are those that adhere 1o
underwriting discipline — not those that are chasing

the market.

We helieve there are many companics that value a
long-term relatonship that brings expertise and
capital. We think we have a bright future aligning

with these enterpriscs.




We optimize our profitability by reserving capacity for those risks

that offer the most opportunity. Long-term viability depends on one’s

ability to make sound choices — to choose the right risk, the right

customer, and the right line of business.

Operating Units

W. R. Berkley Corporation member companics
provide reinsurance coverage and services on an
individual basis, through facultative reinsurance,
and on a portfolio basis, through treaty reinsurance.
We participate as well in business written through
Lloyd’s. The segment writcs on hehalf of Berkley
Insurance Company (BIC), one of the strongest
companies in the insurance and reinsurance markets,
and its subsidiary, Berkley Regional Insurance
Company (BRIC). Both BIC and BRIC carry
exceptional ratings, maintaining Standard & Poor’s
ratings of A+ {Strong), and recently recetving

an upgrade of their A.M. Best Co. ratings to

A+ (Superior).

2007 marked a hfth consecutive year of underwriting
prolit lor B F Re Underwriters, LLC. As a dircct
casualty retnsurance underwriting manager, B IF Re
is uniquely positioned to meet the specific needs of

its individual clients through a national neowork of

seven regional offices. Each of these ofhices works
closely with its select eliems to deliver a collaborative,
customer-focused relationship that creates mutually
beneficial value and underwriting profitability

for 1ts reinsurance clienis. B F Re’s decentralized
organizatonal siructure allows it to provide tailored
solutions and value added services 1o each local
market, while drawing on all the benefits of s
national network. It has the ability to mect all of the
customer’s casualty reinsurance needs by delivering

a wide array of reinsurance coverage, actuanal and
claims services, and financial expertise. B F Re rargets
and institutionahizes relationships with the select
customer who values the depth of experience a long-
term, professional stafl’ can offer. During 2007, the
maintenance of its underwnting and pricing standards
necessitated a 9% drop in the written premium volume
10 $82 million, but, with long-term profitability as its
primary goal, the company is pleased with the book
ol business 1t has wnitten and is well positioned to

capitalize on opportunities as they arise.




Reinsurance Segment
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Tom N. Kellogg
Signet Jtar Re, LLC

Craig N. Johnson
Signet Star Re, LLC

Established in 1985, Fadiative ReSources, Inc. 1s one of

the largrest broker market property casualty reinsurance

underwriting managers in the United States. In

its 23 }r't:ar history, it has established an industry-wide
n:pumlu'on for providing innovauve solutions, consistent
support, and cxceptional service to reinsurance
intermediaries and ceding company customers alike.
l":lcultéltive ReSources provides customers with both
inclivi&ual nisk and program support in both property
and Czisualty reinsurance for a variety ol classes. Lines
ol business include catastrophe, fire, allied lines and
nun—c;[t business in the property lines; and general
liability, workers’ compensation, products liability,
commgrcial auto, non-medical professional, public
entity,lumbrella and excess in the casualty lines.
l"'ncullLtivc ReSources” underwriting stafl” averages
more than 25 years of experience in the industry and
is well|known to its clients for its market knowledge
and f:llmiliarity with the changing market eycle. lis

\
seasorjed professionals are well positioned o respond

!
|

Gerald 8. King
Watch Hill Fac
Management, LLC

with speedl, expertise and risk selection acumen in

any environment, skills that are especially key in
navigating the market cvcle. It finished 2007 with
127 million in gross written premium, of which $27

million was property and §100 million was casualty.

Now in its sccond full vear of opceration, MWatch

Hill Fac Management, LLC enjoved 12% growth this
year, ending 2007 with 329 million in gross written
premium. It operates within the broker distribution
market, and its book consists predominantly of
individual risk business. Risks are underwntten on
an excess of loss basis or, in the case of umbrella
liability, on a contributing basis, for a wide variety of
classes of business. While Watch Hill was somewhat
impacted by the phenomenon of companics buying
less reinsurance, this year’s positive resulls were a
reflection of its new professional liability intiatve,
the maturation of the organization in general, its

strong marketing efforts, and the market demand for




Each of our facultative units has the underwriting capabilities

and the discipline to select wisely from the opportunities that the

market offers, and to manage those risks through the limits we set.

Similarly, on the treaty side of our Reinsurance business, we align

ourselves with ceding companies who run their business in a way

that is focused on profitability.

additional, knowledgeable capacity. Waich Hill has,
in its short operating span, distinguished nself from
its competitors with disciplined underwriting, deeper
relationships with its clients, and a focus on service as

a priority in 2008 and beyond.

Our treawy writing facilivy, Signet Star Re, LLC, is a
leaching broker market treaty reinsurance underwriter
with a primary focus on commercial casualty and
professional liability, including medical malpractice.

It uuilizes the risk-bearing facilities of Berkley

Insurance Company, whose rating upgrade by A.M.
} }

Best to A+ (Superior) facilitated addiional new
business opportunttics during 2007. The continuity
and depth of its professional stafl” are well recognized
in the market. Signet Star Re reserves its capacity
for those clients that have excellent performance in
their market segment and a strong commitment

to underwriting profitability. It strives to strengthen

the clicnt relationship at every ouch point in the

production and service process. The result is a high
level of two-way transparency which is a key wo a
sustainable business relationship. 2007 saw a mocdest
shift in the composition of its portfolio toward
smalter, specialty clients as the company maintained
underwriting and pricing discipline. Tt ended the

year with $290 mallion 1n gross written premium.

Berkley Risk Solutions, Ine. specializes i sophisticated and
complex casualty insurance and reinsurance transactions
that provide clients with innovative solutions to their
risk-hased funding, capial and other strategic business
goals. To support these efforts, Berkley Risk Solutions
has assembled a small tcam of experienced professionals
who bring critical industry knowledge and ransactional
skill to bear in designing and structuring risk
transactions. Business is produced by an array of like-
minded insurance and reinsurance agents, brokers and
wholesalers who look w match umgue client needs and

objectives with equally creative products and solutions.
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Steven W. Taylor
Senior Mice President
International Operations

We have built our International segment around the same principles
that have made our domestic operations so successful . . . when and
wh%ere we have found competent, responsible teams of local professionals
who share our core values and our entrepreneurial spirit.

The effective oversight of operations in a global

scuinLg presents a complex set of challenges. They are
reflegted in diverse product ofterings, differing legal and
ccon::mlic chimates, and the various cultural and business
nuarices of on¢’s customiers and distnbution channels,
as well as the perceptions and demands of one’s own
manl;gcmcnt. [t is eritical to recognize the possibilities,
as well as the constraints, that exist in each operating
environment — and then have the ability to scize those

opportunities, as well as identify the potential pidalls.

We have built our International segment around the
i
sameé principles that have made our domestic operations
so successful. In cach area of the world where we do
husihcss, we have created a decentralized strueture
ol autonomous, regional operations that maintain
the flexibility to respond o local needs, and have the
spec'ializcd expertise to understand their markets. We
have grown our business opportunistically in select
C(::m'ltn'cs over tme, when and where we have found
comipetent, responsible teams of local professionals

wlu? share our corc values and our entrepreneurial

spirit. We enter cach new market only after careful
consideration, investing modestly in a particular product
ot line of business until we have demonstrated that
our business maodel makes sense. Our structure and
our opcrating philosophy then allow us the ability to
blend that local knowledge with the resources of a
multinational enterprise, creating an internationally
sound business unit with a umque, local flavor. We
often say that there 1s not one Berkley way, but 54 — all
sharing a common set of values: our people-oriented
philosophy; accountability — to our owners, to our
distribution channels, and (o our ulumate customers, our
insureds; flexibility in our product offerings and scrvices;
and transparency in our financial transactions. And,
we take pride in each and every variation on that

commuon theme.

We recently found favorable conditions in three
new global markets and expanded operations into
Uruguay, Australia, and Clina, where we have opened
a representative office. We are very pleased with the

performance of our international operations in 2007,



2007 Pre-tax income

INTERNATIONAL
) 4‘4‘ million

Segment Data 2007 vs. 2006

(Dollars in millions)

Total assets

Total revenues

Pre-tax income
GAAP combined ratio
Return on equity

Over the past 10 years, the International segment
has grown at a compound average rate of 20%
through geographic and product expansion to
represent 5% of total revenue in 2007. We believe
there is ample opportunity for growth in the
intemational arena as these businesses mature

and others are developed.

®

Gross Written Premium by Region
{(By percentage)

® Europe 52%
® South America 46%
® Asia* 2%

* The BIC-Hong Kong branch was
transferred to the International
Segment on January 1, 2008.




Internavional Segment

Eduardj) l. Llobet
Berkley International
Argenting S.A.

Stuart Wright
W. R. Berkley Insurance
{Eurcpe), Limited

particularly in Argentina. While the United Kingdom
market is experiencing much of the same competition
as the UL S, environment, our European operations
continug to show profitable results and we anticipate

future growth in that market.

Operating Units

Opcrati%ms in Argentina had another year of outstanding
growth,with a 22% increase in gross written premiums,
Berkley }

Berkley International Seguros and Berkiey International ART,

niernational Argenting’s two operating units,

grew their gross written premiums by 19% and 28%,
respectiJ ely. Both companics have consolidated their
market leadership and conanue to set industry standards
with consistent business strategies, high quality product
portfolios, and efficient operating platforms. This
vear saw dynamic growth for both existing and new

|

well received. During 2007, both companies continued

business, with a new engincering line being particularly
their ge[‘)graphic cxpansion into new locations, and
introduged new products in the commercial and
pcrsonll lines business. Throughout 2007, Berkley
Intern

!

underwriting, maintaining its growth potential despite

tional Argentina exercised discipline in

price competition in some of its lines, and sustained
its positon among the most profitable companies in
the m:tr‘Lct. The wide array of insurance products
and scrvices it now offers, and the momentum it has
established, has laid a solid foundadon for sustainable

growth in 2008 and beyond.

N\ s
. JRN

Victor V. Leong
Berkley Insurance
Company — Hong Kong

Alan M. Rale
Berkley International, LLC

K. Grant Robson
Berkley Re Australia

2007 was the first full year of operations in Brazil,
where Berkley International do Brasil Seguros S.A. recorded
solid growth in gross written premiunis to §14 milhon.
Headguartered in Sdo Paulo, this new operating unit
hegan writing surety business in March 2006 through a
network of select agents and brokers, and soon reached
the fourth largest positon in market share in Brazil, just
hehind long established major players. A new branch
office in Rio de Janeiro was successfully opened during
the year, with additional locations expected to follow.
Berkley International do Brasil also began writing
mandatory personal injury caused by motor vehicle
during 2007, and plans to expand to other commercial
lines in the future, in order to take advantage of the
many opportunities the country offers in its current

climatc of economic growth.

Leveraging the W. R. Berkley Corporation philosophy
of decentralized operations, flexibility and in-depth
knowledge of local markets, Berkley International
Argentina also initiated filings to begin operations
in Uruguay, where a new company, Berkley International
Seguros 8.A. (Uruguay), is expected to begin writing

property and casualty business in early 2008.

W R Berkley Insurance (Europe), Limited grew 19% in gross
written premium in 2007, with record pre-tax profits.
Yormed in 2003 as a London-based msurer specializing
primarily in casualty business, it has significantly

expanded its product offering and geographic reach
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We often say that there is not one Berkley way, but 34 — all sharing a
common set of values. And, we take pride in each and every variation

on that common theme.

over the past four vears. While professional habaline
remains its core product ling, W, R, Berkley (Europe)
now offers coverage for directors and ofhcers; accaident
and health; medical malpractice; and general liabiliny,
In 2007, it successfully launched a new engincering

and construction division, which has been met with
enthusiasm from its broker basce. An additional United
Kingdom branch was opened in 2007 in Manchester o
betier serve the needs of its regional account customers,
and a new nitauve to distribute products more
comprehensively in Scandinavia was launched.

W. R. Berkley (Europe)’s Spanish oflices in Madrid
and Bareclona, openced in 2006, continue 1o grow
and develop their specialization in the burgeoning
medical malpracuce and professional indemnity markets,
drawing upon local experts to find long-term solutions
to client needs. In addition 1o its United Kingdom and
Spanish locations, W, R. Berkley (Europe) launched its
Australian branch, based in Sydney, in 2007, Previously
owned 80% by W. R. Berkley Corporaion and 20%

by Kiln Ltd, W. R. Berkley Insurance (Europe} became
owned 100% by W. R. Berkley Corporauon in the first

quarter of 2008.

Berkley Insurance Company’s — Hong Eong branch completed
1ts first full underwnung year in 2007 with positive
growth. [t operates as a full service property casualy
reinsurance branch of Berkley Insurance Company with
a main focus on commercial property lines. Facultative
and treaty capacity arce clfered on a proportional

and excess of loss basis 1o companies in North and
Southeast Asia. s products and services are distribued
through professional reinsurance intermediarics, direc
ceding companies and retail brokers. Since receiving

its operating license in mid-2006 from the Hong Kong

Insurance Authonty, Berkley Insurance Company —
Hong Kong has developed a reputation for discipline
and bottom line focus that has made it a welcome
addition to the Hong Kong reinsurance marketplace.
Its highly skilled underwriters have brought fresh ideas
(o the region 1t serves, and have become known for
providing the highest level of service and expertise to
their customers. In 2007, W R, Berkley Corporation’s
enthusiasm for and commiument 1o the region led o
Turther expansion with the opening of a Representative
Office in Beiping, China in June of that vear. As with all of
our other endeavors, additional resources and people
will be committed when profitable opportuniues are
idenufied as Berkley Insurance Company — Hong Kong

continues to build and strengthen its pladorm in Asia.

Seizing upon attractive conditions to establish a
presence and grow a business over the long-term,
Berkley Insurance Company this vear extended

its reinsurance operatons into the Australasian
markeiplace with a branch, Berkley Re Australia. We
determined that Australia’s stable political, econormic
and legal climates, combined with open market policies
and a highly educated workforce, create a favorable
business ervironment in which to operate. Moreover,
we were once again able w assemble a team of highly
motivated individuals who share our core values and
entreprencurial spirit, and who are local to the region
we serve. The operaton will focus on specialist, niche
facultative and treaty reinsurance business, with a strong
excess of loss and casualty component. Berkley Re
Australia began writing business in _January 2008,
and has been warmly received in the marketplace. We

are enthusiastic about s prospects in 2008 and beyond.




Cumulative Total Return
Based upon an initial investment of $100 on

December 31, 2002 with dividends reinvested

Dec 02 Dec 03 Dec 04 Dec 05 Dec 06 Dec 07

# W R. Berkley Corporuion o S&I’ 500 o Custom Composite Index
(11 Stocks)

The Custom Composite Index consists of ACE Limited, The Chubb Corporation, Cincinnali Financial Corp,,
CNA Financial Corp., Everest Re Group, Ltd,, HCC Insurance Holdings, Inc,, Markel Corp,, Ohin Casualty
Corp. (ending 2Q07}, SAFECO Corp., Travelers Cos., Inc. and XL Capital Lid.

Capyright © 2008, Stundard & Poor’s, a division of The MeGraw-Hill Companies, Inc, All rights reserved,

o ~__ Dec-02  Dec-03  Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06 Dec-07
W. R. Berkley Corporation $100 $133 $181 $276 3301 $262
S5&P 500% $100 8129 5143 $150 §173 $183
Custom Composite Index
(11 Swocks) S100 $121 $131 $154 $177 S172
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Financial Data

(Amounits in thousands, except per share data)

{

Years Endeiﬂ December 31, 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Net prcmii::lms written $ 4,575,989 $ 4,818,993 § 4,604,574 $ 4,266,361 $3,670,515
Net premifims earned : 4,663,701 4,692,622 4,460,935 4,061,092 . 3,234 610
Net invcsulincm income 672,660 586,175 403,962 291,295 210,056
Insurance service fees i 97,689 104,812 110,697 109,344 101,715
Realized investment gairis 14,938 9,648 17,209 48,268 81,692
Revenues from wholly-owned investees 102,846 — — — —
Total rcvc!nues 5,553,639 5,394,831 4996839 4,512,235 3,630,108
Interest espense 88,996 92,522 85,926 66,423 54,733
Income hff'orc income taxes 1,057,634 988,645 770537 638,513 . 489,304
. Income tz"x expense {310,905) (286,398) {222,521) (196,235) (150,626)

Minority interest (3,083) {2,729) (3,124) (3,446) (1,458)
Income b!efon: change in accountng 743,646 699,5 18 544,802 438,832 337,220
Cumulatite effect of change in accounting — — -— (727) —
Net incothe 743,646 699,518 544,892 438,105 337,220
Dawa per common share: '

Net in¢ome per basic share ' 3.94 3.65 2.36 2.32 1.81

Net in;ome per diluted share 3.78 3.46 2.72 2.21 1.72

Stockholders’ equity 19.80 17.30 13.42 11.13 8.95

Cash dividends declared .20 16 A2 12 12
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic | 188,981 191,809 190,533 188,912 187,029

Dilutegl 196,698 201,961 200,426 198,408 195,893
Balance fhect data as of year end:
Investments $ 11,893,522 $11,114,364 $ 9,810,225 $ 7,303,889 $5,068,670
Total ass!cts 16,832,170 15,656,489 13,896,287 11,451,033 9,334,685
Reserves for losses and loss expenses 8,678,034 7,784,269 6,711,760 5,449,611 4,192,001
Junior sqbordinaled debentures 249,375 241,953 450,634 208,286 193,336
Senior rﬂoles and other debt 1,121,793 869,187 967,818 808,264 659,208

3,335,159 2,567,077 2,109,702 1,682,562

Stockholders’ equity 3,569,775
I

I
PAST PRICES OF COMMON STOCK

The coimmon stock of the Company is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “WRB”.

I

_Price Range Common Dividends
| High Low Declared Per Share

2007 i
Fourth Quarter $32.21 $28.04 $.05
‘Third Quarter 32.81 25.20 .05
Secopd Quarter 33.80 31.89 .05
First Quarter 35.10 31.30 .05

2006 |
Fourth Quarter $37.72 $34.34 §.04
Third Quarter 37.25 32.26 04
Sccc‘nd Quarter 40.95 30.61 04
First Quarter 40.15 31.87 04

I




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

W. R. Berkley Corporation is an insurance holding company that is among the largest commercial lines writers in
the United States and operates in five business segments: Specialty insurance, Regional property casualty insurance,
Alternative Markets, Reinsurance and International. The Company’s primary sources ol revenues and earnings are

insurance and investments, T -

The profitability of the Company’s insurance business is aflected primarily by the adequacy of premium rates. The
ultimate adequacy of prémium rates is not known with certainty at the time a property casualty insurance policy is
issued because premiums are determined before claims are reported. The ullimate adequacy of premium rates is
affected mainly by the severity and frequency of claims, which are infiuenced by many factors, including natural
and other disasters, regulatory measures and court decisions that define and change the extent of coverage and the
effects of economic inflation on the amount of compensation due for injuries or losses. General insurance prices
are also influenced by available insurance capacity, i.e., the level of policyholders’ surplus employed in the industry,

and the industry’s willingness to deploy that capital.

Available insurance capacity has increased in recent years, increasing competition in the industry and putting
downward pressure on pricing and terms and conditions. In 2007, we saw increased competition and decreased
prices across most of our business segments, and we believe that this trend of increased competition and decreased

prices will continue in 2008,

The Company’s profitability is also affected by 1ts investment income. The Company’s invested assets, which are
derived {rom its own capital and cash flow from its insurance business, are invested principally in fixed maturity
securities. The return on fixed maturity securities is affected primarily by general interest rates and the credit
quality and duration of the securities. The Company also invests in equity securities, including merger arbitrage,

private equity and real estate securities,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The following presents a discussion of accounting policies and estimates relating to reserves for losses and loss
expenses, assumed premiums and investments. Management believes these policies and estimates are the most critical

to its operations and require the most difficult, subjective and complex judgments.

N

Reserves for Losses and Loss Expenses.  'To recognize liabilities for unpaid losses, either known or unknown, insurers
cstablish reserves, which is a balance sheet account representing estimates of future amounts needed to pay claims
and related expenses with respect to insured events which have occurred. Estimates and assumptions relating to
reserves for lossc}:s and loss expenses are based-on complex and subjective judgments, often including the interplay
of specific uncertainties with related accounting and actuarial measurements. Such estimates are also susceptible to
change as significant periods of time may elapse between the occurrence of an insured loss, the report of the loss

to the insurer, the ultimate determination of the cost,of the loss and the insurer’s payment of that loss.
) pay!

In general, when a claim s reported, claims personnel establish a “case reserve” for the estimated amount of the

ultimate payment. The estimate represents an informed judgment based on general reserving practices and reflects




the experience and knowledge of the claims personnel regarding the nature and value of the specific type of claim.
Reserves ire also established on an aggregate basis to provide for losses incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) to the

insurer, potential inadequacy of case reserves and the estimated expenses of seuling claims, including legal and

other fees and general cxpenses of administrating the claims adjustment process. Reserves are established based

upon the'then current legal interpretation of coverage provided.

~

|
In examining reserve adequacy, several factors are considered in addition to the economic value of losses. These

factors iniciude historical data, legal developments, changes in social attitudes and economic conditions, including
the efTeclts of inflation. The actuarial process relies on the basic assumption that past experience, adjusted
judgmentally for the effects of current developments and anticipated trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting
future ovtcomes. Reserve amounts are necessarily based on management’s informed estimates and judgments_ _
using currently available data. As additional experience and other data become available and are reviewed, these
estimates and judgments may be revised. This may result in reserve increases or decreases that would be reflected
m our rc&ults in periods in which such estimates and assumptions are changed.

)
Resen;esldo not represent an exact calculation of liability. Rather, reserves represent an estimate of what manage-
ment expects the ultimate settlement and claim administration will cost. While the methods for establishing the
reserves ?rc well tested over time, some of the major assumptions about anticipated loss emergence patterns are
subject tt]tv unanticipated fluctuation. These estimates, which generally involve actuarial projections, are based on
management’s assessment of facts and circumstances then known, as well as esimates of future trends in claims
severity dud frequency, judicial theories of liability and other factors, including the actions of third parties which
are beyo:ild the Company’s control. These variables are affected by external and internal events, such as inflation
and economic volatility, judicial and litigation trends, reinsurance coverage, legislative changes and claim handling
and resc! fing pzac[iccs, which make it more difficult to accurately predict claim costs. The inherent uncertainties of
estimating reserves are greater [or certain types of liabilities where long periods of time elapse before a definitive

delcrmix*alion of liability is made. Because setting reserves is inherently uncertain, the Company cannot assure that

Loss resdrves included in the Company’s {inancial statements represent management’s best estimates based upon an
) g

-its current reserves will prove adequate in light of subsequent cvents.

actuaria.l:]y derived point estimate and other considerations. The Company uses a variety of actuarial techniques
and methods to derive an actuarial point estimate for each operating unit. These methods include paid loss devel-
opment,incurred loss development, paid and incurred Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods and frequency and severity
methods; In circumstances where one actuarial method is cansidered more credible than the others, that method is
used to set the point estimate. For example, the paid loss and incurred loss development methods rely on historical
paid anc{ incurred loss data. For new lines of business, where there is insuflicient history of paid and incurred
claims dita, or in circumstances where there have been significant changes in claiin practices, the paid and
incurred loss development methods would be less credible than other actuarial methods. The actuarial pont esu-
mate may also be based on a judgmental weighting of estimates produced from each of the methods considered.
‘Industry loss experience is used to supplement the Company’s own data in selecting “tail factors” and in areas

where the Company’s own data is limited. The actuarial data is analyzed by line of business, coverage and accident

or policy year, as appropriate, for each operating unit.




The establishment of the actuarially derived loss reserve point estimate atso includes consideration of qualitative
factors that may affect the ultimate losses. These qualitative considerations include, among others, the impact of re-
underwriting initiatives, changes in the mix of business, changes in distribution sources and changes in policy terms
and conditions. Examples of changes in terms and conditions that can have a significant impact on reserve levels
are the use of aggregate policy limits, the expansion of coverage exclusions, whether or not defense costs are within

policy limits, and changes in deductibles and attachment points.

The key assumptions used to arrive at the best estimate of loss reserves are the expected loss ratios, rate of loss cost
inflation, and reported and paid loss cmergence patterns. Expected loss ratios represent management’s expectation
of losses at the time the business is written, before any actual claims experience has emerged. This expectation is a
significant determinant of the cstimate of loss reserves for recently written business where there is little paid or
incurred loss data to consider. Expected loss ratios are generally derived from historical loss ratios adjusted for the
impact of rate increases, loss cost trends and known changes in the type of risks underwritten. Expected loss ratios
are estimated for each key line of business within each operating unit. Expected loss cost inflation is particularly
important for the fong-tail lines, such as excess casualty, and claims with a high medical component, such as work-
ers’ compensation. Reported and paid loss emergence patterns are used to project current reported or paid loss
amounts to their ultimate settlement value. Loss development factors are based on the historical emergence pat-
terns of paid and incurred losscs, and are derived from the Company’s own experience and industry data. The
paid loss emergence pattern is also significant to excess and assumed workers’ compensation reserves because those
" reserves are discounted to their estimated present value based upon such estimated payout patterns. Management
believes the estimates and assumptions it makes in the reserving process provide the best estimate of the ultimate
cost of settling claims and related expenses with respect to insurcd events which have occurred; however, different

assurnptions and variables could lead to significantly different reserve estimates.

Loss frequency and severity are measures of loss activity that are considered in determining the key assumptions
described in our discussion of loss and loss expense reserves, including expected loss ratios, rate of loss cost inflation
and reported and paid loss emergence patterns. Loss frequency is a measure of the number of claims per unit of
insured exposure, and loss severity is a measure of the average size of claims. Factors affecting loss frequency include
the effectiveness of loss controls and safety programs and changes in economic activiry or weather patterns. Factors

affecting loss severity include changes in policy limits, retentions, rate of inflation and judicial interpretattons. .

Another factor affecting estimates of loss frequency and severity is the loss reporting lag, which is the period of
time bewween the occurrence of a loss and the date the loss is reported to the Company. The ]eﬁgth of the loss
reporting lag affects our ability to accurately predict loss frequency (loss frequencies are more p-rcdictable for lines
with short reporting lags) as well as the amount of reserves needed for incurred but not reported losses {less IBNR
is required for lines with short reporting lags). As a result, loss reserves for lines with short reporting lags are likely
to have less variation from initial loss estimates. For lings with short reporting lags; which include commercial auto-
mobile, primary workers’ compensation, commercial multi-peril business, other liability (claims-made) and property
business, the key assumption is the loss emergence pattern used to project ultimate loss estimates from known losses
paid or reported to date. For lines of business with long reporting lags, which include other liability (occurrence},

. products liability, excess workers’ compensation and liability reinsurance, the key assumption is the expected loss

ratio since there is little paid or incurred loss data to consider.




I
Hislon'caJJ]}; the Company has experienced less variation from its inital loss estimates for lines of businesses with short
reportingiags than for lines of business with long reporting lags. For example, as of December 31, 2007, initial loss esti-
mates for accident years 1998 through 2006 were increased by an average of 2% for lines with short reporung lags and
by an avefage of 16% for lines with long reporting lags. For the latest accident year ended December 31, 2007, iniual
loss cst:mfstes were $1.8 billion for lines with short reporting lags and $1.0 bxlhon for lines with long reporting lags.

The key ?ssumptions used in calculating the most recent estimate of the loss reserves are reviewed each quarter
and adjusted, to the extent necessary, to reflect historical changes, current trends and other factors observed. If the
actual le}lt:l of loss frequency and severity are higher or lower than expected, the ultimate losses will be different than
management’s estimate. The following table reflects the impact of changes {(which could be favorable or unfavor-

able) in frequency and severity on our loss estimate for claims occurring in 2007 (dollars in thousands):
]
! - Frequency (+/-}

Severity (+/-) % 5% 0%
1% | 57,037 171,678 314,979
5% 171,678 290,859 439,835
10% I 314,979 © 439,835 595,906

[
Our net reserves for losses and loss expenses of $7.8 billion as of December 31, 2007 relate to multiple accident
years. Therefore, the impact of changes in frequency or severity for more than one accident year could be higher

or lower l‘nhun the amounts reflected above.

Approxithately $1.9 billion, or 24%, of the Company’s net loss reserves relate to assumed reinsurance business.
There is a higher degree of uncertainty and.greatcr variability regarding estimates of assumed loss reserves because
those cstimates arc based, in part, upon information received from ceding companies. I information received from
ceding companies is not timely or correct, thc.Company’s estimate of ultimate losses may not be accurate.
Furthermore, duce to delayed reporting of claim information by cedihg companies, the claim settlement tail for
assumed‘remsurancc 1s extended. ) \ianagcmcm considers the impact of delaved reporting in its selection of
assumcdlloss development factors.

| .
Information received from ceding companies is used to set initial expected loss ratios, to establish case reserves and to

estimate reserves for incurred but not reported losses on assumed reinsurance business. “This information, which is
gt:n(.ralM provided through reinsurance intermediarics, is gathered through the underwriting process and from peri-
odic claiin reports and other correspondence with ceding companies. The Company performs underwriting and claim
audits of] selected ceding companies to determine the accuracy and completencess of information provided to the
CompanJ'y. The information received from the ceding companies is supplemented by the Company’s own loss clcve]opl-

- ment experience with similar lines of business as well as industry loss trends and loss development benchmarks.
)




Following is a summary of the Conipany’s reserves for losses and loss expenses by business segment as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 (dolla’rs in thousands}:

2007 2006
Specialty $ 2,853,479 $2.498,030
Regional ' . . 1,218,703 1,071,607
Alternagve Markets 1,558,643 1,372,517
Reinsurance 1,884,051 1,764,767
International y - 308,021 240,676
Net resefves for losses and loss expenses A _ 7,822,897 6,947 597
Ceded reserves for losses and loss expenses 855,137 '836,’672
Gross reserves for losses and loss expenses - $ 8,678,034 % 7,784,269

Following is a summary of the Company’s net reserves for losses and loss expenses by major line of business as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 {dollars in thousands):

Reported Case Incurred But Not -
Reserves Reported Total
December 31, 2007
General liability : $ 756,121 $ 2,095,913 $2,852,034
Workers’ compensation 915,588 929,875 1,845,463
Commercial automobile . 377,922 223,767 601,689
International 118,807 189,214 ) 308,021
Other 135,221 196,418 331,639
ol primary ) 2,303,659 3,635,187 5,938,846
Reinsurance 795,922 1,088,129 1,884,051
Toral ) $ 3,099,581 $4,723,316 $7,822,897
December 31, 2006 g
General liability - % 696,074 $ 1,824,395 $2,520,469
Workers' compensation 687,127 . 909,076 1,596,203
Commercial automabile 354,841 193,995 548,836
International ' 78,489 v 162,187 240,676
Other 98,368 178,278 276,646
Total primary 1,914,899 3,267,931 5,182,830
Reinsurance 080,272 1,084,495 1,764,767
. Towl $ 2,595,171 § 4,352,426 $6,947,597

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Compainy reported losses and loss expenses of $2.8 billion, of which
$106 million represented a decrease in estimates for claims occurring in prior years. The estimates for claims occur-
ring in prior years decreased by $150 million for primary business and increased by $44 million for assumed rein-
surance. On an accident year basis, the change in prior vear reserves is comprised of an increase in estimates for
claims occurring in accident years 2003 and prior of $179 million and a decrease in estimates for claims occurring
in accident years 2004 through 2006 of $285 million. The changes in prior year loss reserve estimates are gencrally
the result of bngoing analysis of recent loss development trends. Original estimates are _increased or decrcased as

additional information becomes known regarding individual claims and aggregate claim trends.




Case rescI\-'cs for primary business increased 20% to $2.3 billion as a result of a 3% increase in the number of out
]

standing ¢laims and a 21% increase in the average case reserve per claim. Reserves for incurred but not reported

losses for :pn'mary business increased 11% to $3.6 billion at December 31, 2007 from $3.3 bilhon at December 31,
- 2006. Byfsegmem, prior vear reserves decreased bx $97 million for Specialty, $24 nullion for Alternatuve Markets,
$22 millién for Regional and $7 million for Internanional. By line of business, prior year reserves decreased by §114
million for general liability, $14 million for workers’ compensation, 312 million for property and $10 million for
commercial automobile, The decrease in prior year reserves for general habihity reflects the favorable loss reserve

trends fo¥ excess and surplus lines for accident years 2004 through 2006. -

\ )
Case rcsnfwcs for reinsurance business increased 17% to $796 million at December 31, 2007 from $680 million at

December 31, 2006. Reserves for incurred but not reported losses for reinsurance business were $1,088 million at
Decembdr 31, 2007 compared with $1,084 million at December 31, 2006. Prior year reserves increased $44 million
as losses reported by ceding companies for those years were higher than expected. The Company sets its initial loss
cstimatei based principally upon informatton obtained during the underwriting process and adjusts these estimates

as losses are reported by ceding companies and additional information becomes available.

-

Loss Rese!rrve Discount.  The Company discounts its liabilities for excess and assumed workers’ compensation busi-
ness bechuse of the long period of time over which losses are paid. Discounting is intended to appropriately match
losses an!d loss expenses to income earned on investment securities suppor-ting the liabilities. The expected losses
and loss ;ﬁxpense payout pattern subject to discounting was derived from the Company’s loss payout expericnce. For
nop-pmportional husiness, reserves for losses and loss expenses have been discounted using risk-free discount rates
determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve. These discount rates range from 3.7% to 6.5% with a
weightet:i average discount rate of 4.9%. For proportional business, reserves for losses and loss expenses have been
discount'k:d at the statutory rate permitted by the Department of Insurance of the State of Delaware of 2.6%. The
aggregate net discount, after reflecting the effects of ceded reinsurance, is $787,968,000, $699,883,000 and
$575,48p,000 at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. The increase in the aggregate discount from
2006 102007 and from 2005 to 2006 resuited from the increase in excess and assumed workers’ compensation
Zross re4crves. ' ]
Assumed Reinsurance Premiums.  The Company estimates the amount of assumed reinsurance premiums that it

will rec¢ive under treaty reinsurance agreements at the inception of the comtracts. These premium estimates are

revised fis the actual amount of assumed premiums is reported to the Company by the ceding companies. As esti-
mates of assumed premiums are made or revised, the related amount of earned premium, commissions and |
incurred losses associated with those premiums are recorded. Estimated assumed premiums receivable were )

- approximately $69 million and $139 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The assumed premium |
estimatés are based upon terms set forth in the reinsurance agreement, information received froni ceding compa- |
nies duting the underwriting and negotiation of the agrecment, reports received from ceding companies and dis-
cussionf and correspondence with reinsurance intermediaries. The Company also considers its own view of market |
conditions, economic trends and experience with similar lines of business. These premium estimates represent |

manag(.lmcm’s best estimate of the ultimate premiums to be received under its assumed reinsurance agreements.

|
H ‘ . ) -
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Other-Than-Temporary Declines in the Value of Investments.  The cost of securities is adjusted where appropriate to
include a provision for decline in value which is considered to be other than temporary. An other than temporary
decline is considered to occur in investments where there has been a sustained reduction in market value and where
the Company does not expect the fair value to recover prior to the time of sale or maturity. Management regularly
reviews securities that have a fair value less than cost to determine whether an other than temporary impairment
has occurred. In"determining whether a decline in fair value is other than temporary, management assesses whether
the fair value is expected to recover and whether the Company has the intent to hold the investment until it recovers.
The Company’s assessment of its intent to hold an investment until it recovers is based on conditions at the time
the assessment is made, including general market conditions, the Company’s overall investment strategy and
management’s view of the underlying value of an investment relative to its current price. If a decline in valuc is
considered other than temporary, the Company reduces the carrying value of the security and reports a realized

loss on its statement of income.

Business Segment Results -

- Following is a summary of gross and net premiums written, premiums earned, loss ratios (losses and loss expenses
incurred expressed as a percentage of premiums earned), expense ratios (underwriting expenses expressed as

_ a percentage of premiums earned) and combined ratios (sum of loss ratio and expense ratio) for each of our

business segments for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, The combined ratio Tepresents a measure of

underwriting profitability, excluding investment income. A combined ratio in excess of 100 indicates an underwriting *

loss; a number below 100 indicates an underwriting ﬁroﬁt {dollars in thousands).

2007 " 2006
Specialty
Gross premiums written $1,816,727 ~ %1,918,521
Net premiums written 1,704,880 1,814,479
Premiums carned 1,772,547 1,752,507
Loss ratio 537.3% '59.1%
Expensc ratio 26.7% 25.0%
Combined rato 84.0% 84.1%
Regional
Gross premiums written $1,441,077 $1,4£5,311
Net premiums written 1,267,451 1,235,302
Premiums earned 1,250,914 },205,912
Loss ratio 59.1% 59.7%
Expense ratio 31.4% 30.6%
Combined ratio 90.5% 90.3%
Alternative Markets
Gross premiums written $ 758,285 $ 747,680
Net premiums written 656,369 651,255
Premiums earned 651,909 658,805
Loss ratio 59.2% 53.5%
Expense ratio 23.1% 22.1%
Combined ratio 82.3% 75.6%




(Doltars in thousands) 2007 2006
Reinsurance

. Gross premiums written $ 732,233 $940,797
Net premiums written 682,241 892,769
Premiums|earned 740,439 859,411
Loss ratio | 65.3% 72.0%
Expense ratio 31.3% 27.8%
Combined ratio 96.6% 99.8%
ht&nat{onﬂ )
Gross prefiums written $ 304,908 $ 254,605
Net premjums written 265,048 225,188
Premiumg carned 247,892 215,987
Loss ratio' 62.6% - 64.2%
Expense fiatio 32.4% 32.0%
Combined ratio 95.0% 96.2% -
Consoli_tligted
Gross preiniums written $5,053,230 $5,276,914
Net premiiums written 4,575,989 4,818,993
Premiums earned 4,663,701 4,692,622
Loss ratig 59.6% 61.0%
Expense raﬁo 28.5% 27.0%
Combined ratio 88.1% -88.0%

Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

The following table presents the Company’s net income and net income per share for the years ended December 31,

2007 alend 2006 (amounts in thousands, except per share data):

l 2007 - 2006
Net incokne $ 743,646 $ 699,518
\\’c:ght(.f] average diluted shares 196,698 201,961
Net incgme per diluted share $ 3.78 3 3.46

The mircase in net income in 2007 compka"red with 2006 reflects higher investment income as a result of operating

cash flow. Underwriting profits were essenually unchanged as favorable prior year loss reserve development was off-

set by a hlgher expected loss ratio for accident vear 2007 and by higher underwriting expenses.”

I
Gross P{em!ums Written.

Gross premiums written were $5.1 billion in 2007, down 4% from 2006. The Company

has experienced increased competiden and downward pressure on pricing since 2004. This trend continued in

2007, with price levels for renewal business declining approximately 5% as compared with the prior year period.

|
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A summary of gross premiums written in 2007 compared with 2006 by business segment follows:

» Specialty gross premiums decreased by 5% to 31,817 million in 2007 from $1,919 million in 2006. The number
of new and renewal policies issued in 2007, net of policy cancellations, increased 3%. Average prices for renewal
policies, adjusted for changes in exposure, decreased 6%. Gross premiums written decreased 15% for premises
operations and 13% for products liability. Gross premiums written increased 11% for property lines and 5% for
professional hability. Commercial automobile gross prem'iums written were essentially unchanged.

* Regional gross premiums increased by 2% to $1,441 million in 2007 from $1,415 million in 2006. The number
of new and renewal policies issued in 2007, net of policy cancellations, increased 1%. Average prices for renewal
policies, adjusted for changes in exposure, decreased 4%. Gross premiums written increased 4% for commercial

~ automobile and 1% for workers’ compensation. Commercial multiple peril was virtually unchanged. Gross premi-
ums include assigned risk premiums, which are fully reinsured, of $88 million in 2007 and $102 million in 2006.

* Alternative Markets gross premiums increased by 1% to $758 million in 2007 from 3748 million in 2006. The
number of new and renewal policies issied, excluding personal accident business which is a new line of business,
increased 3% in 2007 (net of policy cancellations). Average prices for renewal policies, adjusted for changes
in exposure, decreased 6%. Gross-premiums written decreased 3% for primary workers’” compensation and
increased 3% for excess workers’ compensation. Gross premiums include assigned risk premiums, which are fully
reinsured, of 361 million in 2007 and $67 million in 2006,

* Reinsurance gross premiums decreasedby 22% to §732 million in 2007 from $941 million in 2006. Average
prices for renewal business decreased 5%. ‘Casualty gross premiums written decreased 29% to $558 million, and

_ property gross premiums written increased 10% to $174 million. The 2006 premiums included $131 million
related to two medical malpractice reinsurance agreements that expired in 2007 and were not renewed. While

" these agreements contained limits on the potential amount of losses to be paid by the Company, they also con-
tained limits on the potential profits that may be earned by the Company.

* Internauonal gross premiums inereased by 20% to $305 mullion in 2007 from $255 million in 2006. Gross
premiums in the UK. and Europe increased 19% as a result of expanded product offerings and from the impact

of foreign exchange rates. Grass premiums in Argentina increased 32% as a result of higher price levels.

Net Premiums Eamed.  Net premiums earned decreased 1% to $4,664 million from §4,693 million in 2006.
Insurance premiums are earned ratably over the policy term, and therefore premiums earned in 2007 are related to
business written during both 2007 and 2006. The 1% decrease for 2007 earned premiums reflects the underlying

decline in net premiums written in 2007,

~
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Net Investment Income.  Tollowing is a summary of net investment income for the years ended December 31,

2007 an(l 2006 {dollars in thousands): \
. Amount Average Annvalized Yield
| 2007 2006 2007 2006
Fixed matjirity securities, including cash ' $ 497,892 $440,987 4.8% 4.7%
Arbitrage trading account 80,253 74,551 9.8% 10.4%
Panncrshi[:s and affiliates. 38,274 37,145 8.1% 9.5%
Equity seclurities available for sale 57,502 . 35,662 © 7.0% 6.8%
Other | ‘ 10,191 5,068
Gross i:_t\'e‘slmf:m income 684,112 593,413 5.4% 5.4%
Invcstmen;t expenses and interest on funds held (11,452) (7,238)
T(:lalj $ 672,660 $586,175 5.4% 5.3%

[
Net invefltmcm income-increased 15% to 3673 million in 2007 from $586 million in 2006. Average invested assets

(includinp cash and cash equivalents} increased 14% to $12.6 billion in 2007 from §11.1 billion in 2006 as a result

of cash flow from operations.
r

Insurance Service Fees.  The Alternative Markets segment offers fee-based services to help clients develop and

administer self-insurance programs, primarily for workers’ compensation coverage. Service fees-were $98 million

in 2007, down from $105 million in 2006, primarily as a result of a decline in fees for managing state-sponsored
assigned|risk plans.

r
[Realized Investment Gains.  Realized investment gains result primarily from sales of securities, as well as from

provisim:ls for other than temporary impairment in securities. Realized investrnent gains were $15 million in 2007
comparéed with $10 million in 2006. Charges for tmpairment of investments were $2.7 million in 2007 and $0.1
million :L 2006. The Company buys and sells securities on a regular basis in order to maximize the total return on
investments. Decisions to sell securitics are based on management’s view of the underlying fundamentals of specific
secun'ticF as well as management’s expectations regarding interest rates, credit spreads, currency values and general

economic conditions.
| '

| . e
Revenues from Wholly-Gwned Investees.  Revenues from wholly-owned investees were $103 million in 2007. These
rcvcnuesi were derived from two fixed basc operators that the Company acquired in 2007. These companies provide
+ services to the general aviation market, including fuel and line service, aircraft sales and maintenance, avionics and

engineering services and parts fabrication.
|

Losses a'pd Loss Expenses.  Losses and loss expenses decreased 3% to $2,780 million in 2007 from $2,864 million
in 2006. The consolidated loss rano was 59.6% in 2007 compared with 61.0% in 2006, The 2007 loss ratio reflects
favorabl:c prior year loss reserve development of $106 million compared with $27 million of adverse development
in 2006.! The favorable loss reserve development was primarily refated to the Specialty segment. The Company also
experiericed favorable development for the Regional, Alternative Markets and International segments that was par-
tally of#;et by unfavorable reserve development for the Reinsurance segment, The expected loss ratio for premiums

earned in 2007 is higher than the expected loss ratio for the preceding year as a result of a decline in average prices.

'
a |



Weather-related losses were $34 million in 2007 Compal:cd with $39 million in 2006. A summary of loss ratios in

2007 compared with 2006 by business segment follows:

* Specialty’s loss ratio decreased to 57.3% in 2007 from 59.1% in 2006. The decrease reflects the impact of prior
year loss reserve changes {favorable loss reserve changes were $97 million in 2007 compared with $6 million in
2006), partially offset by a highér expected loss ratio for accident year 2007 due to a decline in price levels. The
favorable loss reserve development was primarily related to general liability business for accident years 2004
through 2006.

* The Regional loss ratio decreased to 59.1% in 2007 from 59.7% in 2006. The decrease reflects the impact of
priar year loss reserve changes {favorable loss reserve changes were $22 million in 2007 compared with unfavor-
able loss rescrve changes of $16 million in 2006), partially offsct by a higher expected loss ratio for accident year
2007 as a result of a decline in price levels. Weather-related losses were $34 million in 2007 compared with $39
million in 2006.

« Alternative Market’s loss ratio increased to 59.2% from 53.5%. The increase reflects the impact of prior year
reserve changes (favorable loss reserve changes were $24 million in 2007 compared to $48 million in 2006). In
2007, favorable loss reserve changes for primary workers’ compensation and medical excess business were offset
by unfavorable loss reserve development for excess workers’ compensation business. The expected loss ratio for
premiums earned in 2007 is higher than the expected loss ratio for the preceding year as a result of a decline in
average prices.

+ The Reinsurance loss ratio decreased to 65.3% in 2007 from 72.0% in 2006. The decrease reflects improved
underwriting results from treaty reinsurance business and the Company’s participation in business underwritten
at Lloyd’s. Prior year loss reserves increased by $44 milkion in 2007 compared with $69 million in 2006.

* The International loss ratio decreased to 62.6% in 2007 from 64.2% in 2006. The decrease reflects the impact of

prior year loss reserve changes {favorable loss reserve changes were 37 million in 2007 compared with $4 million
in 2006).

Other Operating Costs and Expenses.  TFollowing is a summary of other operating costs and expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (dollars in thousands):

2007 20086

Underwriting expenses $1,330,519 $1,267,217
Service expenscs 90,561 88,961
Other costs and expenses 109,907 92,988
Total - $1,530,987 $ 1,449,166

Underwriting expenses are comprised of commissions paid to agents and brokers, premium taxes and other assess-
ments and internal underwriting costs. Underwriting expenses increased 5% in 2007 primarily as a result of higher
compensation costs and agent commissions, including contingent commissions. The consolidated expense ratio
(underwriting expenses expressed as a percentage of premiums eam\ed) was 28.5% in 2007 compared with 27.0%
in 2006. -




Service expenses, which represent the costs associated with the Alternative Market segment’s fee-based business,

increased 2% to $91 million.

Other costs and expenses, which represent general and administrative expenses for the parent company, increased

18% to i?l 10 million primarily as a result of higher costs for incentive compensation programs.

Expenses; from Wholly-Owned Investees.  Expenses from.wholly-owned investees of $96 million in 2007 represent
costs asspeiated with revenues from wholly-owned investees described above, These include cost of goods sold
related tb aircraft and other sales, labor and equipment costs related to repairs and other services and general and

administl‘rativc expenses.

r .
Interest Expense.  Interest expense decreased 4% to $89 million as a result of the redemption of $210 million of

8.157% lj:unior subordinated debentures in December 2006, partially offset by the issuance of $250 million of

6.25% senior notes i February 2607.

Income Taxes.  The effective income tax rate was 29% in 2007 and 2006. The effective tax rate differs from the

federal income tax rate of 353% primarily because of tax-exempt investment income,
|

Busin!ess Segment Results

Following is a2 summary of gross and net premiums written, premiums earned, loss ratios (losses and loss expenses
incurre#i expressed as a percentage of premiums earned), expense ratios {underwriting expenses expressed as a
percentage of premiums earned) and combined ratios (sum of loss ratio and expense ratio) for each of our business
segments for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. The combined ratio represents a measure of under-
writing profitability, excluding investment income. A combined ratio in excess of 100 indicates an underwriting

loss; a umber below 100 indicates an underwriting profit (dollars in thousands).

) 2006 2005
Specialty
Gross premiums written $1,918,521 $1,932,821
Net prethiums written ' 1,814,479 : 1,827,865
Premiums earned : . 1,752,507 1,682,193
Loss ratio 59.1% 62.4%
Expens ' ratio ' 25.0% . BI%
Combined ratio 84.1% 87.5%
'Regionin.l' o .
Gross premiums written $1.415,311 $1,384,574
Net prefniums written 1,235,302 1,196,487
Premiuns earned ’ . 1,205,912 1,173,174
Loss ratjo ) 59.7% 55.8%
Expens¢ rado ; ) 30.6% 30.6%
Cmeich ratio _ 90.3% " 86.4%

!
|
|
|
|
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The increase in net income in 2006 compared with 2005 reflects higher investment income and higher profits from

underwriting activity. The increase in investment income was the result of an increase in average invested asscts as

well as an increase in the average yield on investments. The improvement in underwriting results was primarily

attributable to lower prior year loss reserve development and to lower weather-related losses.

A

(Dollars in thousands) 2006 2005
Alternative Markets
Gross premiums wrilten § 747,680 $ 781,411
Net premiums written 651,255 669,774
Premiums carned 658,805 663,478
Loss rado 53.5% 59.4%
_ Expense ratio 22.1% 20.1%
Combined ratio 75.6% 79.5%
Reinsurance |
Gross premiums written $ 940,797 $ 770,781
Net premiums written 892,769 719,540
~Premiums earned . 859,411 75-4,097
E Loss ratio 72.0% 74.1%
Expense ratio 27.8% 30.1%
Combined ratio 99.8% 104.2%
International
Gross premiums written $ 254,605 . $ 218,396
Net premiums written 225,188 190,908
Premiums earned 215,987 187,993
' Loss ratio - 64.2% 66.5%
Expense ratio 32.0% 29.6%
' Combined ratio 96.2% 96.1%
. Consolidated
) Gross premiums written §5,276.914 $ 5,087,983
Net premiums written 4,818,993 4,604,574
' Premiums earned 4,692,622 4,460,935
Loss ratio 61.0% 62.4%
I Expense ratio 27.0% 26.9%
' Combined ratio 88.0% 89.3%
| Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
) The following table presents the Company’s net income and net income per share for the years ended
' December 31, 2006 and 2005 {amounts in thousands, except per share data):
2006 2005
I Net income _ % 699,518 $§ 544,892
l Weighted average diluted shares 201,961 200,426
Net income per diluted share $ 346 $ 2.72
|
)
)
|
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Gross Premiums Written.  Gross premiums written were $5.3 billion in 2006, up 4% from 2005. While prices
increased significantly in 2002 and 2003, the Company experienced an increased level of price competition beginning
in 2004.!'This trend continued in 2005 and 2006 with price levels for renewal business declining approximately 2%

as complared with the prior year period.

Gross premiums include approximately $94 million of premiums written by new business units established in
December 2005. In 2005, the Company developed sufficient information to begin recognizing Unbilled audit
premiutns as such premiums are earned. The accrual for earned but unbilled audit premiums increased premiums
written and earned by $22 million in 2006 and $57 million in 2005. Gross premiums for the Regional and
Alternq’tive Markets segments include premiums written on behalf of assigned nisk plans managed by the

Compjny. The assigned risk business is fully reinsured by the respective state-sponsored assigned risk plans.

A sumrinzu‘y of gross premiums written in 2006 compared with 2005 by business segment follows:

+ Specialty gross premiums decreased by 1% to $1,919 million in 2006 from $1,933 million in 2005. The number
of ne¢w and renewal policies issued in 2006, net of policy cancellations, increased 1%. Average prices for renewal
po[icics, adjusted for changes in exposure, decreased 4%. Gross premiums written decreased 11% for professional
liability, 6% for products liability, 4% for premises operations and 1% for commercial automobile. Gross premiums
written increased 34% for property lines.

. Regi_‘onal gross premiums increased by 2% to 31,415 million in 2006 from $1,385 million in 2005. The number
of nkw and renewal policies issued in 2006, net of policy cancellations, decreased 1%. Average prices for renewal
policies, adjusted for changes in exposure, decreased 2%. Gross premiums written increased 4% for workers’
compensation, 2% for commercial automobile and 1% for commercial multiple peril. Gross premiums include
assig‘fned sk premiums of $102 million in 2006 and §114 million in 2005.

~

. Altcllrnative Markets gross premiums decreased by 4% to $748 million in 2006 from $781 million in 2005. The
number of new and renewal policies issued in 2006, net of policy cancellations, was essentially unchanged-
A\rc}age prices for renewal policies, adjusted for changes in exposure, decreased 5%. Gross premiums written
decteased 10% for primary workers’ compensation and increased 2% for excess workers’ compensation. The
decline in premiums for primary workers’ compensation was primarily due 16 rate decreases in California, Gross

premiums include assigned risk premiums of $67 million in 2006 and $76 million in 2005.

|

. Rcipsuraflce gross premiums increased by 22% to §941 million in 2006 from $771 million in 2003. Average
priges for renewal business increased 3%. Casualty gross premiums written increased 25% to $783 million, and
property gross premiums written increased 9% to $138 million. The 2006 premiums include $131 million related
to two new medical malpractice reinsurance agreements. While these agreements contain limits on the potential
am!t)unt of losscs to be paid by the Company, they also contain limits on the potential profits that may be earned
by the Company.

| ,

. lnt‘Fmational gross premiums increased by 17% to $255 million in 2006 from $218 million in 2005 due to

growth in Europe and Argentina,
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Net Premivms Earned.  Net premiums earned increased 5% to $4.7 billion from $4.5 billion in 2005. Insurance
premiums are earned ratably over the policy term, and therefore premiurms earned in 2006 are related to business
written during both 2006 and 2005. The 5% growth rate for 2006 carned premiums reflects the underlying growth

in net premiums written in those years, -

-

Net investment income.  lollowing is a summary of net investment income for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005 (dollars in thousands): ) '

Amount . Average Annualized Yield
. 2006 2005 2006 . 2005
Fixed maturity sccurities, including cash $ 440,987 $336,126 4.7% 4.2%
Arbitrage trading account 74,551 28,095 10.4% 6.2%
Partnerships and affiliates 37,145 18,545 9.5% 6.8%
Equity securites available for sale . 35,662 - 25,529 6.8% 6.3%
Other 5,068 1,620
Gross investment income 593,413 409,915 5.4% 4.4%
Investment expenses and interest on funds held (7,238) 5,953)
Total $586,175 $403,962 5.3% 4.4%

- . ’
Net investment income increased 45% to $586 million in 2006 from 8404 million in 2005. Average invested assets
(including cash and cash equivalents) increased 20% to $11.1 hillion in 2006 from $9.2 billion in 2005 as a'result of
cash flow from operations. The average annualized gross yield on investments increased to 5.3% in 2006 from

4.4% in 2005 due to higher short-tcrm interest rates and higher returns from the arbitrage trading account.

Insurance Service Fees.  The Alternative Markets segment offers fee-based services to help clients develop and
administer self-insurance programs, primarily for workerst compensation coverage. Service fees were $105 million
in 2006, down from $111 million in 2003, primarily as a result of a decline in fees for managing state-sponsored

assigned risk plans.

Realized investment Gains.  Recalized investment gains result primarily from sales of securides, as well as from
provisions for other than temporary impairment in securities. Realized investment gains were 310 million in 2006
compared with $17 million in 2005. Charges for impairment of investments were $0.1 million in 2006 and 31.6
million in 2005. The Company buys and sclls securities on a regular basis in order to maximize the total return on
investments. Decisions to sell securities are based on management’s view of the underlying fundamentals of specific
securities as well as management’s expectations regarding interest rates, credit spreads, currency values and general

economic conditions.

Losses and Loss Expenses.  Losses and loss expenses increased 3% to $2.9 billion in 2006 from"$2.8 biltion in
2005 primanly due to increased premium volume, The consolidated loss ratio was 61.0% in 2006 compared with
62.4% in 2005, The 2006 loss ratio reflects the impact of prior year loss reserve changes (unfavorable loss reserve
changes were 327 million in 2006 compared with $187 million in 2005) and lower storm ldsscs ($39 million in 2006




| .
compared with $99 million in 2003). These improvements were partially offset by a higher expected loss ratio for
accident|year 2006 as a result of a decline in price levels. A summary of loss ratios in 2006 compared with 2005 by

busincss|scgmem follows:

. Specurlty s loss ratio decreased to 59.1% in 2006 from 62.4% in 2005 principally due to the impact of prior year
loss reserve changes (favorable loss reserve changes were $6 million in 2006 compared with unfavorable loss
reserve changes of $91 millicn in 2005).

« The ngional loss ratio increased to 59.7% in 2006 from 55.8% in 2005. The 2006 loss ratio reflects a higher
expeqtcd loss ratio for accident year 2006 as a result of a decline in pnce levels. Weather-related losses were $39
million in 2006 comparcd with $35 million in 2005, -

* Alternative Market’s loss ratio decreased 10 53.5% from 59.4% primarily as a result of continued favorable
reserT'c development related to workers’ compensation business in California.

-~

* The Rcinsurancc loss ratio decreased to 72.0% in 2006 from 74.1% in 2005. The decrease reflects the impact of
lowet weather-related losses (with no weather-related losses in 2006 compared with $49 million in 2005) and
Iowq prior year loss reserve development. These were partially offset by relatively higher loss ratios for the new
medical malpractice reinsurance agreements referred to above,

| ) . :
» The International loss ratio decreased to 64.2% in 2006 from 66.5% in 2005 primanly as a result of favorable

reserve development related to professional indemnity business written in the United Kingdom.
| .

! . .
Other Operating Costs and Expenses.  Following is a summary of other operating costs and expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 (dollars in thousands):

l .

i . . 2006 2005
Undeni/riu'ng expenses - $1,267,217 $1,202,043
Service expenses - 88,961 91,134
Other gosts and expenses 92,988 65,397

Tota,'i ' $1,449,166 $1,358,574

Underwmmg expenses are comprised of commissions paid to agents and brokers, premium taxes and other assess-
ments, and internal underwriting costs. Undcrwntmg expenses increased 5% primarily as a result of higher premium
volume. The consolidated expense ratio (underwriting expenses expressed as a percentage of premiums earned) was
27. O°/f~ in 2006 compared with 26:9% in 2003.

I
Servige expcnses which represent the costs associated with the Alternative Market segment’s fee-based business,
dccrc!mcd 2% to $89 million primarily as a result of a decrease in costs associated with the servicing of assigned risk

plan tf»usmess.

Onher costs and expenses, which represent general and administrative expenses for the parent company, increased

42% 10 $93 million primarily as a result of higher costs for incentive compensation programs.

i
[
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Interest Expense.  Interest expense increased 8% to $93 million as a result of interest expense related to $200
million of 5.6% senior notes issued in May 2605 and $250 million of 6.75% junior subordinated debentures issued
in_July 2003. This was partially offset by a reduction in interest expense as a result of the repayment of $100 million
6.25% senior notes in January 2006 and the repayment of $210 million 8.197% junior subordinaies debentures in
December 2006. - ' ' '

income taxes. The effective income tax rate was 29% in 2006 and 2005. The effective tax rate differs from the

federal income tax rate of 35% primarily because of tax-exempt investment income.

INVESTMENTS

As part of its investment strategy, the Company establishes a level of cash and highly liquid short-term and inter-
mediate-term securities that, combined with expected cash flow, it believes adequate to meet payment obligations.
The Company also attempts to maintain an appropriate relationship between the average duration of the investment

portfolio and the approximate duration of its liabilities, i.e., policy claims and debt obligations.

The carrying value of the Company’s investment portfolic and investment-related assets as of December 31, 2007

and 2006 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

-

! 2007 2006
Fixed maturity securities § 9,799,044 $ 9,093,674
Equity securities available for sale ’ 767,809 866,422
Equity securities trading account 512,526 639,481
Partnerships and affiliates : ’ : 545,937 449854
Loans receivable : 268,206 64,933
Total investments ' - 11,893,522 11,114,364
Cash and cash equivalents ‘ ’ 951,863 754,247
Trading account receivables 409,926 312,220
Trading account securitics sold but not yet purchased (67.139) {170,075)
Unsetded sales - h 130 1,542
Toal . $13,188,302 £12,012,298

Fixed Maturities.  The Company’s investment policy with respect to fixed maturity securities is generally to purchase

instrumeénts with the expectation of holding them to their maturity. However, management of the available for sale

‘portfolio is considered necessary to maintain an approximate matching of assets and liabilities as well as to adjust

the portfolio as a result of changes in financial market conditions and tax considerations, At December 31, 2007 (as
compared to December 31, 2006), the fixed maturitics portfolio mix was as follows: US. Government securitics were
15% (15% in 2006); state and municipal securities were 54% (50% in 2006); corporate securities were 10% (9% in
2006); mortgage-backed securities were 18% (22% in 2006}, and foreign bonds were 3% (4% in 2006).




!
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The Company’s philosophy related to holding or selling fixed maturity securities is based on its objective of
maximizing total return. The key factors that management considers in its investment decisions as {o whether to
hold or 1

L . . . . R .
expectatjons regarding interest rates, credit spreads and currency values. In a period in which management expects

ell fixed maturity securities are its view of the underlying fundamentals of specific sccunides as well as its

interest rates to rise, the Company may sell longer duration securities in order to mitigate the impact of an interest
rate rise'on the market vatue of the portfolio. Similarly, in a period in which management expects credit spreads

to widen, the Company may sell lower quality securities, and in a period in which management expects certain
foreign éurrencies to decling in value, the Company may sell securities denominated in those foreign currencies.

The salg

realized 'gains; however, there is no reason 1o expect these gains to continue in future periods.
|

of fixed maturity sccurities in order to achieve the objective of maximizing total return may result in

] -

Equity Sécurities Available for Sale.  Equity securities available for sale primarily represent investments in common

and preferred stocks of publicly traded real estate investment trusts, banks, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and utilities.

Equity S.Lcﬁrities Trading Account.  'The trading account is comprised of direct investments in arbitrage securitics
and invéstments in arbit;agc-rclated limited partnerships that specialize’in merger arbitrage and convertible arbitrage
strategi . Merger arbitrage is the business of investing in the securities of publicly held companies that are the
targets in announced tender offers apé mergers. Convertible arbitrage is the business of investing in convertible

sccuritifis with the goal of capitalizing on price differentials between these securities and their underlying equities.
I

Partnerships and Affiliates. At December 31, 2007 (as compared to December 31, 2006), investments in partnerships '

and affiliates were as follows: equity in Kiln Ltd was $109 million (896 million in 2006); real estate funds were $294
million (3275 million in 2006); and other investments were $143 million (§79 million in 2006},

On I)c%cmbcr 14, 2007, Kiln Ltd announced that the hoards of Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd.
(“TMNF™) and Kiln Lid have reached agreement on the terms of a recommended cash acquisition of Kiln Lid by
TMNF lat an acquisition price of 150 pence per share. The carrying value of the Company’s investment in Kiln

Ltd was 3109 million at December 31, 2007. The total value of the Company’s investment in Kiln Ltd at the

acquisition price of 150 pence per share is approximately $174 mullion at exchange rates in effect on February 27, 2008.

Loans Réceivable.  Loans receivable represent commercial real estate mortgage loans and refated instruments with,

maturit‘es of five years or less and floating, LIBOR-based interest rates.

Securities in an Unrealized Loss Position.  The [ollowing table summarizes all securities in an unrealized loss position
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 by the length of time those sceurities have been continuously in an unrealized loss

position (dollars in thousands):



\
Number of Aggregate Gross
Securities Fair Value Unrealized Loss
December 31, 2007 .
Fixed mawrites: - )
0-6 months 44 $ 379,515 $ 5,254
7-12 months 43 486,233 6,999
Orver 12 months 156 1,300,468 17,450
Total 243 $ 2,166,216 $ 29,703
Equity securities available for sale: i
-6 months 55 $ 445,917 $ 86,992
7-12 months 42 61,263 10,780
Over 12 months 12 39,600 7,173
Total 109 § 546,780 $ 104,945
December 31, 2006 g
Fixed maturities: .
(06 months 100 $§ 802,595 $ 2309
7—12 months G2 645,331 4,445
Over 12 months 269 2,843,721 44,389
"Total 431 $ 4,291,647 $ 51,143
, Equity sccuritics available for sale:
(06 months 8 § 75,568 $ 320
7-12 months 9 60,853 250
Ower 12 months 16 105,085 1,583
Total 33 $ 241,506 § 2,153

At December 31, 2007, gross unrealized gains were $233 million, or 2% of total investments, and gross unrealized

losses were $139 million, or 1% of total investments. There were 154 securities that have been continuously in an

unrealized loss position for more than six months. Those securities had an aggregate fair value of §1 billion and an

aggregate unrealized loss of $50 million. The decline in market value for the fixed income securities was primarily

due to an increase in market interest rates since the securities were purchased. The decline in market value for the

equity securities was primarily due to wider spreads for preferred stocks issued by banks, real estate investment

trusts, Fannic Mae and Freddie Mac following the disruption in credit markets in late 2007.

Management regularly reviews securities that have a fair value less than cost to determine whether an other than

temporary'impairment has occurred. In determining whether a decline in fair value is other than temporary, man-

agement assesses whether the fair value is expected 10 recover and whether the Company has the intent to hold the

investment until it recovers. The Company’s assessment of its intent to hold an investment until it recovers is based

on conditions at the time the assessment is made, including general market conditions, the Company’s overall

investment strategy and management’s view of the underlying value of an investment relative 1o its current price.

If a decline in value is considered other than temporary, the Company reduces the carrying value of the security

and reports a realized loss on its statement of income.




The follclwing table shows the composition by Standard & Poor's {“5&P") and Moody’s ratings of the fixed matu-
rity securities in our portfolio with gross unrealized losses at December 31, 2007. Not all of the securities are rated
by S&P and/or Moody’s (dollars in thousands).

] Unrealized Loss . FairValue

S&P éming Moedy's Rating Amount Percent to Total Amount Percent to Total
AAAJAA/A Ana/AalA $26,.223 88.3% $ 1,958,045 90.3%

BPB Baa 2,022 6.8 168,590 78

BB Ba 1,221 4.1 35,779 1.7

B B ~ — - ~

CCC or lower Caa or lower 237 0.8 - 3,802 0.2

NYA N/A : — — — —
Total $29,703 100.0% $2,166,216 100.0%

| bl
The scheéduled maturity dates for fixed matunty securides in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2007 are

shown ir} the following table (dollars,in thousands):
!

Unrealized Loss . Fair Value

‘ Amaunt Percent to Total Amaount Percent to Total .
Due in orle year or less ™~ i $ 2,156 7.3% § 158,052 7.3% |
Due after'one year through five years 3,234 109 358,245 16.5
Due after five years through ten vears i 6,118 20.6 408,700 b 18.9
Due after|ten years 8913 ‘ 300 540,058 24.9
Mortgagg and asset-backed securities 9,282 31.2 701,161 32.4

"Total fixed income securitics $29,703 100.0% $2,166,216 100.0%

i : * -
Expectedl marturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or prepay
obligatigns with or without call or prepayment penaltics. Due to the periedic repayment of principal, the mortgage

and asset-backed secunities are estimated to have an effecave maturity of approximately 1.9 years.

-~

Market ngsk. The Company’s market risk generally represents the risk of gain or loss that may result from the
potential change in the fair value of the Company’s investment portfolio as a result of fluctuations in credit quality
and inteyest rates. The Company uses various models and stress test scenarios to monitor and manage interest rate
risk. In addition, the Company’s international businesses and securities are subject to currency exchange rate risk.
As discussed above, the Company attemnpts to manage its interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate relation-
ship l)ctiv;:cn the average duraton of the investment portolio and the approximate duration of its liabilites, i.c.,
policy clhirms and debt obligations. The average duration for the fixed income portfolio was 3.3 years at
December 31, 2007 and 2006.



U. S. Government securities 24 _ 1,473,766
State and municipal 48 5,244,288
Corporate . 3.0 1,009,932
Foreign . 09 327,800
Mortgage-backed securitics K / 19 1,755,373
Loans reccivable 1.5 268,206
Total 3.3 11,031,228

Duration is a common gauge of the price sensitivity of a fixed income portfolio to a change in interest rates. The
Company determines the estimated change in fair value of the fixed maturity securities, assuming immediate paral-

lel shifts in the treasury yield curve while keeping spreads between individual securities and treasury securities

‘static. The fair value at specified levels at December 31, 2007 would be as follows {dollars in thousands): ’ \

Estimated Fair Value of  Estimated Change in
Fixed Maturity Securities Fair Value

Change in interest rates _

300 basis point rise ) $10,018,252 $(1,012,976)
200 basis point rise : 10,355,911 (675,317)
100 basis point rise : 10,693,569 {337,659
Base scenario 11,031,228 —
100 basis point decline ’ 11,360,823 329,595
200 basis point decline 11,690,418. 659,190
300 basis point decline ' 12,020,014 988,786

Arbitrage investing differs from other types of investments in that its focus is on transactions and events believed
likely to bring about a change in value over a relatively short time period (usually four months or less). The Company
believes that this makes arbitrage investments less vulnerable to changes in general stock market conditions.
Potential changes in market conditions are also mitigated by the implementation of hedging strategies, including
short sales” Additonally, the arbitrage positions are generally hedged against market declines by purchasing put
options, sclling call options or entering into swap contracts. The Company’s merger arbitrage securities are prima-
rily exposed to the risk of completion of announced deals, which are subject to regulatory as well as transactional -

I
/
Al
The following table outlines the group; of fixed maturity securities and the components of the interest rate risk at -
, December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands): )
~ Effective
Dyration :

(Years) Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents 04 $ 951,863
| and other risks.




!
l -
l

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash F!aw Cash flow provided from operating activities was §1.5 billion in 2007, $1.6 billion in 2006 and §1.7
billton 111[2005 The levels of cash flow provided by operating activities over these vears, which are high by histori-
cal measnrres in relaton to both carned premiums and net income, are a result of growth in investment income and
rclativcly,llow paid losses. Cash flow provided by operating acuvitics in 2006 and 2005 is nct of cash transfers to the

arbitrage trading account of $225 million and $80 million, respcctively.

As a holding company, the Company derives cash from its subsidiaries in the form of dividends, tax payments and
managcniu:m fees. Maximum amounts of dividends that can be paid-without regulatory approval are prescribed by
statute. During 2008, the maximum amount of dividends which can be paid without regulatory approval is approx-
imately '653 million. The abilityjof the holding company to service its debt obligatons is limited by the ability of
the insujmce subsidiarics to pay dividends. In the event dividends, tax payments and management fees availabic to
the holdihg company were inadequate (0 sc;rvicc its debt obligations, the Company would need (0 raise capital, scll

assets or restructure its debt obligations, -!

The Corhpany’s insurance subsidiaries’ principal sources of cash are premiums, investment income, service fees
and prodeeds from sales and maturities of portfolio investments. The principal uses of cash are payments for
claims, thxes, operating expenses and dividends. The Company expects its insurance subsidiarics to fund the
payment 'of losses with cash received from premiums, investment income and fees. The Company targets an average
duration|for its investment portfolio that is within one year of the average duration of its liabilitics so that portions
of its investment portfolio mature throughout the claim cycle and are aviilable for the payment of claims if neces-
sary. In jlc event operating cash flow and proceeds from maturities and prepayments of fixed income securitics are
not suffictent to fund claim payments and other cash requirements, the remainder of the Company’s cash and
investments is available to pay claims and other obligations as they become due. The Company’s investment portfolio
is highly iliquid, with approximatcly 82% invested in cash, cash equivalents and marketable fixed income securitics
as of Depember 31, 2007. If the sale of fixed income securities were to become necessary, a realized gain‘or loss

equal to the difference between the cost and sales price of securities sold would be recognized.
|

Fmancing Activity

In Febru.iry 2007, the Company issued $250 million of 6.25% senior notes due on February 15, 2037. During
2007, th( Company repurchased 16,130,773 shares (including 963,773 sharcs purchased in connection with
the Conipany’s stock option program) of its commeon stock for $489 million.

During 2006, the Company repaid $100 million of 6.25% senior notes at their maturity in January 2006, The
Company also repaid 32]0 million of junior subordinated debentures on December 15, 2006 contemporaneously
with the redemption of $210 million of 8.197% trust preferred securities by the W. R, Berkley Capital Trust.

This amrunt included preferred securities already repurchased by the Company.

|
|
|




At December 31, 2007, the Company had senior notes, junior subordinated debentures and other debt outstanding
with a carrying value of $1,371 million and a face amount of $1,388 million. The maturities of the outstanding
debt are 890 million in 2008, $1 million in 2009, $150 million in 2010, 32 million in 2012, $200 million in 2013,
$200 million in 2015, $150 million in 2019, $76 million in 2022, $12 million in 2023, $7 million in 2035 (pre-
payable-in 2010), $250 million in 2037 and $250 million 1n 2045 (prepayable in 2010).

At December 31, 2007, stockholders’ equity was $3.6 billion and total capitalization (stockholders’ equity, sentor
notes, junior subordinated debentures and other debt) was §4.9 billion. The percentage of the Company’s capital
attributable 10 sentor notes and other debt and junior subordinated debentures was 28% at December 31, 2007,
compared with 25% at December 31, 2006.

Federal and Foreign Income Taxes

The Company files a consolidated income tax return in the U.S. and foreign ax rCtl;rnS in each of the countries in
which it has overseas operations. At December 31, 2007, the. Company had a deferred tax asset, net of valuation.
allowance, of $429 million (which primarily relates to loss and loss expense reserves and unearned premium
reserves) and a deferred tax liability of $243 million {(which primanily relates to deferred policy acquisition costs,
unrealized investment gains and intangible assets). The realization of the deferred tax asset is dependent upon the
Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods. Based on historical results and the
prospects for future operations, management anticipates that it is more likely than not that future taxable income

will be sufficient for the realization of this asset.

Reinsurance

The Company follows customary industry practice of reinsuring a portion of its exposures, paying reinsurers a part
of the premiums received on the policies it writes. Reinsurance is purchased by the Company principally to reduce

its net liability on individual risks and to protect it against catastrophic losses. Although reinsurance does not legally
discharge an insurer from its primary liability for the full amount of the policies, it does make the assuming reinsurer
liable to the insurer to the extent of the reinsurance coverage. The Company monitors the financial condition of its

reinsurers and attempts o place its coverages only with substantial and financially sound carriers.

For 2008, the Company’s property catastrophe reinsurance provides protection for 100% of the n(;t loss between
$10 million and 395 million, and its casualty contingency agreement provides protection for 100% of the net loss
between $2 million and $25 million, The catastrophe and casualty contingency reinsurance agreements are subject
to certain limits, exclusions and reinstatement prermums. For business writien through Lloyd’s, the Company has

separate catastrophe excess of loss and quota share agreements secured through its Lloyd’s general agents.




Contractual Obligations

Following is a summary of the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):

Estimateci Payments By Periods 2008 2009 2070 20m 2012 Thereafter
Gross rm!:rvcs for losses $ 2,159,759  $ 1,573,488 § 1,229,275 § 919,655 8 678,212 $ 2,984,533
Operating lease obligations 20,889 18,570 16,994 13,060 9,176 26,425
Purchaselobligations 30,390 29,507 715 385 — -
Junior subordinated debentures — — — — — 257,217
Senior nj)tcs . 89,834 1,358 150,000 —_ 2,068 888,25b
Other loiig-term liabilides 38,714 18,481 14,438 5,881 1,017 42,559

Total | $ 2,339,586 % 1,641,404 B 1,411,422 $ 938,981 % 690,473 $ 4,198,984

The estimated payments for reserves for losses and loss expenses in the above table represent the projected (undis-
counted) payments for gross loss and loss expense reserves related to losses incurred as of December 31, 2007. The

amounts include reserves for reported losses and reserves for incurred but not reported losses. Estimated amounts

estimatid payments in the above table do not consider payments for losses to be incurred in futures periods. These
recoverable from reinsurers are not reflecied. The estimated payments by year are based on historical loss payment
palternT The actual payments may differ from the estimated amounts due to changes in ultimate loss resérves and
in the timing of the settlement of those reserves.

i .
b

The C;)rnpany utilizes letters of credit to back certain reinsurance payments and obligations. Qutstanding letters of

credit ere $66 million as of December 31, 2007. The Company has made certain guarantees to state regulators

that the{statutory capital of certain subsidiaries will be maintained above certain minimum levels. In addition, the

Company has commitments to invest up to $252 million: in certain investment funds.
|

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

”»

An oﬂ'-l_galance sheet arrangement is any 1ransaction,_agr-ecmem or other contractual arrangement involving an -
unconsclidated entity under which a company has (1} made guarantees, {2) a retained or contingent interest in
transferred assets, (3) an obligation under derivative instruments classified as equity or (4) any obligation arising out
of a ma;tcrial variable interest in an unconsolidated entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit
risk sup'f;ort to the Company, or that engages in leasing, hedging or research and development arrangenients with
the Company. The Company has no arrangements of these types that management believes may have a material

current or future effect on our financial conditon, liquidity or results of operations.




Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions.of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary 1o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accor-
dance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and {3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets

that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changés in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting.based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of Treadway Commuission. Based on our evaluaton under the framework in Internal
Control — fntegratccl Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2007.




Re;g)oft of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
W R. derklcy Corporaton:

We havie audited W. R. Berkley Corporation and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the
Commiltee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Gommission (COSO). W. R. Berkley Corporation and
subsididrics management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Managément’s Report on Internal Contrel Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whethef effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk.that a material
weakngess exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

asscsse(ii risk. Qur audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances! We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with gci;lcmliy accepted accounting principles, A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
p_olicieﬁ and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; {2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-
tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding preven-
tion or|timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usc, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a

material effect on the financial statements.
|

~

Becauge of its inherent limitations, internal control over {inancial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatenients. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the

policic:'s or procedures may deteriorate.
4

In ourjopinion, W. R. Berkley Corporation and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
l over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework issued by the Commitee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, .

contro

We alsL have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(Uniteg States), the consolidated balance sheets of W. R. Berkley Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive
incom(':, and cash-flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, and our report
dated February 29, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP

|
New York, New York
February 29, 2008

| ~




The Board of Directors and Stockholders
W. R. Berkley Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of W. R. Berkley Corporaton and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, compre-
hensive income, and cash ftows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s managerent. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

-We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
cvidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall finan-
cial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial staternents referred 10 above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, in con-
formity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
based on the criteria established in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Commiuee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the 'l"readway Commission, and our report dated February 29, 2008 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting,

KPMG LLP

New York, New York , -
February 29, 2008
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Consolidated Statements of Income

. {Dollar$ in thousands, except per share data)
i

|
| t
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Years End?d December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Revenues:
Net pch_'niums written $ 4,575,989 $ 4,818,993 $4,604,574
Change'in net unearned premiums 87,712 {126,371) (143,639
WNet premiums carned 4,663,701 4,692,622 4,460,935
Net invéstment income 672,660 586,175 403,962
lnsuranlc service fees 97,689 104,812 110,697
Reulizei investment gains 14,938 9,648 17,209
Revenugs [hom wholly-owned investees © 102,846 — —
Other ifcome 1,805 1,574 4,036
Tota] revenues - *\ $5,553,639 $35,394,831 $4,996,839
Opcmling!COsts and expenses:
Losses 4nd loss expenses 2,779,578 2,864,498 2,781,802
Other j;;lcmting costs and expenses 1,530,987 1,449,166 1,358,574
Expenses from wholly-owned investees 96,444 — —
Interest expense 88,996 92,522 85,926
Total expenses $ 4,496,005 $ 4,406,186 $4,226,302
Income before income taxes and minority tnterest 1,057,634 988,645 * 770,537
Income tax expense {310,905) {286,398) {222,521)
Minority interest (3,083) {2,729) (3,124}
Net jncome $ 743,646 S 699,518 8§ 544,892
- Earnings fu:r share:
Basic ' $ 3.94 3 3.65 8 2.86
Diluted $ 3.78 8 3.46 8 2.72

See m:::urnfpanying notes lo consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

{Dollars in thousands)

\

Al

Years Ended December 31,

2007

2006

ASSETS
Investments:
Fixed maturity securities

$ 9,799,044

$ 9,093,674

Equity securities available for sale 767,809 866,422
Equity securities trading account ! 512,526 639,481
Partnerships and afliliates 545,937 449 854
Loans reccivable . 268,206 64,933
Total Investments 11,893,522 11,114,364
Cash and cash equivalents . . 951,863 754,247
Premiums and fees recetvable N 1,199,002 1,245,661
Due from reinsurers 904,509 928,258
Accrued investment income 134,872 118,045
Prepaid reinsurance premiums N 179,495 169,965
Deferred policy acquisition costs 455,244 489,243
Real estate, furniture and equipment - 204,252 183,249
Deferred Federal and foreign income taxes 186,669 142,634
Goodwill . - 102,462 67,962
Trading account receivable from brokers and clearing organizations 409,926 312,220
Other assets 210,354 130,641
Total Asscts $16,832,170 $ 15,656,489

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Liabilities: ’
Reserves for losses and loss expenses

$ 8,678,034

§ 7,784,269

Uncarned premiums 2,240,690 2,314,282
Due to reinsurers . - 108,178 149,427
Trading account securities sokd but not yet purchased 67,139 170,075
Policyholders’ account balances — 106,926
Other liabilities 761,690 654,596
Junior subordinated debentures 249,375 241,953
Senior notes and other debt 1,121,793 869,187
"Total Liabilities $ 13,226,899 12,290,715
Minority intercst 35,496 30,615
Stockholders’ equity: -
Preierred stock, par value $.10 per share:
Authonized 5,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding — none —_ —
Common stock, par value $.20 per share:
_ Authorized 500,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding, net of
treasury shares, 180,320,775 and 192,771,889 shares . 47,024 47,024 -
Additional paid-in capital 907,016 859,787
Retained carnings 3,248,762 2,542,744
Accumulated other comprehensive income 53,201 111,613
Treasury stock, at cost, 54,797,143 and 42,346,029 shares (686,228) (226,009)
Total Stockholders’ Equity 3,569,775 3,335,159
Total Liabilides and Stockholders’ Equity $16,832,170 $ 15,656,489

. See accumpanying noles to consolidated financial stutements.




Cor}sohdated Statements of Stockholders Equity

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
COMMON STOCK: '
Beginning of period $ 47,024 § 47,024 § 47,024
Stock ifsued ) — — —
End of| period - 0§ 470m $ 47024 S 47,07
ADDI'I‘l(b.\‘AL PAID IN CAPITAL: ’
Beginning of peried $ 859,787 $ 821,050 § 805,240
Stock thicms exercised, including tax benefits 26,510 20,965 7,038
Restricted stock units expensed 19,541 15,323 8,413
Stock ;Hltit)ns expensed . 794 1,755 134
Stock issued to directors 384 694 225
End of period $ 907,016 $ 859,787 § 821,050
RETAINED FARNINGS:
Begimiling of pericd $ 2,542,744 $ 1,873,953 $1,354,489
Netingome = 743,646 699,518 544,892
Dividepids ° (37,628) (30,727) (25,428)
End of period P $ 3,248,762 §2,542,744 $1,873,953
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Unrealized investment gains: ‘
Bcgfnning of peried $ 121,961 $ 40,746 $ 109,699
Net, change in period _ - {69,464) 81,215 {68,953)
End of period ) 52,497 121,961 40,746
Curreney translation adjusunents:
Beginning of period 3,748 (15,843) 2,356
Neg change in period 14,312 19,591 (18,199}
End of period _ 18,060 3,748 (15,843)
Net pénsion asset: .
Beginning of period (14,096) -
Net change in period (3,260) — -
Adpystion of FAS 158, net of taxes — (14,096) —
End of perod {17,356) (14,096) —
Total kerumulated other comprehensive income $ 53,201 $ 111,613 § 24,903
TREASURY STOCK:
Beginhing of period $ (226,009) § (199,853) $ (209,106)
S1ock pptions exercised 28,455 18,816 9,343
Stocklissued to dircctors 117 89 80
Stack repurchased (488,791) (45,061) {170
End df period $ (686,228) 8 (226,009) § (199,853)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehenswe Income

(Dolldrs in thousands)

Years eriided December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Net incdme $ 743,646 § 699,518 S 544,892
Unrc!ilized holding gains {losses) on investment securities arising during the i

period, net of income taxes (59,823) 88,329 (57,950}
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains included |

in piet income, net of income 1axes (9,641} (7,114} ~ (11,003)
Charjge in unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) 14,312 19,591 (18,199)
Change in unrecognized pension obligation, net of income taxes (3,260) (14,096) —
Other comprehensive income {loss) (58,41 86,710 {87,152)
Comprehensive income - $ 685,234 S 786,228 - S 457,740

'
See accdmpanying notes to consolidated linancial statements,

l
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Consolidated Statements of Cash F lows

(Dollars in thousands)

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2005 2005
CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 743,646 $ 699,518 $ 544,892
Adjustments 1o reconcile net income to net cash flows (rom operating activities:
Realized investment gains . (14,938) {9,648) {17,209)
Depreciation and amortization 73,697 65,674 63,052
Minority interest 3,083 2,729 3,124
Equity in undistributed earnings of partnerships and affiliates (25,202) {26,986) (13,288)
Stock incentive plans 21,105 17,888 8,852
Change in: Securities trading account - 130,300 (48,235) (307,390
Premiums and fees receivable : 50,925 (133,504) {77,261)
Trading account recéivable from brokers and clearing organizations {97,706} (213,991) 88,250
Trading account secunties sold but not yet purchased (102,936} (28,3.5 1) 127,759
Duc from reinsurers 45,995 27,839 “(104,336)
Accruud investment income (18,066} (15,383} (32,549
Prepaid reinsurance premiums {10,242) 9,671 11,847
Deferred policy acquisition cost 7,834 (25,848) (17,444)
Delerred income taxes (17,225} (35,554) 220
Other assets (53,208) 4,661 {18,116)
Reserves for losses and loss-expenses 798,725 1,051,816 1,274,495
Unearned premiums (75,044) 117,176 131,031
Due 1o reinsurers (42,212) 60,450 (31,873)
Policyholders® account balances ) (341) (1,021) (893)
Other liabilites 61,627 45,113 101,196
Net cash from operating activities 1,479,767 1,564,014 1,734,359
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES: l
Proceeds from sales, excluding trading account:
Fixed maturit) SECUritics 2,065,004 922,442 1,155,244
Equity securities 180,867 ‘ 200,950 196,201
Distributions from p'\mmmhlps and affiliaes 97,510 52,181 15,307
Proceeds from maturities and prepayments of fixed maturity securities 984,504 1,322,277 1,303,342
Cost of purchases, excluding trading account:
Fixed maturity sceuritics and loans receivable (3,920,101} {2,927,839) (4,667,308)
Equity securities (551,253) (543,04 1) {241,881)
Imvestments in partnerships and affiliates (127,134) (143,772) (88,436)
Net additions to real estate, furniture and equipment (31,108) (42,593) (32,564)
Change in balances due to/from security brokers 1,412 - —
Payment for business purchased, net of cash acquired (50,162) — —
Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash divested 2,939 — —
Other, net —_ (6,025) (3,119)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,047,522) (1,165,420) (2,365,214)
CASH FLOWS (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from isstiance of jumor subordinated debentures — — 241,635
Net proceeds frem issnance of senior notes 246,644 — 198,142
Receipts credited to policyholders’ account balances 3,489 17,613 15,671
Return of policyholders’ account balances (58) (865} (499)
Bank deposits received 7,572 16,211 9,577
Advances from federal home loan bank (655) (7,375) 6,875
Net proceeds from stock options exercised 25,676 19,405 11,250
Purchase of junior subordinated debentures — (210,000) —
Repayment of senior noites {(2,019) (100,000) (40,000)
Cash dividends 0 eommon stockholders (36,284) (29,4309 (19,055}
Purchase of comman treasury shares (488,794) (45,062) {636)
Proceeds from {purchase of) miriority sharcholders (19) 2,762 {33,117)
Other, net 290 — —
Net cash {used in) from {inancing activities (244,158) (342,741) 389,863
Net impact on cash due to change in foreign exchange rates 9,529 ' 25,453 (18,146)
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 197,616 81,306 (259,138)
Cash and cash equivalents a1 beginning of year 754,247 672,941 952,079
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 951,863 § 754,247 8 672941

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial stalements.
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i . . .
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For thT years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 .

1. Suﬁnmary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. PRIi\fCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The coTsoIidatcd financial statements, which include the accounts of W. R. Berkley Corporation and its subsidiaries
(the “C

ympany”), have been prepared on the basis of U. 8. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP™),

All signjficant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. Reclassifications have been made in
the 2006 and 2005 financial statements to conform them to the presentation of the 2007 financial statements, The
preparzition of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions thht affect the r'ep_ortcd amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of ‘the financial statemems and the revenues and expenses reflected during the reporting period. Actual resuits
could differ from those estimates.

B. REVENUE RECOGNITION .

Premiu:ms written are recorded at the inception of the policy. Reinsurance premiums written are estimated based
upon information.received from ceding companies and subsequent differences arising on such estimates are
record(%(l in the period they are determined. Insurance premiums are carned ratably over the policy term. Fees for

" service$ are earned over the period that strvices are provided.

Audit premiums are recognized when they are reliably determinable. Prior to 2005, audit premiums were not con-
sidered to be reliably determinable until such audits were completed and billed. In 2003, the Company developed
sufficient information to begin recognizing unbilled audit premiums as such premiums are earned. The accrual for '
earned but unbilled audit premiums increased net premiums written and premiums earned by $10 million in 2007,
$22 million in 2006 and $57 million in 2005.

| : -
For investment contracts, premiumns collected from policyholders are not reported as revenues but are included in
the liability for policyholders’ account balances. Policy charges for policy administration, cost of insurance and
surrcn‘Ecr charges are assessed against policyholders’ account balances and are recognized as premium income in

the petiod in which services are prov_idcd. -

Revenues from wholly-owned investees are derived from services provided to the general aviation market, including
| f . . - . - . . b . . .
fuel and line service, aircraft sales and maintenance, avionics and engineering services and parts fabrication. Revenue

is recognized upon delivery of aircraft, delivery of fuel, shipment of parts and or upon completion of services.

C. CA!SH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash équivalcnts consist of funds invested in money market accounts and investments with an effective maturity of

three months or less when-purchased.
|

D. INLVESTMENTS

Fixed maturity securities classified as available for sale are czgrﬁed at estimated fair value, with unrealized gains and
losses,w‘ net of applicable income taxes, excluded from earnings and reported as a component of comprehensive
income: and a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Fixed maturity securities that the Company has the posi-
tive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity and reported at amortized cost. Premiums
and discounts are amortized using the effcctive interest method. Premiums and dliscounts on mortgage-backed and

asset-hacked securities are adjusted for the effects of actual and anticipated prepayments on a retrospective basis.
i )




- . " . . - \
Equity securities classified as available for sale are carried at estimated fair value, with unrealized gains and losses,
net of applicable income taxes, excluded from earnings and reported as a component of comprehensive income

and a separate component of stockholders’ equity. !

Equity securities that the Company purchased with the intent to sell in the near-term are classified as trading account
securitics and are reported at estimated fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and losses from trading activity are
reported as net investment income. The rading account includes direct investrnents in arbitrage securities and investments
in arbitrage-related limited partnerships. Short sales and short call options are presented as trading securities sold but
not yet purchased. Unsettled trades and the net margin balances held by the cleanng broker are presented as trading
account receivable from brokers and clearing organizations.

i

Investments in partnerships and affiliates are carried under the “equity method of accounting”, whereby the
Company reports its share of the income or loss from such mvcslments as net investment income. The Company’s
share of the earnings of affiliates is generally reported on a one-quarter lag in order to facilitate the umely
completion of the Company’s financial statements. -

Loans receivable represent commercial real estate mortgage loans and related Instruments and are carned at
amortized cost,

Fair value is generally determined based on either quoted market prices or values obtained from independent pricing
services. Realized gains or losses represent the difference between the cost of securities sold and the proceeds realized
upon sale. The cost of securities is adjusted where appropriate to include a provision for decline in value which is
considered to be other than temporary. An other than temporary decline is considered to occur in investments
where there has been a sustained reduction in market value and where the Company does not expect the fair value
to recover prior to the time of sale or maturity. The Company uses the specific identification method where pdssible,
and the first-in, first-out method in other instances, to determine the cost of securities sold. Realized gains or losses,

including any provision for decline in value, are included in the statement of income.

E. PER SHARE DATA

The Company presents both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) amounts. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing net income by weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is
based upon the weighted average number of common and common cquivalent shares outstanding during the year
and is calculated using the weasury stock method for stock incentive plans. Common equivalent shares are excluded
from the computation in periods in which they have an anti-dilutive effect. Stock options for which the exercise
price exceeds the average market price over the period have an anti-dilutive effect on EPS and, accordingly, are

excluded from the calculation.

F. DEFERRED POLICY ACQUISITION COSTS

Acquisition costs (primarily commissions and premium taxes) incurred in writing insurance and reinsurance business
are deferred and amortized ratably over the terms of the related contracts. Deferred policy acquisition costs are
limited to the amounts ¢stimated to be recoverable from the applicable unearned premiums and the related anticipated
investment income after giving effect to anticipated losses, loss adjustment expenses and expenses necessary to
maintain the contracts in force.




G. RESERVES FOR LOSSES AND LOSS EXPENSES .
Reserves for losses and loss expenses are an accumulation of amounts determined on the basis of (1) evaluation of
claims f'q'r business written directly by the Company; (2) estimates received from other companies for reinsurance
assumed by the Company; and (3) estimates for losses incurred but not reported (based on Company and industry
experienke). These estimates are periodically reviewed and, as experience develops and new information becomes
known, the reserves are adjusted as necessary. Such adjustments are reflected in the statement of income in the
period il‘k which they are determined. The Company discounts its reserves for excess and assumed workers” com- '

pensation claims using a risk-free or statutory rate. (See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.)

_H. REINSURANCE CEDED

I - . . . ey . - .
The ungarned portion of premiums ceded to reinsurers is reported as prepaid reinsurance premiums. The esu-

mated amounts of reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses are reported as due from reinsurers. To the extent any
reinsurer does not meet its obligations under reinsurance agreements, the Company must discharge its liability,
Amounl{s due from reinsurers are reflected net of funds held where the right of offset is present. The Company has
provided reserves for estimated uncollectible reinsurance.

I. DEPOSIT ACCOUNTING

Comra(Jts that do not meet the risk transfer provisions of FAS 113, “Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of
Short Duration and Long Duration Contracts”, are accounted for using the deposit accounting method. Under this
method) an asset or liability is recognized at the inception of fhe contract based on consideration paid or reccived.
The amount of the deposit asset or liability is adjusted at subsequent reporting dates using the interest method with
a corresponding credit or charge to interest income or expense. Deposit liabilities for assumed reinsurance contracts
were 34;8 million and §45 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

J. FEDERAL AND FOREIGN INCOME TAXES

The Campany files a consolidated income tax return in the US. and foreign tax returns in each of the countries in
which it has its overseas operations. The Company’s method of accounting for income taxes Is the asset and liabil-
ity method. Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates
currently in effect or expected to apply in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse.
Interest and penaltes, if any, are reported as income tax expense.

K. FO! IGN CURRENCY

Gains |"d losses resulting from foreign currency transactions (transactions denominated in a currency other than
the entity’s functional currency) are included in the statcment of income. Unrealized gains or losses resulting from
translat!ing the results of non-U.S. dollar denominated operations are reported as accumulated other comprehensive
incomd. Revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars are wranslated at the weighted
average cxchange rate during the year. Assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the
balancf sheet date. N

L. REAL ESTATE, FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

Real esltate, furniture and equipménl are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated
using the estimated uscful lives of the respective assets. Depreciation expense was $32,766,000, $29,614,000 and -~
$26,34§,000 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.




* M. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME .
Comprehensive income ¢ncompasses all changes in stockholders’ equity (except those arising from trangactions with
stockholders) and includes net income, net unrealized holding gains or losses on available-for-sale securities, unrealized

foreign currency translation adjustments and changes in unrecognized pension obligations.

N..GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS -
Goodwill and other intangibles assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis. The Company’s impairment test as

of December 31, 2007 indicated that there were no impairment losses related to goodwill and other intangible assets.

O. STOCK OPTIONS
The Company adopted FAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” on January 1, 2006. Under FAS 123R, the costs
resulting from all share-based payment transactions with employees arc recognized in the financial statements using

a fair-value-based measurement method.
A

The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net income and earnings per share for the vear ended
December 31, 2005 as if’ FAS 123R had heen adopted on January 1, 2005 (dollars in thousands, except per share data),

Earmings per share
Year-ended December 31, 2005 ] Earnings ) Basic Diluted
Net income as reported ’ $544,892 $2.86 82.72
Add: Siock-based employce compensation expense '
inchuded in reported net income, net ol tax - 5,555

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense

“under fair value based methed for all awards, net of tax (7,462)
Pro forma net income : $542,985 $2.85 $2.71

The fair value of the options gramed in 2004 and prior vears were estimated on the grant dates using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. There were no options granted after 2004.

P. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Interest payments were 881,291,000, $93,580,000 and 378,363,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Income
taxes paid were $288,763,000, $295,823,000 and $201,703,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Other
-non-cash items include acquisitions and dispositions, unrealized investment gains and losses and pension expense.
(Sec Note 2, Note § and Note 21of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.) -
Q. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FAS 158, “Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirernent Plans,” which requires an employer to recognize the over-funded or |
under-funded status of defined benefit and other post-retirement plans as an asset or liability on its consolidated balance
shect. The Company adopted FAS 158 as of December 31, 2006. The adoption of FAS 138 resulted mi a decrease in
stockholders’ equity of §14 million as of that date and had no impact on the Company’s results of operations.

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation 48 (“FIN 48%), “Actlzouming for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” effective
January 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 had no an impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of
operations. The Company helieves there are no 1ax positions that would require disclosure under the FIN 48,

Y




R. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ) -
In Scptg:mbcr 2006, the FASB issued FAS 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” FAS 157, which is cffective for 2008,
defines ffair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value

measuerents. The Company does not expect the adoption of FAS 157 to have a material impact on the

Compary’s financial condidon or results of operations.

" In Febry ary 2007, the FASB issued FAS 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities.” FAS 159, which is effective for 2008, provides companies with an option to report selected financial
asscts ahd liabilities at fair value. The Company does not expect the adoption of FAS 159 to have a material
impact ::)n the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

In Dec*:mbcr 2007, the FASB issued FAS 141 {revised 2007), “Business Combinations™, and FAS 160,
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements”. These standards, which are effective for 2009,
will sin‘llplify, and converge internationally the accounting for business combinations and the reporting of
noncoritrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. The Company does not expect the adoption of
FAS H:l and 160 to have a material impact-on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

2. Acguisitibns and Dispositions

In 200‘;’, the Company acquired the following companies for a total cost of $§98 million, which was paid primarily

in cash!

. Atiar;tic Aero Holdings, Inc., a fixed base operator located in Greenshoro, North Carolina.

. V\’esL!r:rn Acquisition Cox“p., a fixed basé operator located in Boise, Idaho.

. lnve'tors Guaranty Life Insurance Company, an inactive, widely licensed life insurance company.

« CGH Insurance Group, Inc., the owner of Amencan Mining Insurance Company,

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

acquisition, The Company has not completed the purchase price allocation and the amounts presented below are
o .

subject to refinement (dollars in thousands).-

Investm!‘an; \ - $ 66,358
Cash aﬁd cash equivalents . 48,114
Receivables and other assets - — ' : J 27,018
Real estate, furniture and equipment - 23,387
Deferred policy acquisition costs 345
Deferrdd federal income taxes ' 677
Intangible assets 11,068
Goodwill ' 34,395
Other assats 20,918
Total assets acquired $232,280
Reserve for losses and loss expenses 89,906
Uncarsied premiums 1,977
Policyhiolders account balances _ —
Other hahilides , _ 28,426
Deht | ] ’ 13,695
Tota:l liahilities assumed $134,004

Net asq":ts acquired $ 98,276
! .
|

I l ‘
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The weighted average useful life of the intangible assets is approximately 4 years. Approximately $25 million of the

goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

In March 2007, the Company sold its interest in Berkley International Philippines, Inc. and its subsidiaries {“BIP1”)

for $25 million. The Company reported a pre-tax réalized gain of $2 million from the sale of BIPL. BIPD’s revenues

were $21 million and $14 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively, and its pre-tax carnings were $4.5 million and

$0.5 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

3. Investments in Fixed Maturity Securities

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, imvestments in fixed maturity securities were as follows (dollars in thousands}:

]

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Carrying
Type of Investment Cost Galns Losses | Value Value
December 31, 2007 ~
Held to maturity: N
State and municipal $ 68,997 § 8,814 % 49 $ 77,767 § 68,997
Mongage-backed securities 56,121 2,735 (20} 58,836 56,121.
Corporate 4,993 630 — 5,623 4,993
Total held to maturity 130,111 12,179 (64 142,226 130,111
Available for sale; |
United States Government and government agency . 1,449,147 25,768 (1,149) 1,473,766 1,473,766
State and municipal 5,100,193 78,803 - (12,475) 5,166,521 5,166,521
Morgage-backed securities 1,691,017 14,782 {9,262) 1,696,537 1,696,537
Corporate 1,001,207 8,864 (5,762) 1,004,309 1,004,309
Toreign T 316,589 12,202 (991) 327,800 327,800
. Total available for sale 9,558,153 140,419 (29,639) 9,668,933 9,668,933
Total investment in fixed maturity secirities $ 9,688,264 $ 152,598 $ (29,703) $ 9,811,159 $ 9,799,044
December 31, 2006 h
Held to maturity:
State and municipal $ 78,009 $ 11,209 $ (53) & 89,175 § 78,019
Mortgagc—babkcd securities 64,017 2,329 (60) 66,286 64,017
Corporate 4,992 422 — 5414 4.992
Total held to macurity 147,028 . 13,960 (113) 160,875 147,028
Available for sale: - s
" United States Government and government agency 1,390,082 9,447 (7,608) - 1,391,921 1,391,921
State and municipal ' 4,452,494 48,577 (19,949 4,481,122 4,481,122
Mortgage-backed securities 1,909,337 7,508 (13,703) 1,903,142 1,903,142
Corporate 804,875 + 3,020 {6,862) 801,033 801,033
Foreign 345,31 5 27,021 (2,008) - 369428 369,428
Total available for sale 8,902,103 95,573 {51,030) 8,946,646 8,946,646
Total investment in fixed maturity securities § 9,049,131 $ 109,533 $ (51,143) $ 9,107,521 $ 9,093,674




.
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The aerﬁzed cost and fair value of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2007, by contractual maturity, are
shown Helow. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturitics because certain issuers may have the right to

call or prepay obligations {dollars in thousands):

2007
! Amortized Cost Fair Value
Due in ofie year or less - $ 723,587 $ 725,875
Due afier one year through five years ’ 1,870,068 1,900,496
Due afiet five years through ten years 2,922,947 2,968,085
Due after ten years ’ 2,424,524 2,461,330
Mortgagi-backed sceurities - 1,747,138 1,755,373
Toal $9,688,264 $9,811,159

At Decémber 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no investments, other than investments in United States government and
govcmrrent agency securities, which exceeded 10% of stockholders’ equity. At December 31, 2007, investments with a
carrying value of $85 million were on deposit in trust accounts established as security for reinsurance clients, invest-
ments with a carrying value of $68 million were on deposit with Lloyd’s in support-of the Company’s underwriting
activiti:l at Lloyd’s, investments with a carrying value ol $645 million were on deposit with state insurance departments
and in\istmcnts with a carrying value of $66 million were held on deposit in trust accounts as security for letters of
credit issued in support of the Company’s Reinsurance operations.

! ’

4, In\liestments in Equity Securities Available for Sale

At Dechber 31, 2007 and 2006, investments in equity sccurities were as follows {dollars in thousands):

I Gross ° Gross

| ) Unrealized Unrealized Fair Carmrying
Type of Investment Cost Gains Losses Value Value
Decem:}')er 31, 2007 7 ) .
Common stocks $ 93,425 $ 54,079 $ —_ $147,504 $147,504
Prcfcn}rcd stocks 722,679 ] 2,571 (104,945} 620,305 620,305
Total $816,104 56,650  $(104,945  $767,809  $767,809
Decem:ber 31, 2006
Com1"non stocks . $ 200,826 $ 1.12,302 $ (353 3312,775 $312,775
Prefeired stocks : 546,758 8,689 (1,800 553,647 533,647
Total - ' §747,58¢  $120991  § (2,153)  $866422  §866422

-~




5. Trading Account

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the fair value and carrying value of the arbitrage trading account and related

assets and liabilities were as follows (doltars in thousands):

2007 2006
Dlirect equity securities $301,786 $ 450,629
Arbitrage-related partnerships 210,740 188,852
__Total equity securities trading account 512,526 639,481
Related assets and liabilities:
Receivables from brokers $409,926 $ 312,220
Securities sold but not yet purchased (67,139) {170,075)

The primary focus of the trading account is merger and convertible arbitrage. Merger arbitrage is the business of
investing in the sccuritics of publicly held companics which are the targets in announced tender offers and mergers.
Convertible arbitrage is the business of investing in convertible securities with the goal of capitalizing on price dif-
ferences between these securities and their underlying equities. Arbitrage investing differs from other types of
investing in its focus on transactions and events belicved likely to bring about a change in value over a relatvely
short time period (usually four months or less). The Company believes that this makes arbitrage investments less

vulnerable to changes in general financial market conditions.

‘
The Company uses put options, call options and swap contracts in order 10 mitigate the impact of potential
changes in market conditions on the merger arbitrage trading account. Thesc options and contracts are reported at
fair value. As of December 31, 2007, the fair value of long option contracts outstanding was $1,106,000 (notional
amount of $19,846,000) and the fair value of short option contracts outstanding was $590,000 {notional amount of
$92,654,000), Other than with respect to the use of these trading account securities, the Company does not make

use of derivatives.

6. Partnerships and Affiliates

Investments in partnerships and afliiates include the following (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value
“ as of December 31, Investment Income

2007 20086 2007 2006 2005

Real estate funds $294,446 $275,188 $25,007 . $23,421 $15,299
Kiln Ltd , 108,722 95,750 ~16,052 15,883 3,853
Kern Energy Partners 41,085 15,993 1,323 2,014 1,686
Other ’ 101,684 62,923 {4,108) 4,173) (2,293)
Total ) $545,937 $449,854 $38,274 §37,145 $18,545

The Company’s has a 20.1% interest in Kiln Ltd, which is based in the UK. and conducts international insurance
and reinsurance underwriting through Lloyd’s. The Company also participates directly in Lloyd’s business managed
by Kiln ple. Net premiums of $25 million and $41 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively, were written under

agreements with Kiln plc.
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On Dechber 14, 2007, Kiln Ltd announced that the boards of Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd.
(“TMNIr”) and Kiln Ltd have reached agreement on the terms of a recommended cash acquisition of Kiln Lid by

TMNF at an acquisition price of 150 pence per share. The carrying value of the Company’s investment in Kiln
Ltd was'5109 million at December 31, 2007. The total value of the Comipany’s investment in Kiln Ltd at the

acquisitign price of 150 pence per share is approximately $174 million at exchange rates in effect on February 27, 2008.

7. Investment Income

Investment income consists of the following (dollars in thousands):

1 _

! 20a7 2006 2005
Investment income earned on; -
Fixed maturity securities, including cash $497,892 $440,987 $336,126
Equityisecuritics available for sale 57,502 35,662 25,529
Arbitrage trading account (a) ' 80,253 74,551 28,095
Partnerships and affiliates 38,274 37,145 18,543
Othert 10,191 5,068 1,620
Groks investment income 684,112 593,413 409,915
Investment expense (11,452) (7,238) (5,953)
Netlinvestment income $672,660 $586,175 $403,962
{a} Investment income eamed from net trading account activity includes unrealized trading gains of $2.450,000 in 2007, $250.000) in 2006 and
§3.816.000 in 2005.
8. Realized and Unrealized Investment Gains and Losses
|
Realizef and unrealized investment gains and losses arc as follows (dollars in thousands):
| 2007 2005 2005
Realized investment gains and losses: i
Fixed maturity securities:
Gains $ 4,255 § 14,562 § 13,591
Los;scs ) (5,467) {10,250) {3,026)
Equiry securities available for sale 16,519 4537 8414
Sale of subsidiary 2,302 . — —
Provigion for other than temporary impairments {2,680) (100) (1,645)
Othet gains (losses) v 9 899 (125)
“Total realized investment gains 14,938 9,648 17,200
Incorpe taxes and minority interest (5,297) (2,534 {6,206)
| . $ 9,641 § 7,014 $ 11,003
Changc“in unrealized gains and losses of’ available for sale securities:
Fixed| maturity securities $ 66,237 $ 10,800 $ (91,316)
Equity securitics available for sale (167,133} 93,130 (21,951}
Investment in partmerships and affiliates 3,940 . 4,608 (5,711}
CaShi:md cash equivalents (1) 1 44
Toi:al change in unrealized gains and losses (94,957) 113,539 (118,934
Incorhe taxes 26,155 (33,498) 41,304
Minarity interest {662) 1,174 8,677
! $ (69,464) $81,215 $ (68,953)

"




The following table summarizes, for all securitics in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
the aggregate fair value and gross unrealized loss by length of time those securitics have been continuously in an

unrealized loss position {dollars in thousands):

2007 ' 2006

v Gross Gross
Number of Unrealized Number of Unrealized
Securities Fair Value Loss Securities Fair Value Loss

Fixed maturities: , . .
(-6 months 44 $ 379,515 $ 5,254 - 100 $ 802,595 $ 2,309
7-12 months 43 486,233 6,999 62 645,331 4,445
‘Over 12 months 156, 1,300,468 17,450 269 ?,8‘43,721 44,389
Total 243 $2,166,216 $ 29,703 431 $4,291,647 $51,143

Equities securitics available for sale:

0-6 months : 55  § 445,917 $ 86,992 8 § 75568 § 320
7-12 months ’ 42 61,263 10,780 -9 60853 . 250
Over 12 months . 12 39,600 7,173 16 . 105,085 1,583
Total 109 $ 546,780 $104,945 33 $ 241,506 $ 2,153

At December 31, 2007, gross unrealized gains were $233 million; or 2% of total investments, and gross unrealized
losses were $139 million, or 1% of total investments. There were 154 securities that have been continuously in an
unrealized loss position for more than six months. Those securities had an aggregate fair value of §1 billion and an
aggregate unrealized loss of $50 million. The decline in market value for the fixed income securities was primarily
due to an increase in market interest rates. The decline in market value for the equity securities was primarily due
to wider spreads for preferred stocks issued by banks, real estate investment trusts, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
following the disruption in credit markets in late 2007.

-~

Management regularly reviews securities that have a fair value less than cost to determine whether an other than
temporary impairment has occurred. In determining whether a decline in fair value is other than temporary, man-
"agement assesses whether the fair value is expected to recover and whether the Company has the intent to hold the
investment until it recovers. The Company’s assessment of its intent to hold an investment until it recovers is based
on conditions at the time the assessment is made, including general market conditions, the Company’s overall
investment strategy and management’s view of the underlying value of an investment relative to its current price. If
a decline in value is considered other than temporary, the Company reduces the carrying value of the security and

reparts a realized loss on its statement of income.

-
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9. Reserves for Losses and Loss Expenses

The tabllc: below provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending reserve balances (dollars in thousands):

| . 2007 2006 2005
i
Net rescrves al beginning of year - $6,947,597 $5,867,290 $4,722,842
Net reserves of company acquired 68,392 —_ —
Net provision for losses and loss expenses (a):
Claims occurring during the current year (b) 2,837,647 2,791,500 2,531,655
{Decrdase)/ Increase in estimates for claims occurving in prior years (¢) {105,879) 26,663 186,728
Loss riserve discount accretion 46,808 39,507 57,790
| ) 2,778,576 2,857,670 2,776,173
Net payinents for claims:
Currdnt year 538,364 456,073 447,018
Prior years 1,433,304 1,321,290 1,184,707
| > 1,971,668 1,777,363 1,631,725
Net resebves at end of year 7,822,897 6,947,597 5,867,290
Ceded reserves a1 end of year 855,137 836,672 T B44470
Gross r@scn'es at end of year . $8,678,034 o B7,7842069 - . $6,711,760

{a) Net p}ovision for loss and loss expenses excludes $1,002, §6,828, und $5,629 in 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively, relating to the palicybolder
bent:f?m incurred on life insurance that are included in the stuement of income.

b Clui:qs occurring Juring the cument vear are net of loss reserve tiacounts of $117,177, $133.965 and $103,558 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively,

{¢} The iperease in estimates for claims eccuriing in prior years is net of loss reserve discounts of §17,736, $29.940 and $26,845 in 2007, 2000 and
2005 respectively. On an undisconnted hasis, the estimates for claims occurring in prior yéars decreased by $88,143 in 2007 and increased by
856,603 and §213.573 in 2006 and 2005. respectively.

| |

For thé year ended December 31, 2007, the Company reported losses and loss expenses of $2.8 hillion, of which
$106 million represcnted a decrease in estimates for claims occurring in prior years. The estimates for claims occurring
in pt‘iqlr years decreased by $150 million for primary business and increased by'344 million for assumed reinsurance.
On ar accident year basis, the change in prior year reserves is comprised of an increase in estimates for claims’
occurﬁng in accident years 2003 and prior of $179 million and a decreasc in estimates for claims occurring in
accident years 2004 through 2006 of $285 million. The changes in prior year loss reserve estimates are generally
the result of ongoing analysis of recent loss development trends. Original estimates are increased or decreased as

additibnal information becomes known regarding individual claims and aggregate claim trends.
I

Case feserves for primary business increased 20% to §2.3 billion as a result of a 3% increase in the number of
outsta’,ucling claims and a 21% increase in the average case reserve per claim. Resceves for incurred but not
reporkccl losses for primary business increased 11% to $3.6 billion at Decermber 31, 2007 from $3.3 billion at
December 31, 2006. By segment, prior year rescrves decreased by $97 million for Specialty, $24 million for
Alterjlative Markets, $22 million for Regional and 37 million for International. By line of business, prior year
rcser\;'cs decreased by $114 million for general Liabality, $14 million for workers’” compensation, 312 million for
property and $10 million for commercial automobile. The decrease in prior year reserves for general liability
refledts the favorable loss reserve trends for excess and surplus lines for accident years 2004 through 2006.




Case reserves for Reinsurance business increased 17% 1o 8796 million at December 31, 2007 from 3680 million at
December 31, 2006, Reserves for incurred but not reported losses for reinsurance business were $1,088 million at -
December 31, 2007 from $1,084 million at December 31, 2006. Prior year reserves increased 344 million as losses
reported by ceding companies for those years were higher than expected, The Company sets its initial loss estimates
hased principally upon information obtained during the underwriting process and adjusts these estimates as losses
are reported by ceding companies and additional information becomes available.

Environmental and ashestos - To date, known environmental and asbestos claims have not had a material impact on
the Company’s operations. These claims have not materially impacted the Company because its subsidiarics generally

did not insure large industrial companics that are subject 1o sigmficant environmental and asbestos exposures.

‘

The Company’s net eserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses relating to asbestos and environmental claims
were $41,590,000 and $37,473,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The Company’s gross reserves
for losses and loss adjustn-lent expenses relating to ashestos and environmental claims were $60,836,000 and
$49,937,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Net incurred losses and loss expenses for reported
asbestos and environmental claims were approximately $7,029,000, $3,000,000 and $1,853,000 in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Net paid losses and loss expenses for asbestos and environmental claims were approximately
$2,912,000, $2,980,000 and $2,658,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The estimation of these liabilities is
subject to significantly greater than normal variation and uncertainty because it is difficult to make an actuarial
‘estimate of thesc liabilities due to the absence of a generally accepted actuarial methodology for these exposures
and the potential effect of signiﬁcam‘unresolved legal matters, including coverage issues as well as the cost of
litigating the legal issues. Additionally, the determination of ultimate damages and the final allocation of such
dafnagcs to financially responsible partics are highly uncertain.

Discounting - The Company discounts its liabilities for excess and assumed workers’ compensation business
because of the long period of time over which losses are paid. Discounting is intended to appropriately match
losses and loss expenses to income earned on investment securities supporting the liabilides. The cxpected losses
and loss expense payout pattern subject to discounting was derived from the Company’s loss payout expenience. For
non-proportional business, reserves for losses and loss expenses have been discounted using risk-free discount rates
determined by reference to the US. Treasury yield curve. These discount rates range from 3.7% to 6.5% with a
welighted average discount rate of 4.9%. For proporuonal business, reserves for losses and loss expenses have been
discounted at the statutory rate permitted by the Department of Insurance of the State of Delaware of 2.6%.
The aggregate net discount, after reflecting the effects of ceded reinsfxrance, is $787,988,000, $699,883,000 and
$575,483,000 at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase in the aggregate discount from
2006 to 2007 and from 2005 to 2006 resulted from the increase in excess and assumed workers’ cc\ympcnsation

grOss ICSErves.




10. Reinsurance

The fol]Twing is a summary of reinsurance financial information {dollars in thousands):

i 2007 2006 2005
Written p!rt:mium:

Direct $4,173,856 $4,208,893 $4,185,296
Assumg:d 879,374 1,068,021 902,687
Ceded, (477,241) (457,921) {483,409)
Totql.l net written premiums $4,575,989 $4,818,993 34,604,574

Earned pi'rt:mium: . . .
Direct| $4,202,673 §4,124,131 $4,022,842
Assumycl 933,169 1,037,806 934,024
Ch:dcdI (472,141) (469,315) (495,931)
Tot:Ll net earned premiums $4,663,701 $4,692,622 $4,460,935
Ceded lsses incurred $ 263,072 § 276347 § 404,793

-

The Company reinsures a portioﬁ of its exposures principally to reduce its net liability on individual risks and to protect

against 'catastrophic losses. Estimated amounts due from reinsurers are reported net of reserves for uncollectible
reinsur:lincc of $2,859,000, $2,531,000 and §2,402,000 as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

11. Sénior Notes and Other Debt

) | : )
Senior notes and other debt consist of the following (the difference between the face value and the carrying value is

unamortized discount) (dellars in thousands):

. ‘ 2007 2006
Dexﬂpﬂhn Rate Maturity Face Value Carrying Value Carrying Value
Senior notes 9.875% May 15, 2008 $ 88,800 $ 88,638 $ 88,242
Subsidiary debt ‘various 2008 through 2012 4,460 4,460 —
Senior notes 5.125% September 30, 2010 150,000 149,130 148,809
Senior rjotes 5.875% February 15, 2013 200,000 198,300 197,968
Senior notes 5.60% May 15, 2015 200,000 198,629 198,443
Senior dotes 6.15% August 15, 2019 150,000 148,345 148,202
Senior fotes 8.70% °  January 1, 2022 76,503 75,803 75,776
Subsidiary debt 7.65% June 30, 2023 11,747 11,747 11,747
Sentor notes 6.25% February'15, 2037 250,000 246,741 —

Toaldebt $13131,510 $1,121,793 $869,187




12. Junior Subordinated Debentures

Junior subordinaged debentures consist of the following (the difference between the face value and the carrying

value is unamortized discount) (dollars in thousands):
A

2007 T 2006

Description ’ Rate Maturity i Face Value Carrying Value Carrying Value
Company debt 6.75% July 26,2045 - $250,000 $242,158 $241,953
Substdiary debt LIBOR +3.75% March 2035 7,217 7,217 .
Total . $257,217 $249,375 $241,953

In 2006, th:: Company issued $250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 6.75% Junior Subordinated Debentures
due July 26, 2045 (the “6.75% Junior Subordinated Debentures”) to W. R. Berkley Capital Trust IT {the “Trust 117).
The Trust 1T simultaneously issued an equal amount of 6.75% mandatorily redeemable preferred secunities {the
“6.75% Trust Preferred Securities”), which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company to the extent
the Trust 11 has funds available for repayment of distributions, The 6.75% Trust Preferred Securities are subject to
mandatory redemption in a like amount (i} in whole but not in part upon repayment of the 6.75% Junior
Subordinated-Debentures at maturity, (i} in whele but not in part, at any time contemporaneously with the
'optional prepayment of the 6.75% Junior Subordinated Debentures by the Gompany'upon the occurrence and
continuation of certain events and (iii) in whole or in pal:t, on or alter July 26, 2010, contemporaneously with the
optional prepayment by the Company of the 6.75% Junior Subordinated Debentures.

In 1996, the Company issued $210,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 8.197% Junior Subordinated
Debentures due December 15, 2045 (the “8.197% Junior Subordinated l)cbf:ntures”)‘to W. R. Berkley Capital
Trust (the “Trust”). The Trust simultaneously issued an equal amount of 8.197% méndatorily redeemable pre-
ferred securities (the “8,197% Trust Preferred Securities”), which were fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the
Company to the extent the Trust has funds available for repayment of distributions. The 8.197% Trust Preferred
Securities were redcemed on December 15, 2006, contemporaneously with the prepayment by the Company of
the 8.197% Junior Subordinated Debentures.

In 2007, the Company acquired CGH Insurance Group, Inc., which has $7,217,000 of outstanding subordinated
debentures that mature in 2035 and are pre-payable in 2010.

13. Income-Taxes

Income tax expense consists of {dollars in thousands}:

2007 2006 2005
‘Current expense . $323,821 $321,950 $222,612
Deferred benefit (17,916) (35,532) ©n)

Total expense ‘ $310,905 $286,398 $222,521

-




A-reconciliation of the income tax expense and the amounts computed by applying the Federal and foreign income

tax rate of 35% to pre-tax income are as follows (dollars 1n thousands):

) 2007 2006 2005
Computdd “expected” tax expense $367,534 $344.,666 $268,767
Tax-exempt investment income (67,128) (63,358) (49,546)
Change in valuation allowance (7.604) T3,046 1,762
Other, nn'It ' ‘ 18,103 2,044 1,538

Total éxpense $310,905 $286,398 $2922,521

At Dccémber 31, 2007 and 2006, the tax effects of differences that give rise to significant portions of the acfcrred
tax asset and deferred tax hability are as follows (dollars in thousands):

| 2007 2006
Deferred 1ax assct 7
Loss reserve discounting $205,967 $188,658
Life rdserve — 10,685
Uneagned premiums ’ 137,439 144,600
Net operaang loss carry forward 1,932 9,650
Other 85,986 62,098
Gross deferred tax asset 431,324 415,691
Less valuation allowance {2,018) {9,621)
Defierred tax asset - 429,306 406,070
Deferred tax liability .
Amor'}ization of intangibles 7,782 ' 8,098
Beferted policy acquisition costs 150,993 163,657
Deferfed raxes on unrealized investment gains 25,624 54,059
Other ' 58,238 37,622
Deferred 1ax Liability 242,637 263,436
Net deferred tax asset $186,669 $142,634
'
The Company had a current income tax payable of §14,331,000 and $9,700,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. At December 31, 2007, the Company had foreign net operating loss carry forwards of $5,519,000,

which ¢xpire from 2008 to 2012. The net change in the valuation allowance is primarily related to foreign net
opcrati}ng loss carry forwards and to certain foreign subsidiaries’ net deferred tax assets. In addition, the Company
has a net foreign tax credit carry forward for US. income tax purposes in the amount of $1,499,000, which expires
in 201%

closed for the Company’s tax returns through December 31, 2003.

. The Company has provided a valuation allowance against this amount. The statute of limitations has

The realization of the deferred tax asset is dependent upon the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable
. . . . . / .
1ncom(Lm future periods. Based on historical results and the prospects for future current operations, management

anticipates that it is more likely than not that future 1axable income will be sufficient for the realization of this asset.

1
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14. Dividends from Subsidiaries and Statutory Financial Information

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries are restricted by law as to the amount of dividends they may pay without the

approval of regulatory authorities. During 2008, the maximum amount of dividends which can be paid without
such approval is approximately $653 million. Combined net income and policyholders’ surplus of the Company’s
consolidated insurance subsidiaries, as determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices, are as follows

{dollars in thousands): ’ - -

2007 2006 2005

Net income ' $ 767,021 $ 625,305 § 163,067
Policyholders’ surplus $3,695,106 $3,535,398 $2,939,503

The significant variances between statutory accounting practices and GAAP are that for statutory purposes bonds
are carried at amortized cost, acquisition costs are charged to income as incurred, deferred Federal income taxes
are subject to limitations, excess and assumed workers’ compensation reserves are discounted at diflerent discount

rates and certain assets designated as “non-admitted assets” are charged against surplus.

The NAIC has risk-based capital (*“RBC”) requircmcﬁts that require insurance compantes to calculate and report
information under a risk-based formula which measures statutory capital and surplus needs based on a regulatory
definition of risk in a company’s mix of products and its balance sheet. All of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries
have an. RBC amount above the authorized control level RBC, as defined by the NAIC. The Company has certain
guarantees that provide that RBC levels of certain subsidiaries will remain above their authorized control levels.

15. Stockholders' Equity

Common equity.  The weighted average number of shares used in the computation of basic earnings per share was
188,981,000, 191,809,000 and 190,533,000 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The weighted average number of
shares used in the computations of diluted earnings per share was 196,698,000, 201,961,000 and 200,426,000 for
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Treasury shares have been excluded from average outstanding shares from the

date of acquisition. The difference in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share is attributable entirely to the
dilutive effect of stock-based compensation plans.

Changes in shares of common stock outstanding, net of treasury shares, are as follows (amounts in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
Balance, beginning of year 192,772 © 191,264 - 189,613
Sharcs issued 3,680 2,925 1,671
“Shares repurchased : (16,131) {1,417 20y
Balance, end of year .~ 180,321 192,772 191,264

On May 11, 1999, the Company declared a dividend distribution of one Right for each outstanding share of common
siock. Each Right entitles the holder 10 purchase a unit consisting of one one-thousandth of a share of Series A
Junior Parucipating Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $120 per unit (subject to adjusunent) upon the occurrence
of certain events relating to potential changes in control of the Company. The Rights expire on May 11, 2009,
unless earlier redeemed by the Company as provided in the Rights Agreement.



16. Fe%ir Value of Financial Instruments

1 - X . . . .
The following table presents the carrying amounts and cstimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments

as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 (dollars in thousands):
I ’. ~

i : 2007 2006

| Carrying Amount Fair value Carrying Amount Fair Value
ln\-r:sunc';m ) $11,893,522 $11,905,637 811,114,364 $11,128,211
Junior simrdinated debenturcs 249,375 214,058 241,953 251,500
Senior notes and other debt 1,121,793 1,113,705 869,187 897,261

- 1
i
The estimated fair value of investments is generally based on quoted market prices as of the respective reporting
dates. The fair value of the senior notes and other debt and the junior subordinated debentures are based on rates

available for borrowings similar to the Company’s outstanding debt as of the respective reporting dates.

17. Lé,ase Obligations

“The Company and its subsidiaries use office space and equipment under leases expiring at various dates. These
leases are considered operating leases for financial reporting purposes. Some of these leases have options to extend
the length of the leases and contain clauses for cost of living, operating expense and real estate tax adjustments.
Remal kxpense was $21,438,000, $19,348,000 and $17,429,000 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Future
minimum lease payments {without provision for sublease income) are: $20,889,000 in 2008; $18,570,000 in 2009;

. 316,99?-,000 in 2010; $13,060,000fin 2011 and $35,600,000 thereafter.

18. Commitments, Litigation and Contingent Liabilities

The Cpmpany’s subsidiaries are subject to disputes, including litigation and arbitration, arising in the ordinary
course 'r.)l' their insurance and reinsurance husinesses. The Company’s estimates of the costs of settling such matters
are reflected in its aggregate reserves for losses and loss expenses, and the Company does not believe that the
ultimal:c outcome of such matters will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operadons.

At cheml)cr 31, 2007, the Company has commitments to invest up to $252 million in certain investment funds
and a subsidiary of the Company has commitments to extend credit under future loan agreements and unused

lincs 0{ credit up o $3 million.

At Det!embcr 31, 2007, investments with a carrying value of $85 mullion were on deposit in trust accounts established
as sccu!rity for reinsurance clients, investments with a carrying value of $68 million were on deposit with Lloyd’s in
support of the Company’s underwriting activides at Lloyd’s, investments with a carrying value of $645 million
were on deposit with state il}surance departments and investments with a carrying value of $66 million were held
on deposit in trust accounts as security for letters of credit issued in support of the Company’s Reinsurance operations.

1
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19. Stock Incentive Plan

The Company has a stock incentive plan (the-“Stock Incentive Plan”) under which 36,070,313 shares of common
stock were reserved for issuance. Pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan, stock options may be granted at prices
determined byj the Board of Directors but not less than fair market value on the date of grant. Stock options vest
according to a graded schedule of 25%, 50%, 75% and 100% on the third, fourth, fifth and sixth year anniversary

of grant date. Stock options expire on the tenth year anniversary of the grant date.

“The following table summarizes stock option information: ~

2007 _ 2006 2005
Shares’ Price™ Shares Price™ - Shares ° Pricet®

Outstanding at beginning of year 12,088,263 § 8.29 15,160,182 $ 7.99 17,041,535 § 7.88
Granted— —_— — — — —_ —
Exercised 3,664,659 7.01 2,909,916 6.67 1,663,341 6.76
Canceled - 39,182 11.49 162,003 9.58 218,012 8.30
Outstanding at end of year 8,384,422 § 8.84 12,088,263 $ 829 15,160,182 $ 7.99
Options exercisable at year end 7,431,072 § 855 9,494,263 $ 7.67 9,975,159 $ 7.28
Stock available for future grant™ 5,156,486 5,778,540 6,289,347

{a) Weighted average exercise price. -
{b} Includes restricted stock units.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2007:

\

Options Outstanding - Options Exercisable

Welghted Welghted

Range of ' Remaining Weighted Average

Exercise . ’ Number Contractual Average . Number Exercise

Prices ) Outstanding Life {in years) Price Exercisable Price
December 31, 2007 )

%0 o $5.00 1,585,023 2,27 $ 354 1,585,023 . %354

$5.01 10 §9.39 3,630,871 2.40 9.27 3,630,871 9.27

$9.40 1o §17.62 3,168,528 4.39 10.98 - 2,215,178 10.95

Total 8,384,422 3.13 $ 8.84 7,431,072 $ 8.55
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Pursuan‘t to the Stock Incentive Plan, the Company may also issue Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) to officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The RSUs generally vest five years from the award date and are subject to other
vesting and forfeiture provisions contained in the award agreement. The following table summarizes RSU information
for the Tlrec years ended December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands):

. 2007 2006 2005

R8Us granted:

Units 727,250 797,950 965,250

Markﬁi value at grant date ) $ 21,856 $ 24,798 $ 30,094
RSUs capceled:

Units | 66,014 83,580 25,200

Mm‘kc‘t value at grant date $ 1,973 $ 3,782 § 465
RSUs ouLsmnclmg at cnd of period:

Units | 4,738,656 4,077,420 3,433,050 .

M'\rkqt value at grant date $ 110,465 £ 90,370 § 69,354

|
The market value of RSUs at the date of grant arc recorded as unearned compensation, a component of stock-
holders] equity, and charged to expense over the vesting period. Following is a summary of changes in uncarned
compensation for the three years ended December 31, 2007 (dellars in thousands):

' s 2007 2006 . 2005
Uncamc\d compensation at beginning of year $ 59,555 § 33,862 $32,646
RSUs gr;amcd net of cancellatons i 19,883 21,016 29,629
R8Us expensed {19,330) (15,323) - (8,413)

chaJLned compensation at cnd of year $ 60,108 $ 59,535 $53,862

t

! .

20. Compensation Plans .

The Cgmpany and its subsicliaries have profit sharing plans in which substantially all employees participate. The
plans p;r()\'idc for minimum annual contributions of 5% of eligible compensation; contributions above the minimum
are disgretionary and vary with each participating subsidiary’s profitability. Employees become eligible to participate
in the jroﬁt sharing plans on the first day of the month following the first full three months in which they are
emplo_: d. The plans provide that 40% of the contributions vest immediately and that the remaining 60% vest at
varying percentages based upon years of service. Profit sharing expensc amounted to $27,241,000, $24,864,000

and $2r,955,000 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, réspccli\*el)z

The Company has a Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan (“LTIP”) that provides for incentive compensation

to key i:xecutives based on the growth in the Company’s book value per share. Key employees are awarded
participation units (“Units”) that vest five years from the award date or upon achievement of the maximum value

of the leard {except for certain executive officers), whmhwer occurs first. In 2004, the Company awarded 100,000 .

Units Ih‘l[ achieved their maximum value of $250 per Unit in 2007. Compensation expense related to the 2004
grant (1}1(.[ of forfeitures) was $4,495,496, $8,015,000 and $6,587,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In
2006, the Company awarded 131,000 Units with a maximum value of 3250 per Unit, Compensation expense
rclalcd{to the 2006 grant was §10,282,000 and §8,599,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively.




21. Retirement Benefits

»

The Company has an unfunded noncontributery defined benefit plan that covers its chief executive officer and

chairman of the board. The plan was amended on December 17, 2007 to provide that the benefits payments shall

commence on the earliest of (i) Octaber 31, 2013, (ii) the date of death or (jii) a change in control of the Company.

The Company assumed a henefit commencement date of October 31, 2013 for the 2007 valuation, whereas for

the 2006 valuation, the Company assumed a benefit commencement date of October 31, 2017, The discount rate

used to derive the projected benetit obligation and related retirement expense was 6.5% in 2007 and 6.0% in 2006.

Following is a summary of the projected benefit obligation as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 {dollars in thousands):

2007 2006
Projected henefit ohligation: =
Beginning of year $28,775 $25,021
[nuerest cost 1,753 1,640
Actuarial (gain) loss (3,724) 2114
Plan amendment 10,361 —
End of year $37,165 828,775
The components of net periodic pension henefit cost are as follows (dollars in thousands):
2007 2006 2005
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Interest cost $1,753 $1,640 §1,311
Amortization of unrecognized:
Prior service costs 1,267 1,266 1,266
Net actuarial loss 352 593 165
Net periodic pension cost $3,372 $3,499 $2,742

Effective on December 31, 2006, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 158 (FAS 158), “Emplovers’

Accounung for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postreurement Plans,” which reguires an emplover to recognize
g ) q } g

the over-funded or under-funded status of defined henefit plans as an asset or liability on its consolidated balance

sheet, The impact of adopting FAS 158 is presented below (dollars in thousands):
-~

" * December 31, 2008

Before After

Application Application

Of FAS 158 Adjustments Of FAS 158

Other assets $ 145,669 $(15,028) $- 130,641
Deferred income taxes 135,044 7,590 142,634
Other liabilities 647,938 6,658 654,596
Total stockholders’ equity $3,340,255 $(14,096) $3,335,159

101




22. Supplemental Financial Statement Data

Other dperating costs and expenses consist of the following (dollars in thousands): /

' 2007 2006 2005
Amonizf:nion of deferred policy acquisition costs $1,002,367 $ 978,029 $ 959,580
Other u;rderwriting expenses ) 328,152 289,188 242 463
Service ¢ompany expenses - 90,561 88,961 91,134
Other C(Lsts and expenses ' 109,907 . 92 988 65,397
Total $1,530,987 . 51,449,166 $1,358,574

!
T=

23. Ir!ldustry Segments )

The Company’s operations are presently conducted in five segments of the insurance business: Specialty lines of
insurance, Regional property casualty insurance, Alternative Markets, Reinsurance and International.

Our Specialty segment underwrites complex and sophisticated third-party liability risks, principally within the
excess 4nd surplus lines. The primary lines of business are premises operations, professional liability, commercial
autemgbile, products liability and-property lines. The companies within the segment are divided along the different
customer bases and product lines that they serve. The Specialty units deliver their products through a variety of
distribution channels depending on the customer base and particular risks insured. The customers in this segment

are highly diverse,

Our Regional segment provides commercial insurance products to customers primarily in 44 states. Key clients of

this scgment are small-t0-mid-sized businesses and state and local governmental entitics. The Reg{on_al subsidiaries
are c;rg:;:nized geographically, which provides them with the flexibility to adapt to local market conditions, while
enjoying the superior administrative capabilities and financial strength of the Company. The Regional operations
are org;anized geographically based on markets served.

|
Our Alternative Markets operations specialize in developing, insuring, reinsuring and administering self-insurance
prograi'ns and other alternative risk transfer mechanisms. Our clients include employers, employer groups, insurers,
and alternative market funds seeking less costly, more eflicient ways to manage exposure to risks. In addition to
providing insurance, the Alternative Markets segment also provides a wide variety of fee-based services, including

Js .. . -
c0n51|]11ng and administrative scrvices.

Ed

Our Rcinsurfmce operations specialize in underwriting property casualty reinsurance on both a treaty and a facultative
basis. The principal Reinsurance units are facultative reinsurance, which write individual certificates and program
facullhtive business, treaty reinsurance, which‘functions as a traditional reinsurer in specialty and standard reinsurance
lines, ;:I

| .
Our International segment offers personal and commercial property casualty insurance in South America and

1d Lloyd’s reinsurance, which writes property and casualty reinsurance through Lloyd’s.

‘commgreial insurance and reinsurance in Australia, Hong Kong, the United Kingdom and Continental Europe.
[ - T
The a%counting policies of the scgments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting

policies. Income tax expense and benefits are calculated based upon the Company’s overall effective tax rate.




Summary financial information about the Company’s opcrating segments is presented-in the following table.

[ncome (loss) before income taxes by segment consists of revenues less expenses related to the respective segment’s

operations, including allocated investment income. Identifiable assets by segment are those assets used in or

allocated 1o the operation of each segment {dollars in thousands).

Revenues

. Pre-tax Net
Earned Investment Income Income
Premiums Income Other Total (loss) (loss)
December 31, 2007: N *
12 Months
Specially $ 1,772,547 $ 233,080 $ 400 $ 2,006,027 $ 516,931 $ 359,313
chional 1,250,914 96,886 . —_ 1,347,800 215,228 149,587
Alternative Markets 651,909 125,698 97,292 874,800" 248,080 173,822
Reinsurance 740,439 153,416 — 893,855 178,302 131,238
Internatonal ‘ N 247,892 36:666 —_ - 284,558 44,457 29,386
Corpomte, other and eliminations™ —_ 26,914 104,648 131,562 {160,302} (109,341}
Realized investment gains — — 14,938 14,938 14,938 9,641
Consolidated $ 4,663,701 $ 672,660 $ 217,278 $ 5,553,639 £1,057,634 $ 743,646
December 31, 2006 =
12 Months
Specialty $1,752,507 $200,421 $— $1,952,928 $ 479,105 $332,462
Regional 1,205,912 83,957 — 1,289,869 201,417 139,737
Alternatve Markets 658,805 114,914 104,812 878,531 291,416 201,486
Reinsurance 859,411 133,709 - 993,120 135,424 102,065
Internauonal 215,987 32,907 — 248,894 34,447 24,550
Corporate, other and climinations” — 20,267 1,574 21,841 (162,812) {107,896)
Realized investment gains — — 9,648 9,648 9,648 7,114
Consolidated $4,692,622 $586,175, $116,034 $5,394,831 $ 988,645 $699,518.
December 31, 2005:
12 Months
Specialty $1,682,193 £134,290 $— %1,816,483 $ 345,896 $241,619
Regional 1,173,174 57,619 — 1,230,793 216,495 147,924
Alternative Markets 663,478 82617 - 110,697 856,792 238,462 165,327
Reinsurance 754,007 95,110 - 849,207 63,606 53,233
International 187,993 20,749 94 208,836 20,890 13,782
Corporate, other and eliminations™ — 13,577 3,942 17,519 (132,021) (87,996)
Realized invesument gains — - 17,209 17,209 17,209 11,003
Consolidated £4,460,935 $405,962 $131,942 $4,996,839 § 770,537 $544,892

{1} Corporate and other eliminations represent corporale revenues and expenses, realized invesiment gains and losses and other items that are not

allocated 10 business segments.
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Identifiabde assets by segment are as follows {dollars in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, ’ 2007 2006
Specialty $ 5,887,363 $ 5,387,934
chionalI 2,717,199 2,796,225
Alternative Markets 3,261,318 2,700,782
Rcinsumim-. 4,912,732 5,231,317
[nternatipnal ' 870,404 811,662
Corporaie, other and climinations (1) . (816,846} (1,271,431}
Consolidated ] $16,832,170 $15,656,489

(1) Corporute and other eliminations represent corporate revenues and éxpenses. realized investment gains and losses and other items that are nol
allocati« o business segments. .

Net prctniums carned by major line of business are as follows (dollars in thousands):

. N 2007 2006 2005
Specialty
' Pmm:ies operations , $ 730,874 § 744,351 $ 701,456
Com 1‘(:ru:iai autormnobile ‘ 277,170 267,091 265,227
Produtts Hability 228,749 257,992 258,163
Property 210,791 164,784 137,643
Pml‘csfiona] liability 155,171 " 158,124 183,220
Other ) 169,792 160,165 136,484
Total Specialty $1,772,547 %1,752,507 $1,682,193
Regional -
Commercial multiple peril 474,574 468,978 469,033
Commercial automobile 364,467 348,126 336,832
Workdrs’ compensaton 251,774 246,151 235,748
Othern . 160,099 142,657 128,561
Totpl Regional $1,250,914 $1,205,912 $1,173,174
A.lterna’live Markets
Exccs4 workers’ compensation o 311,786 . 308,250 201,852
Primary workers’ compensation 250,628 270,193 301,619
. Other 89,495 80,322 70,007
Totp! Alternative Markets $ 651,909 § 658,805 $§ 663,478
Reinsu%ance - _
- Casualty ) 609,398 758,635 621,887
Property . 131,041 100,776 132,210
Totad Reinsurance $ 740,439 $ 859411 $§ 754,097
International . $ 247,892 § 215,987 § 187,993
Total $4,663,701 $4,692 622 $4,460,935




24. Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

——

The following is a summary of quarterly financial data (in thousands except per share data):

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
Three months ended 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Revenues ’ $1,359,021  51,307,53¢  $1,386,583  $1338346  $1,408,032 81,368,508  $1,400,003 51,360,443
Net income 188,426 161,702 190,633 165,452 180,463 174,308 184,124 198,056
Net income per share (a):
Basic .98 B84 .98 86 97 9t 1.01 103
Diluted : 93 80 .93 82 .93 87 97 08

() Earnings per share (“EP'S™) in each quarter is (:[;mpumd using e weighted-average number of shares outstanding during that quanter while EPS
for the full year is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Thus, the sum of the four quarters EPS does
not necessarily equal the full-year EPS,
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Splecialty

EXGI‘.ESS AND SURPLUS LINES

Admiral Insurance Company
12551Caldwell Road

Cherty Hill, NJ 08034

Tel: ({356) 429 9200 Fax: (856) 429 8611
mw:laclmiralins.com

James 5. Carey, CPCU, President & Chief Executive Officer
John E. Goodloe, President — Excess Pivision

Oscat Guerrero, Sentor Vice President & Treasurer
Danidl A. MacDonald, Senior Vice President & Secretary
Scou R. Barraclough, Regional Vice President

Curty E. Fleicher, CPCU, Regional Vice President
William E. Haines, CPCU, Regional Vice President
Martin M. Michell, Regional Vice President

Robert J. Morgan, Vice President

r’\mhclny A. Peraine, Vice President

‘Walter G. Strauss, Vice President

P:uricxla A. Nreeland, Vice President

Austirl, Texas ,
Duluti}, Georgia

Seatde, Washington
Stamford, Connecticut

Tel: (512) 795 0766
Tel: {770) 476 1561
Tel: (206) 467 6311
Tel: (203) 323 8286
Admirgl Risk Insurance Services, Inc.
Chicago, [llinois

Los Angeles, California

Tel: (312) 368 1107
“Tel: (213) 891 9259

Berkley Life Sciences, LLC

2445 l'"l'\uscr Road, Suite 201

Harilton Square, NJ 08690

Tel: (6&)9) 584 6990 Fax: (609) 588 5770
wwwbgrkleyls.com

JiE. Wadlund, President

Emily |. Urban, Senior Vice President
Eric M, Jacobs, Vice President

[isa K Krist, Vice President

Sharon| C. McDermott, Vice President

Paul Opuch, Vice President N

Spencer J. Page, Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Berk!.e;,l Specialty Underwriting Managers LLC
Threc Ravinia Drive, Suite 500

Atlanta, GA 30346

Tel: (40?) 443 2040 Fax: (404) 443 2050
www.berkleysum.com

Steven §. Zeitman, President & Chief Executive Officer
Rick Bak, CPCU, Executive Vice President &

Chidl’ Operating Officer
Elena I3 Mohler, CPCU, Senior Vice President
Elizabeth K. Frey, CPCU, Vice President
Peter E Lambery, CPCU, Vice Presidenmt
l’alricialK. London, Vice President &

Chic;d' Financial Officer

|

Robert J. Patterson, Vice President

Roy B. Pomerantz, Vice President

Joseph F. Rugnetta, Vice President

Michael A. Turner, CPCU, Vice President

Cindy L. Braschart, Prestdent — Entertainment & Sports
Michael A. Harns, Vice President

Specialty Casualty: »

Adanta, Georgia Tel: (404) 443 2055
Chicago, Illinois Tel: (404) 443 2080
Glastonbury, Connecticut Tel: (404) 443 2070
St. Paul, Minnesota Tel: (404) 443 2075

" Entertainment & Sports:

Irving, Texas
Glendale, California

Tel: (972) 819 8980
Tel: (972) 819 BIBS

Environmental:
Atlanta, Georgia Tel: (404) 443 2117
Nautilus Insurance Group, LLC

Nautilus fnsurance Company .

Great Divide Insurance Company

7233 East Butherus Drive

Scottsdale, AZ 85260

"Tel: (480) 951 0905 Fax: {480) 951 9730
m«;'w.nautilusinsgroup.com

Thomas M. Kuzma, President & Chief Executive Officer

John M. Runberg, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer & Treasurer

Michacl ]. Kilgas, Senior Vice President

James G. Schiffer, Senior Vice President

Karen W, Lolius, Vice President

Wendy L. Markham, CPCU, Vice President

Boumnie R. Mcirill, Vice President -

Cynthia A, Roa, Vice President

Deborah ). Savoie, Vice President

Janet L. Shemanske, Vice President & Secretary

Katherine M. Suhm, CPCU, Vice President

Antoinette L, Whitreck, CPCU, Vice President

Select Specialty Managers, LLC

250 South Wacker Drive, Suite 700
Chicago, IL 60606

Tel: (312) 881 1330 Fax: (312) 881 1338

wwwiselectspecialtymanagers.com

Joscph G. Shores, President

Diane L. Cummings, Executive Vice Prestdent
Joseph N, Smith, Chief Financial Officer
Ernest J. Fahicn, Vice President

Todd D. Hampton, Vice President

Vela Insurance Services, Inc.

200 West Madison, Suite 2700
Chicago, IL 60606

Tel: (312) 553 4413 Fax: {312) 553 4431




Richard P2 Shemitis, CPCU, President
Michael P Suﬁivau, Senior Vice President
David P. Lucey, Vice President & Branch Manager
Ted H. Perry, Vice President & Branch Manager
Mark S. Anderson, Vice President
William L. Braden, Vice President
Gerald P Kalvaius, Jr., Vice President —
Chief Financial Officer
Ritamari Martin, Vice President
Patricia Maruszak, Vice President

Omaha, Nebraska (Claims)
Radnor, Pennsylvania
Solvang, California

Tel: (402) 492 8352
Tel: (610) 688 4275

ADMITTED SPECIALTY LINES

American Mining Insurance Company, lm:.‘
3490 Independence Drive

Birmingham, AL 35209

Tel: (205) 870 3535 Fax: (205) 870 3245
wwwamericanmining.com

Chandler F, Cox, Jr, CPCU, President &
Chief Executive Officer

Dominick Giovannelli, Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer

Theodore C. Rouse, Senior Vice President

J. Dale Thompson, Senior Vice President

Bryant E. Brown, Vice President

Durbin W. Christner, Vice President

Jonathan W. Flower, Vice President

Donna J. Shenesky, Vice President

Ann J. Waus, Vice President & Secretary

Gregory T. Pierre, Treasurer

Johnstown, Pennsylvania

Lexington, Kentucky Tel: (859) 971 1955

Richlands, Virginia Tel: (276) 596 961 |
Berkley Aviation, LLC -
3780 State Street, Suite C )

Santa Barbara, CA 93105
Tel: (805) 898 7640 Fax: {805) 898 7690
www.berkleyaviation.com

Jason R. Nicmela, President -
Richard 8. Huston, Senior Vice President

Gary l.. Feramisco, Vice President

Ryan R. Gould, Vice President

Alan C. Hair, Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Matthew P Rowley, Vice President

Berkiey Underwriting Partners, LLC
215 Shuman Boulevard, Suite 200
Naperville, 1L 60563

Tel: (630) 210 0360 Fax: (630) 210 0375

wwwbupllc.com .

Tel: (805) 693 0839.

Tel: (814) 255 0200 *

John S, Diem, President & Chief Executive Offtcer

Joseph L. Mathews, Executive Vice President —
Chief Financial Officer

Spencer L.. Coyle, Senior Vice President

David A. Hanes, Senior Vice President

Joseph M. Pgjman, Senior Vice President

Michael Anello, Vice President

David A. Bell, Vice President -

Christopher C. Campbell, Vice President

Julius M. Colangelo, Vice President

Stephen A. Murray, Vice President”

Steven H. Strauss, Vice President

Thomas J. Voss, Vice President

Carolina Casualty Insurance Group, LLC

Carolina Casualty Insurance Company

4600 Touchton Road East, Building 100, Suitc 400
Jacksonville, FL. 32246

Tel: (904) 363 0300 Fax: (904) 363 8098

www.carolinacas.com

William E Murray, CPCU, President &
Chief Executive Officer
Donald J. Bromberek, Vice President
Reyad G. Cratem, 11, Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer & "Treasurer )
Robert F. Flannery, Vice President
George W. Lindh, CPCU Vice Presidemt
Timothy D. Ryan, CPCU, Vice President
Carroll D, Starmer, Vice President
Catherine P. Steckner, Vice President
Beuy C. Sutherland, Vice President & Secretary

Greenville, South Carolina  Tel: (864) 286 1480

Clermont Specialty Managers, Ltd.
3.University Plaza Drive, Suite 604
Hackensack, NJ 07601

Tel: (201) 342 4211 Fax: (201) 342 6381

www.clermonthid.com

Alfred Schonberger, Chairman

William J. Johnston, President

David A. Gianfrancesco, Executive Vice President
Donald J. Togneri, CPCU, Senior Vice President
George Culliney, Jr, CPCU, Vice President & Secretary
Yvette Carattini, Treasurer

Monitor Liability Managers, inc. ~
2850 West Golf Road, Suite 800
Reolling Mcadows, 11, 60008-4039

Tel: (847) 806 6590 Fax: (847) 806 6282

wiww.monitorliability.com -

Douglas . Powers, CPCU, President &
Chief Executive Officer

Sandra C. Nelson, Senior Vice President
David R. Aller, CPCU, Vice President
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Joseph B; Haliman, Vice President ™

Thomas M. Hayden, Vice President
Peter A. Lindquist, CPCU, Vice President,
Chief; Financial Officer, Treasurer & Secrciary
Thomas J. Mathias, Vice President
Randal E Mrozowicz, Vice President
Helen R.l Savaiano, Vice President

Regional

Acadia Insurance Company

One f\cahia Commons, PO. Box 9010
Westhrodk, ME 04098-5010

Tel: (QOTi 772 4300 Fax: {207) 772 6104
wwwacadiainsurance.com

Bill Thomton, CPCU, President

Charles A. Hamblen, GPCU, Senior Vice President,
ChieleFinancial OfTicer & Treasurer

Paul S. McAuliffe, Senior Vice President

Bobbi Aj{aero, CPCU, Regional Vice President ~

Susan Grady, Regional Vice President

Andrew M. Burbank, Vice President

Jane E. Gordon, Vice President

David J. !xBlanc, CPCU, Vice President

J Barry May, CPCU, Vice President

Judith E.TPlummer, CPCU, Vice President

Stephen J. Rich, CPCU, Vice Presidemt

David S. Richards, Vice President

Kathrvn P Whitmore, Vice President

"Tel: (603) 627 B466
"Tel: (860) 331 2400
“Tel: (508) 786 6600
“Tel; (802) 658 0722
Tel: (315) 457 3757
Tel: (207) 772 4300

Bedford, New Hampshire

Racky Hill, Connecticut
Marlborgugh, Massachusctts
South Buplington, Vermont
Syracuse New York

Westbrook, Maine

Beridey Mid-Atlantic Group

4820 Lake Brook Drive, Suite 300
Glen Allen, VA 23060

Tel: (804) 285 2700 Fax: (804) 285 5717

www.wrbmag.com

Kevin W, Nattrass, President & Chief Executive Officer
William Kirk Bonner, Vice President
Jeftrey E.:Bouton, CPCU, Vice President
J- Eric Lange, Regional Vice President
Allen R. Latimer, Vice President,
Chief [Financial Officer & Treasurer
J. Michaet Leni, CPCU;, Vice Presidemt
Mariann¢ Morosko, CPCU, Vice President
Vickie Price, Vice President
Laura L. Thorne, Vice President
William [IE Yount, CPCU, Regional Vice President

Glen Alleh, Virginia

Charlotte, North Garolina

Erie, Pennsylvania

Harrisburg, Pennsylvania e
Tel: (800)/ 283 1153

| .

Continental Western Group

11201 Douglas Avenue

Des Moines, [A 50322

Tel: (515) 473 3000 Fax: (515) 473 3015
WWW.CWEINS, oM

Bradley S. Kuster, CPCU, President &

~-Chief Executive Officer
Robert E Buehler, Executive Vice President
Thotnas E. Boots, Senior Vice President
Philip J. See, Senior Vice President
Michael L. Anania, Regional Vice President
Steven J. Freeborn, CPCU, Regional Vice President
Donald M. Huston, Regional Vice President,
Richard B. Swain, CPCU, Regional Vice President
Ann M. Collins, Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Aaron M. Larson, Vice Presidemt
Lynsey L. Oster, Vice President
Robert B. Shepard, CPCU, Vice President
John E Thelen, Vice President — General Counsel

& Secretary |

C. Jeffrey West, Vice President

Boise, Idaho Telk: (208) 898 5200
Lincoln, Nebraska Tel: (402) 423 7688
Luverne, Minnesota Tel: (507) 283 9561
Des Moines, lowa Tel: (515) 473 3000

Union Standard Insurance Group

122 West Carpenter Freeway, Suite 350
[rving, TX 75039-2008 -

Tek: (972) 719 2400 Fax: {972) 719 2401

www.usic.com

Craig W. Sparks, President
James W. Foos, CPCL, Senior Vice President
Edmund P Hemmerick, CPCU, Senior Vice President
Jeffrey N. Carver, Regional Vice President
John E. Gray, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
& Treasurer
Richard W. Hitch, CPCU, Vice President
O. Melvin Holi, CPCU, Regional Vice President
Jacquelynne Hurst, Vice President
Mary Jane Neese, Regional Vice Presidem
Greg R. Perkins, Vice President
E. Leslie Prock, Vice President
Michael W. Smith, Vice President
M. Michelle VanHook, Vice President,
Corporate Counsel & Secretary

Dallas, Texas

Little Rock, Arkansas
Meridian, Mississippi
Nashville, Tennessce
Phoenix, Anzona
San Antonio, Texas

Tel: (972) 719 2491
Tet: (501) 707 6508
Tel: (601) 581 4134
Tel: (515) 932 5508
Tel: (480) 281 3933
Tek: (210) 515 5208




Berkley Regional Specialty Insurance Company
14902 North 73rd Street, PO. Box 28333
Scottsdale, AZ 85255-0155

Tel: (480} 444 5950 Fax: (480) 607 2991

Walter E. Stradley, President & Chief Executive Officer

Rodney B. Frantz, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
& Treasurer

Vickie L. Potts, CPCU, Vice President

Patrick K. Watland, CPCU, Vice President

Berkley Surety Group, Inc.

325 Columbia Turnpike, Suite 203
Florham Park, N} 07932

Tel: (973) 549 1700 Fax: (973) 301 4869
www.berkleysurety.com

Steven F. Coward, Prestdent
John F. Beers, Vice President
Anna B. Dime, Vice President
Michael J. Hurey, Vice President

" Fred H. Lustig, Vice President

Andrew M. Tuma, Vice President

Alpharetta, Georgia
Brentwood, Tennessee
Charloute, North Carolina
Des Motnes, lowa

Irving, Texas

Lincoln, Nebraska
Madison, Wisconsin

Tel: (678) 624 1818
Tel: (615) 373 1621
Tel: (973) 549 1731
Tel: (315) 473 3000
Tel: (973) 549 1770
Tel: (402) 421 4399
Tel: (608) 826 1180
Tel: (508) 263 2584
Tel: (212) 867 2650

Marlborough, Massachusetts
New York, New York

Richmond, Virginia
Scottsdale, Anzona
Seattle, Washington

Tel; (973) 549 1751
Tel: (973) 549 1780

- Tel: (206) 223 5842

Severna Park, Marvland
Tampa, Florida
Westbrook, Maine

Tel: (410) 647 6990
Tel: (813) 870 2077
"Tel: (207) 772 4300

Regional business written in: Acadia Insurance Company;
Berkley Regional Insurance Company; Continental Western
Insurance Company; Firemen’s Insurance Company of
Washington, D.C.; Unicn Insurance Company; Unicn
Standard Lloyds. Berkley Surety Group, Inc. also writes
business in Carolina Casualty Insurance Company,

Alternative Markets

Berkley Accident and Health, LLC

2445 Kuser Road, Suite 201

Hamilton Square, N] 08690-3303 '
Tel: (609) 584 6990 Fax: (609) 588 5770
www.berkleyah_com

Donato Gasparro, President & Chiel Executive Officer
Keith J. Wagner, Vice President & General Counsel
Peter C. Jonson, Controller ‘

Alpharetta, Georgia '
Marlborough, Massachusetts

Tel: (609) 584 4644
Tel: (609) 584 4565

Tel: (609) 584 4645
Tel: (609) 584 4562

Minneapolis, Minnesota
Rolling Meadows, lllinois

Berkley Life and Health Insurance Company
475 Steamboat Road

Greenwich, CT 06830

Tel: {203) 542 3800 Fax: (203) 542 3839

Donato Gasparro, President )

Eugene G. Ballard, Senior Vice President

Carol J. LaPunzina, Senior Vice President & Secretary
Peter C. Jonson, Treasurer

Berkley Medical Excess Underwriters, LLC
390 S. Woods Mil!l Road, Suite 125

5t. Louis, MO 63017 . .
Tel: (314) 523 3650 Fax: (314) 523 3685

www berkleymed.com

J. Michael Foley, President

Collin J. Suttie, Senior Vice President
W Matthew Fessler, Vice President
Dianne Perry-Nixon, Vice President
Roger J. Becker, Controller & Treasurer
Robbin A. Willis, Vice President

Berkley Net Underwriters, LLC

12701 Marblestone Drive, Suite 250
Woodbridge, VA 22192

Tel: (703} 586 6300 Fax: (703) 586 6286
wwwhberkleynet.com

John K. Goldwater, President & Chiefl Executive Officer
James B. Gilbert, Senior Vice President

Bran R. Risen, Senior Vice President

John J. Burke, Vice President

Rebecca B. Crunk, Vice President — Chief Financial Officer
David J. Lasota, CPCU, Vice President

Hamilton Square, New Jersey Tel: (609) 584 6990
Berkley Risk Administrators Company, LLC

222 South Ninth Street, Suite 1300

Minneapolis, MN 55402-3332

Tel: {612} 766 3000 Fax: (612) 766 3099
www.berkleyrisk.com

Mark C. Tansey, Chairman

Kenneth K. Hopkins, President & Chiel Operating Officer

Kim ]. Brenckman, Senior Vice President

Andrew C. Cavenagh, Senior Vice Presidemt

Scott L. Dahlager, Senior Vice President

Patricia J. Fish, Senior Vice President

Bruce A. Medvec, Senior Vice Prestdent

Douglass E. Pfeifer, Senior Vice President

William P. Scout, Senior Vice President —
Chief Financial Officer

Allen P. Utzig, Senior Vice President .

Thomas R. Drake, Chief Informadon Oilcer

David 8. Kyllo, Vice President !
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.
Council | Jufls, lowa
Indianaplulis, [ndiana
Las Vegas, Nevada
Nashvilld, Tennessee
Overland Park, Kansas
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Pierre, Sguth Dakota
St, Paul, Minnesota
Scowsdale, Arizona

Tel: (800) 832 0137
Tel: (317) 585 2799
Tel: {702) 415 2970
Tel: {615) 493 7777
Tel: (913) 385 4960
Tel: (215) 854 6380
Tek: (605) 945 2144
Tel: (651) 281 1200
Tel: (602) 992 8844

Alpharetta, Georgia
Baltimore, Maryland
Charlonte, North Carclina
Ceolumbia, South Carclina
Nashville, Tennessee
Raleigh, North Carolina
Richmond, Virginia
Tampa, Florida

Tel: (770) 751 8901

el: (410) 864 2600
Tel: {704) 329 9550
Tel: (803) 252 1777
Tel: (615) 493 7774
Tel: (919) 876 8611
Tel: (804) 288 2660
Tel: (813) 749 8621

Tel: (206) 575 2303
Tel: (757) 490 7838
Tel: (414) 771 2038

Tukwila, Washington
Virginta kh:ach, Virginia
Wauwatqsa, Wisconsin

_ All Claimis of Nevada

Las Vegas, Nevada Tel: (702) 257 2193

Allied Adjusters

Minneapolis, Minnesota Tel: (612) 766 3700

|
Arizona All Claims

Scottsdalr, Arizona Tel: (602) 997 5877

I
Berkley !}dministrators of Connecticut, Inc.
Farmington, Connecticut Tel: {860) 409 9300

|
Berkley Risk & Insurance Services

Novato, California _ * Tek: (415) 898 9600

I
Berkley Risk Managers

Mays Landing, New Jersey Tel: (609) 625 5544

Berkley Risk Services of Colorade

Denver, Golorado © Tel: (303) 357 2600

Garnet Gaptive Insurance Services, LLC
San Frangisco, California Tel: {415) 921 7701

Independent Plan Administrators, LLC

Las Vegak, Nevada Tel: (702) 257 2190

Southwedt Risk Services

Scottsdalg, Arizona Tel: (602) 996 8810

Key Risklinsurance Company

Key Risk'Management Services, Inc,

7900 McCloud Road, Suite 300, PO. Box 49129
Greensharo, NC 27419

Tel: (336) 668 9050 Fax: (336) 605 7544

www keyTisk.com

Joe W. Sykes, CPCU, Chairman & Chiel' Executive Officer

Robert W. Standen, President

Rebecea H-Karr, CPCU, Chief Cperating Officer &
Chicﬁ Financial Officer

Joe C. Biooks, Senior Vice President

John A. Godfrey, CPCU, Sexiior Vice President

Anne H. Myers, CPCU, Senior Vice President

Joseph J. t*\brio]a, Vice President  ~

K.imbcrl)% S. Fiedier, Vice Presidemt

I
;
f
I

Midwest Employers Casualty Group, LLC
Midwest Employers Casualty Company
14755 North Quter Forty Drive, Suite 300
Chesterfield, MO 63017

Tel: (636) 449 7000 Fax: (636) 449 7199

WWW.ITIWECC.COTI

Melodee |. Saunders, President & Chiel Operating Officer

Steven J. Link, Executive Vice Président

Peter W. Shaw, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer & Treasurer

Donna 1. Knowling, Senior Vice President & Secretary

Robert H. Burgoyne, Vice President

Clairmonte Cappelle, Vice President

Preferred Employers insurance Company
1455 Frazee Road, Suite 1000

San Diego, CA 92108 ~
Tel: (619) 688 3900 Fax: (888} 472 9490
www.preferredworkcomp.com

Linda R, Smith, President & Chief Exccutive Officer
Miklos E Kallo, Senior Vice President, Treasurer
& Chief Financial Officer
Rosemary Favier, Senior Vice President
Jan A, Beaver, Vice President & Secretary
John C. Bennett, Vice President
Tom L. Boggs, Vice President
Denise Chan, Vice President
Randy Sysol, Vice President

Riverport Insurance Company

222 South Ninth Street, Suite 1300
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3332

Tel: (612) 766 3100 Fax: (612) 766 3860
www riverportinsurance.com

Kenneth R, Hopkins, President

Douglass E. Pfeifer, Executive Vice President
David 8. Kyllo, Vice President & Secrewary
Colleen M. Lazanich, Vice President
William B Scott, Vice President & Treasurer
Robert A, Weisbrod, Vice President

Laura J. Wilhams, Vice President




Reinsurance

Berkley Insurance Company -
475 Steamboat Road

Greenwich, CT 06830

Tel: (203) 542 3800 Fax: (203) 542 3839

Willlam R. Berkley, Chairman & Presidemt

Mark G. Davidowitz, Senior Vice President & Treasurer

Carol J. LaPunzina, Senior Vice President — General Counset
& Secretary

Richard D. Thomas, Vice President

Berkley Facultative Reinsurance Services, LLC
475 Steamboat Road

Greenwich, C'T 06830

Tel: {203) 542 3500 Fax: (203) 542 3576

C. Fred Madsen, President ,

Stephen A, Samoskevich, Senior Vice Presidemt

Francis Bilotti, Vice President

Joseph A, Sweeney, Vice President

Pasquale Tomaino, Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Susan B. Wilhams, Vice President

x

.
Facultative ReSources, Inc.

3 Landmark Square, Suite 500
Stamford, CT 06901
Tel: (203) 658 1500 Fax: (203) 658 1515

James W McCleary, Chairman
James H. Crutchley, President
Edward N. Ryan, Senior Vice President
Michael J. Nicholas, Senior Vice President
Paul R. Bednarz, Vice President
Patrick |. Cannan, Vice President
Philip E. ID’Eramo, Vice President
Colleen P, Fahcey, Vice President
Ronald §: Hayden, Vice President
Thomas V. Léhmkuhl, Vice President
David M. McNichols, Vice President

Adanta, Georgia ' Tel: {770) 396 2515
Chicago, Ilinois Tel: (312) 435 1231

Signet Star Re, LLC

475 Steamboat Road

Greenwich, CT 06830

Tel: (203) 542 3200 Fax: (203) 542 3290
www.signetstar.com

Tom N. Kellogg, Chairman
Craig N. Johnson, President & Chief’ Executive Officer
Jon A. Schriber, Executive Vice President
‘Richard Agatstein, Senior Vice President
Mark G. Davidowitz, Senior Vice President
& Chief Financial Officer .
Stephen P. Horvath, Senior Vice President

Timothy C. McCoy, Senior Vice President
John J. Myers, Senior Vice President
Gordon J. Olver, Senior Vice President
Kevin J. Shea, Senior Vice President
Joseph W. Walsh, Senior Vice President
Todd W. Bolden, Vice President
Barbara A. Connell, Vice President
Graham C. Dickinson, Vice President
Olivia W. Giuntini, Vice President
Julie K. Halper, Vice President

Joseph H. Tarocei, Vice President
Paul J. Kelly, Vice President

Krystyna H. Miller, Vice President
Andrea E. Trimble, Vice President

B F Re Underwriters, LLC

One Landmark Square, Suite 1920
Stamford, C'I' 06901

Tel: (203) 975 7739 Fax: (203) 975 7749

www.bfreunds.com

Damcl L. Avery, President

Richard A. Corpus, Exccutive Vice President .
Maria W, Anderson, Sentor Vice President
Frederic C. Cooper, Senior Vice President
Thomas J. Greenfield, Senior Vice President
Jeff M. Neher, Senior Vice President
Catherine P. Schilling, Senior Vice President
Scott Balfour, Vice President

David M. Bartone, Vice President

Clifford Dunigan, Vice President

Thomas P. Gaughran, Vice President

Scott Mcdors, Vice President

Gary S. Miller, Vice President

L. Randy Miller, Vice President

Raymend H. Niver, Vice President
Kathleen C. Patton, Vice President

William E Seelried, Vice President

Gary W. Shreve, Vice President

William R. Turner, Vice President "

Joseph J. Vyskocil, Vice President

Chicago, lllinois | Tel: (312) 553 4707
Dublin, Ohio Tel: (G14) 766 4316
Duluth, Georgia Tel: (770) 814 7531
Irving, Texas Tel: (972) 580 9950
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania Tel: (215) 568 3570

San Francisco, California Tel: (413) 543 4466

Berkley Risk Solutiens, Inc.

475 Steamboat Road

Greenwich, CT 06830

Tel: (203) 769 4050 Fax: (203) 769 4039

Jeftrey E. Vosburgh, President
Gregory A. Cuzzi, Senior Vice President
Kenneth M. Roberts, Vice President

m
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Gemini ll‘rsurance Company

StarNet Insurance Company

475 Slcﬁtlboal Road

Greenwich, CT 06830

Tel: (203} 542 3800 Fax: (203) 542 3839

William R. Berkley, President & Chief Executive Officer
Mark G. LD:wido\f\.'itz, Senior Vice President & Treasurer
John 8. lf)it:m, Executive Vice President
Donato Ga.sparro, Executive Vice President -
StarNet Insurance Company
Jehn K. Goldwater, Executve Vice Prestdent —
StarNet [nsurance Company
Jason R. Niemela, Executive Vice President
* Richard P. Shemitis, Executive Vice President —
Gemini [nsurance Company
Jill E. Wadlund, Executive Vice President —
Gemtini Insurance Company
Carol J. LaPunzina, Senior Vice President —
General Counsel & Secretary

Watch Hill Fac Management, LLC
Three Landmark Square, Suite 520
Stamford! CT 06901

Tel: (203)[967 7860 Fax: (203) 967 0635
www.fuc |atch.com

Gerald 5. King, President

Robert V\P Colanuoni, Vice Prestdent
Robert 1" Clomstock, Vice President
Eugene F, Mason, Vice President

international

Berkley Irliternational, LLC

475 Sicamiboat Road .
Grccnwic:l'l, CT 06830

Tk (203) 629 3000 Fax: (203) 760 4097

William R. Berkley, Chairman & Chief Exccutive Qfficer

W. Rohert Berkley, Jr, Vice Chairman

Eugene G- Ballard, Senior Vice President — Chief Financial
Officer & Treasurer

Ira 8. lederman, Senior Vice President — General Counsel
& Secrutary i

Alan M. Rafe, Senior Vice President

Steven J. Malawer, Vice President — Associate General
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Senior Vice President — International Operations
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Corporate Information

i
"Safe_Harbor“ Statement

This report may contain forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securitics Litgation Reform
Act of
the Privaite Securities Litugation Reform Act of 1995. Any

995. This 1s a “Safe Harbor” Statement under

forward:looking statements contained hercin, including
statements related 10 our outdeok for the industry and
for our performance for the year 2008 and beyond,
are based upon the Company’s historical performance
and on gurrent plans, estimates and expectations. The
inclusion of this forward-looking information should
not be régarded as a representation by us ot any other
person that the future plans, estimates or expectations
contemgﬁa’tcd by us will be achieved. They are subject to
various fisks and uncertainties, including but not limited~
to, the cyclical nature of the property casualty industry,
the 10ngr-tail and potentially volatile nature of the

insurance and reinsurance business, product demand and

pricing, claims development and the process of estimatng

reserves,|the uncertain nature of damage theories and

loss amoynts, natural and man-made catastrophic losses,

including as a result of terrorist activities, the impact of

_ Signiﬁcait and increasing competiton, the success of our
new venfures or acquisitions and the availability of other
opporturtities, the availability of reinsurance, exposﬁre as
to coverage for terrorist acts, our retention under The

Terronsm Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act

of 2007 (“T'RIPRA”), the ability of our reinsurers to pay
reinsurance recoverables owed to us, investment risks,
inclading those of our portfolio of fixed income securities
and investments in equity securities, including merger
arbitrage investments, exchange rate and politcal risks
relating 1o our international operations, legislative and
regulatory developments, including those related to
alleged anti-competitive or other improper business
practices in the insurance or reinsurance industry, changes
in the ratings assigned to us by rating agencies, the
availability of dividends from our insurance company
subsidiaries, our ability to attract and retain qualified
employees, and other risks detailed from time to time in
the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. These risks could cause actual results of

the industry or our actual results for the year 2008 and
beyond to differ materially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statement made by or on behalf of the
Company, Any projections of growth in the Company’s
net premiums writlen and management fees would not
necessarily result in commensurate levels of underwriting
and operanng profits,. Forward-looking statements speak
only as of the date on which they are made, and the
Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or
revise any forward-locking stater;nem, whether as a result

of new information, future developments or atherwise.




Auditors
KPMG LLP, New York, New York

Cutside Counsel
Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP, New York,
New York

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meceting of Stockholders of W, R.
Berkley Corporation will be held at 1:00 p.m.
on May 28, 2008 at the offices of W. R. Berkley
Corporation, 475 Steamhboat Road, Greenwich,
Connecticut 06830.

Shares Traded

Common Stock of’ W. R. Berkley Corporation is
traded on the New York Stock Exchange.
Symbol: WRB

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Sharcowner Scrvices

161 North Concord Exchange
South St. Paul, Minnesota 55075
"Tel: (800) 468 9716

hup://wellsfargo.com/com/sharcowner_services

Annual Report on Form 10-K

The Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission contains
additonal financial and other information with
respect to W, R, Berkley Corporation. Copics of
the Form 10-K will be furnished to stockholders

upon request. Please direct all inquiries to:

Ira S. Lederman

General Counsel and Secretary
W. R. Berkley Corporation

475 Stcamboat Road
Greenwich, Connecticut 06830

WebSite
For additional information, including press releases,

visit our internet site at: http:/ /wwwwrherkley.com,

New York Stock Exchange

Corporate Governance Matters

As a listed company with the New York Stock
Exchange ("NYSE"), the Company 1s subject

10 certain Corporate Governancee standards as
required by the NYSE and/or the Securitics and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Among other
requirements, the Company’s Chairman of the
Bouard and Chief Executive Ofhcer, as required

by Scction 303A.12() of the NYSE Listed Company
Munual, must certify to the NYSE each year
whether or not he is aware of any violations by the
Company of NYSE Corporate Governance listing
standards as of the date of the certification. On
May 31, 2007, the Company’s Chairman of the
Board and Chicf Executive Officer, William R.
Berkley, submitied such a certification to the NYSE
which stated that he was not aware of any violation
by the Company ol the NYSE Corporate Gover-
nance listing standards. In addition, on February
29, 2008, the Company filed its 2007 Form 10-K
with the SEC, which included as Exhibits 31.1 and
31.2 the cerufications required under Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

The W. R, Berkley Corporation Annual Report is printed using recycled paper made from fiber sourced for well-managed forests and other controlled wood .

sources. The paper contains a mix of pulp that is derived fram FSC certified forests, post consumer recycled paper fibers and other controlled sources.
This annual report is certified by SmartWood to the FSC standards {SW-COC-1340) which promotes environmentally appropriate, socially beneficial

and ecanomically viable management of the world's forests. The financial section of this report is manufactured with Green-e certified renewable

wind-generated electricity and is not FSC certified.
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"Always do right. This will gratify some people, and astonish the rest.” — Mark Twain




